
Page 1 of 3 

 

AGENDA 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MONDAY, APRIL 05, 2021 

7:00 PM AT CITY HALL 

 

 
 
The meeting will also be accessible via video conference and the public may access/participate in the 
meeting in the following ways: 
 
a) By dialing the phone number +13126266799 or +19292056099 or +12532158782 or +13017158592 or 
+13462487799 or +16699006833 and when prompted, enter the meeting ID (access code) 962 7287 1738. 
b) iPhone one-tap: +13126266799,,96272871738#  or +19292056099,,96272871738# 
c) Join via smartphone or computer using this link: https://zoom.us/j/96272871738.   
d) View the live stream on Channel 15 YouTube using this link: https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCCzeig5nIS-
dIEYisqah1uQ  (view only).  
e) Watch on Cedar Falls Cable Channel 15 (view only). 
 
To request to speak when allowed on the agenda, participants must click “Raise Hand” if connected by 
smartphone or computer, or press *9 if connected by telephone. All participants will be muted by the presiding 
officer when not actually speaking. 

Call to Order by the Mayor 

Roll Call 

Approval of Minutes 

1. Regular Meeting of March 15, 2021. 

Agenda Revisions 

Public Forum. (Speakers will have one opportunity to speak for up to 5 minutes on topics germane to City 

business.) 

Special Presentations 

2. Proclamation recognizing April 2021 as Sexual Assault Awareness Month. 

3. Proclamation recognizing April 4-10, 2021 as National Library Week. 

4. Proclamation recognizing April 4-11, 2021 as Days of Remembrance For the Victims of the 
Holocaust. 

5. Proclamation recognizing April 18-24, 2021 as City-Wide Cleanup Week. 

Special Order of Business 

6. Public hearing to consider entering into an Agreement for Private Development with Stone and 
Terrace, L.L.C. relative to the rehabilitation of 108 East 4th Street. 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published March 19, 2021) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Staff comments. 
 

1



Page 2 of 3 

d) Public comments. 
 
e) Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement for Private Development with 
Stone and Terrace, L.L.C. relative to the rehabilitation of 108 East 4th Street. 

Old Business 

7. Pass Ordinance #2987, amending Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative to 
adaptive re-use of institutional buildings, upon its third and final consideration. 

8. Resolution extending the face mask mandate for the City of Cedar Falls. 

New Business 

Consent Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by voice vote on a single motion without separate 
discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered separately.) 

9. Receive and file Mayor's Monthly Report for March 2021. 

10. Approve the recommendation of the Mayor relative to the appointment of John Clopton to the Civil 
Service Commission, term ending 04/07/2025.  

11. Receive and file the resignation of Sue Armbrecht as a member of the Civil Service Commission. 

12. Receive and file the Committee of the Whole minutes of March 15, 2021 relative to the following 
items: 
a) Mayor & City Administrator Ordinance Updates. 
b) Main Street Traffic Study. 

13. Receive and file Departmental Monthly Reports of February, 2021. 

14. Approve the application of Bani's, 2128 College St, for a cigarette/tobacco/nicotine/vapor permit. 

15. Approve the following applications for beer permits and liquor licenses: 
a) Godfather's Pizza, 1621 West 1st Street, Class B beer - renewal. 
b) Luxe Nail Bar, 5907 University Avenue, Class C liquor - renewal 
c) Mary Lou's Bar & Grill, 2719 Center Street, Class C liquor & outdoor service - renewal. 
d) Prime Mart, 2728 Center Street, Class E liquor – renewal. 
e) River Place Plaza, 200 East 2nd Street – Plaza, Special Class C liquor & outdoor service – 
temporary expansion of outdoor service area. (May 7, 14, 21 & 28, 2021) 
f) Bani's, 2128 College Street, Class E liquor - new. 

Resolution Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by roll call vote on a single motion without 
separate discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered 
separately.) 

16. Resolution naming official depositories for the City of Cedar Falls. 

17. Resolution approving and authorizing the transfer of funds from the 2018 General Obligation Bond 
fund to the Capital Projects fund relative to the completion of the Center Street Recreational Trail 
Project. 

18. Resolution approving and authorizing the transfer of funds from the Street Repair Fund (LOST) to 
the 2012 General Obligation Bond fund  relative to the completion of the Greenhill Road Extension 
Project. 

19. Resolution levying a final assessment for costs incurred by the City to mow and clear overgrown 
vegetation on the property located at 710 West 13th Street. 

20. Resolution levying a final assessment for costs incurred by the City to mow and clear overgrown 
vegetation on the property located at 1303 Walnut Street. 

2



Page 3 of 3 

21. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Service/Product Agreement with Cities Digital 
Incorporated (CDI) relative to integrating the City's financial system with the document imaging 
system. 

22. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Surface Transportation Block Grant (STBG) 
Programming Agreement with the Black Hawk County Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) 
relative to the Main Street Reconstruction Project. 

23. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Third Amendment to Agreement for Private 
Development with River Place Properties, LC relative to the River Place Development Project. (city 
staff recommending denial) 

24. Resolution approving a Central Business District (CBD) Overlay Zoning District site plan for facade 
improvements at 302 Main Street. 

25. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Subrecipient Agreement for Federally Funded 
Project with St. Patrick Catholic School for Community Development Block Grant (CDBG-CV2) 
funding relative to the CARES Act. 

26. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Subrecipient Agreement for Federally Funded 
Project with Valley Lutheran School for Community Development Block Grant (CDBG-CV2) funding 
relative to the CARES Act. 

27. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Second Amendment for Professional Services 
with the Northeast Iowa Food Bank for additional Community Development Block Grant (CDBG-
CV1) funding relative to the CARES Act. 

28. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of Supplemental Agreement No. 1 to the 
Professional Service Agreement with Snyder & Associates, Inc. for survey services relative to the 
Downtown Streetscape and Reconstruction Project – Phase II. 

29. Resolution receiving and filing the bids, and approving and accepting the low bid of Peterson 
Contractors Inc., in the amount of $4,028,395.50, for the 2021 Street Construction Project. 

30. Resolution approving and accepting the contract and bond of Peterson Contractors, Inc. for the 2021 
Street Construction Project. (contingent upon approval of previous item) 

31. Resolution approving and accepting the contract and bond of Municipal Pipe Tool, LLC for the 2021 
Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation Project.  

32. Resolution approving and accepting completion of public improvements in Prairie Winds 5th 
Addition. 

33. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Professional Service Agreement with AECOM 
Technical Services, Inc. for 2021 survey services.  

Ordinances 

34. Pass an ordinance amending Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances relative to mayor 
and city administrator duties, upon its first consideration. 

Allow Bills and Claims 

35. Allow Bills and Claims of April 5, 2021. 

City Council Referrals 

City Council Updates 

Staff Updates 

Adjournment 

3



CITY HALL 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, MARCH 15, 2021 

REGULAR MEETING, CITY COUNCIL 
MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN PRESIDING 

  
The City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, met in Regular Session, 
pursuant to law, the rules of said Council and prior notice given each member 
thereof, at 7:07 P.M. on the above date. Members present: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, 
Harding, Darrah, Sires, Dunn (via video conference). Absent: None.  

 
53249 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that the minutes of the Regular 

Meeting of March 1, 2021 be approved as presented and ordered of record. 
Motion carried unanimously.  

 
53250 - The Mayor then asked if there were any agenda revisions. City Clerk Danielsen 

noted that agenda item 14 contained a scrivener’s error that incorrectly 
referenced a final plat instead of completion of public improvements of Pheasant 
Hollow Seventh Addition, noting that the supporting documents in the meeting 
packet were correct. 

 
53251 -     Rosemary Beach, 5018 Sage Road, requested lowering the speed limit near the 

intersection of West 1st Street and Main Street. 
 
  Jim Skaine, 2215 Clay Street, commented on Mayor/Administrator roles 

regarding the agenda, expressed his concerns with roundabouts on Main Street 
and his belief that the agenda does not conform to Robert’s Rules of Order. 

 
  Rick Sharp, 1623 Birch Street, stated that he could not see the Council meeting 

in Zoom. 
 
  Mayor Green responded to a question by Councilmember Harding regarding 

control of the agenda and confirmed that he reviews and approves agenda items. 
   
53252 - Mayor Green read a proclamation declaring March 22, 2021 as March for Meals 

Day and Northeast Iowa Area Agency on Aging representative Elise Bovy 
commented. 

   
53253 - Mayor announced that in accordance with the public notice of March 5, 2021, this 

was the time and place for a public hearing on the proposed plans, 
specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for the 2021 Street 
Construction Project. It was then moved by Miller and seconded by Darrah that 
the proof of publication of notice of hearing be received and placed on file. 
Motion carried unanimously. 

 
53254 -  The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 

proposed project. Upon being advised that there were no written communications 
on file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. Civil Engineer Claypool 
provided a brief summary of the proposed project. Following a question by Jim 
Skaine, 2215 Clay Street, and response by Claypool, the Mayor declared the 

4

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 2 - 

 

hearing closed and passed to the next order of business. 
 
53255 -     It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Miller that Resolution #22,292, 

approving and adopting the plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of 
cost for the 2021 Street Construction Project, be adopted. Following due 
consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon 
call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, 
Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then 
declared Resolution #22,292 duly passed and adopted.  

 
53256 - It was moved by Miller and seconded by Harding that Ordinance #2987, 

amending Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative to adaptive re-
use of institutional buildings, be passed upon its second consideration. Following 
due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the motion and 
upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, 
Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Dunn. Nay: deBuhr. Sires. Motion carried. 

 
53257 -     It was moved by Kruse and seconded by deBuhr that Resolution #22,293, 

approving and authorizing execution of a Sturgis Falls Celebration Agreement for 
Use of City Parks and Services with Sturgis Falls Celebration, Inc, be adopted. 
Sturgis Falls Celebration President Jay Stoddard, 228 Maryhill Drive, provided a 
brief presentation. 

 
     The following individuals spoke in opposition to the proposed agreement: 
       Steve Husome, North Shore Boat Club Representative, 4909 Quesada 

Avenue 
       Bob Seymour, 2710 Country Meadow Lane 
       Brock Krejchi, 2312 Cypress Avenue 
 
     The following individual provided general comments: 
       Deb Stoddard, 228 Maryhill Drive 
 
     Following questions and comments by Councilmembers Harding, deBuhr, Sires, 

Kruse, Darrah and Miller, and responses by Public Works Director Schrage, 
Mayor Green, Finance & Business Operations Director Rodenbeck, City 
Administrator Gaines and City Attorney Rogers, it was moved by Miller and 
seconded by Harding to amend the motion to strike sub-section 6.L. and remove 
references to Island Park and the Island Park Beach House, and change the 
term of the agreement to one year. Following questions and comments by 
Councilmembers Harding, deBuhr, Kruse, Dunn and Sires, and responses by 
City Attorney Rogers, Mayor Green and Finance & Business Operations Director 
Rodenbeck, the Mayor separated the question. The motion to amend to limit the 
term of the agreement to one year carried unanimously. The motion to amend to 
remove references to Island Park and the Island Park Beach House, and to strike 
sub-section 6.L. in its entirety carried 4-3, with deBuhr, Kruse and Sires voting 
Nay. Following questions and comments by Councilmembers Harding and Miller, 
and response by City Attorney Rogers, the Mayor put the question on the original 
motion as amended, and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, Harding, Darrah, Sires, Dunn. Nay: deBuhr, 

5

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 3 - 

 

Kruse. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution #22,293 duly passed 
and adopted. 

 
53258 - It was moved by Darrah and seconded by Harding that the following items and 

recommendations on the Consent Calendar be received, filed and approved: 
 

Receive and file the 2020 Annual Reports of the Planning & Zoning Commission, 
Board of Adjustment, Historic Preservation Commission, Group Rental 
Committee/Board of Rental Housing Appeals, Housing Commission and Bicycle 
& Pedestrian Advisory Committee. 

Approve the following applications for beer permits and liquor licenses: 
a) Barn Happy, 11310 University Avenue, Class B native wine - renewal. 
b) Chilitos Mexican Bar and Grill, 1704 West 1st Street, Class C liquor - renewal. 
c) Social House, 2208 College Street, Class C liquor & outdoor service - renewal. 
d) The Stuffed Olive, The Roxxy and Deringer’s Public Parlor 314-316 Main 
Street, Class C liquor & outdoor service - renewal. 
e) Hillstreet News & Tobacco, 2217 College Street, Class E liquor - renewal. 
f) Chad's Pizza & Restaurant, Birdsall Park Softball Complex, Class B beer & 
outdoor service - 6-month permit. 
g) River Place Plaza, 200 East 2nd Street – Plaza, Special Class C liquor & 
outdoor service – 8-month permit with exceptions.  
h) Scoopskis, 1828 Waterloo Road, Class B beer & outdoor service - new with 
exceptions. 
i) Ari’z, 6301 University Avenue, Class C liquor - new. 

Motion carried unanimously. 

53259 -  It was moved by Darrah and seconded by Harding to receive and file the Work 
Session minutes of March 1, 2021, relative to the Mayor and City Administrator 
Roles. Following a question by Jim Skaine, 2215 Clay Street, and response by 
Mayor Green, the motion carried unanimously. 

 
53260 -  It was moved by Darrah and seconded by Harding to receive and file the 

Committee of the Whole minutes of March 1, 2021, relative to the 2009 & 2013 
Complete Streets Review. Following a comment by Jim Skaine, 2215 Clay 
Street, the motion carried unanimously. 

 
53261 -     It was moved by Miller and seconded by Harding that the following resolutions be 

introduced and adopted: 
 

Resolution #22,294, levying a final assessment for costs incurred by the City to 
clean up the property located at 2520 Central Avenue. 

Resolution #22,295, approving and authorizing execution of a Service/Products 
Agreement with the University of Northern Iowa (UNI GeoTREE Center) for 360˚ 
imagery and virtual tour of Cedar Falls landmarks. 

Resolution #22,296, approving the Certificate of Completion and accepting the 
work of Invision Architecture for design services relative to the Public Safety 

6

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 4 - 

 

Facility. 

Resolution #22,297, approving the Certificate of Completion and accepting the 
work of Peters Construction Corporation for the Public Safety Facility. 

Resolution #22,298, approving and accepting completion of public improvements 
in Pheasant Hollow Seventh Addition. 

Resolution #22,299, of support for a grant application to the Black Hawk County 
Gaming Association relative to the Cedar River Recreation Project. 

Resolution #22,300, approving and authorizing execution of a Subrogation 
Agreement with Iowa Economic Development Authority (IEDA) relative to 
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG-CV2) funding relative to the 
CARES Act. 

Resolution #22,301, approving and authorizing execution of a Subrecipient 
Agreement for Federally Funded Project with Cedar Falls School District for 
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG-CV2) funding relative to the 
CARES Act. 

Resolution #22,302, approving and authorizing execution of a Subrecipient 
Agreement for Federally Funded Project with Ethnic Minorities of Burma 
Advocacy and Resource Center (EMBARC) for Community Development Block 
Grant (CDBG-CV2) funding relative to the CARES Act. 

Resolution #22,303, approving and authorizing execution of a Subrecipient 
Agreement for Federally Funded Project with Exceptional Persons, Inc. for 
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG-CV2) funding relative to the 
CARES Act. 

Resolution #22,304, setting April 5, 2021 as the date of public hearing on a 
proposal to enter into an Agreement for Private Development with Stone and 
Terrace, L.L.C. relative to the rehabilitation of 108 East 4th Street. 

Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion 
carried. The Mayor then declared Resolutions #22,294 through #22,304 duly 
passed and adopted. 

53262 -    It was moved by Miller and seconded by Darrah that Resolution #22,305, 
approving and accepting the contract and bond of K. Cunningham Construction 
Company, Inc. for the Downtown Streetscape and Reconstruction Project - 
Phase II, be adopted. Following a question by Jim Skaine, 2215 Clay Street, and 
a response by Public Works Director Schrage, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion 
carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution #22,305 duly passed and adopted. 

 
53263 -    It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Miller that the bills and claims of March 

7

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 5 - 

 

15, 2021 be allowed as presented, and that the Controller/City Treasurer be 
authorized to issue City checks in the proper amounts and on the proper funds in 
payment of the same. Upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers 
voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires, Dunn. Nay: None. 
Motion carried. 

 
53264 -  It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding to refer to City staff the 

feasibility of recording the Planning and Zoning Work Sessions. Following 
questions and comments by Councilmembers Harding, Miller and Dunn and 
responses by City Administrator Gaines, Mayor Green and Attorney Rogers, the 
motion carried unanimously. 

 
53265 - Councilmember Darrah gave an update on the Cedar Falls Racial Equity Task 

Force and thanked Human Resources Manager Toni Babcock for her work and 
involvement. Mayor Green also thanked Councilmembers Darrah and Dunn for 
their participation in the Task Force. 

 
53266 -     It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that the meeting be adjourned 

at 9:06 P.M.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
     ________________________________ 
  Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 
 

 
 

 

 

  

8

Item 1.



   MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN 

 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

 

 

 

 
SEXUAL ASSAULT AWARENESS MONTH 

APRIL 2021 
 

WHEREAS, sexual assault affects people of all backgrounds – including age, race, 

cultural background, gender identity, sexual orientation, economic status, level of 

physical or cognitive abilities; and 

WHEREAS, sexual assault is one of the least-reported crimes and can be 

devastating to survivors, as well as family, friends, and the whole community; and  

WHEREAS, in addition to the immediate physical and emotional costs, sexual 

assault also leave victims with long-term issues of post-traumatic stress disorder, 

substance abuse, depression, homelessness, eating disorders and suicide; and 

WHEREAS, no single person, organization, agency, or community can eliminate 

sexual assault alone, so all must work together to educate the entire population 

about what can be done to prevent sexual assault, support survivors and their 

significant others, and support agencies providing services to survivors; and 

WHEREAS, agencies like Riverview Center, Friends of the Fa  

mily, and Waypoint Services are dedicated to educating the public about sexual 

assault, and helping survivors of sexual assault and their families; 

NOW THEREFORE, I, Robert M. Green, Mayor of Cedar Falls, do hereby proclaim 

April 2021 as Sexual Assault Awareness Month throughout the city and 

encourage all citizens to advocate for survivors of sexual assault, and to 

contribute to agencies working to end the societal scourge of sexual assault. 

Signed this 30th day of March, 2021.  

 

______________________________________                                                                                  

Mayor Robert M. Green 

9

Item 2.



   MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN 

 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

 

 

 

 

 
NATIONAL LIBRARY WEEK 

APRIL 4-10, 2021 
 

WHEREAS, April 4-10, 2021 has been designated as National Library Week by the 

American Library Association, with the theme of “Welcome to Your Library”; and 

WHEREAS, the citizens of Cedar Falls have valued library services since the 

community’s earliest days, organizing a library society in 1859, just seven years 

after incorporation; and 

WHEREAS, the public library continues to serve as a cornerstone and community 

living room for the people of our city, providing free and equal access to resources 

and information to all area residents from toddlers to retirees; and 

WHEREAS, the Cedar Falls Public Library cultivates a love of learning, fosters the 

joy of reading, and has continually expanded its scope of services to include the 

lending of technology, board games, maker tools, and other useful items; the 

provision of free community wi-fi internet access; a variety of public lectures and 

workshops; and an extensive online catalog of downloadable books and 

audiobooks;  

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Robert M. Green, Mayor of Cedar Falls, do hereby proclaim 

April 4-10, 2021 as National Library Week throughout the city and encourage 

citizens to exercising their privilege of obtaining and using a Cedar Falls library 

card to learn, explore, and grow through the library’s many services. 

Signed this 30th day of March, 2021.  

 

______________________________________                                                                                  

Mayor Robert M. Green 

10

Item 3.



   MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN 

 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

 
 

 

 

 
DAYS OF REMEMBRANCE FOR THE 

VICTIMS OF THE HOLOCAUST 
SUNDAY, APRIL 4 to SUNDAY, APRIL 11, 2021 

 

WHEREAS, the Holocaust was the state-sponsored, systematic annihilation of more than 

six million European Jews by Nazi Germany and its collaborators from 1933 to 1945; and 

WHEREAS, millions more victims, including Roma (Gypsies), Jehovah’s Witnesses, Soviet 

prisoners of war and political dissidents, and gay and lesbian people, also suffered 

grievous oppression and death under Nazi tyranny; and 

WHEREAS, it is vital to always remember the terrible events of the Holocaust and remain 

vigilant against hatred, persecution, and tyranny, while also actively promoting the 

principles of individual freedom in a just society; and  

WHEREAS, pursuant to an Act of Congress, the United States Holocaust Memorial Council 

has designated the Days of Remembrance of the Victims of the Holocaust to be Sunday, 

April 4 through Sunday, April 11, 2021 including the Day of Remembrance known as Yom 

Ha’Shoah, on April 8, 2021; 

NOW THEREFORE, I, Robert M. Green, Mayor of Cedar Falls, do hereby proclaim the week 

of Sunday, April 4 through Sunday, April 11, 2021 as Days of Remembrance For the 

Victims of the Holocaust in Cedar Falls, and I encourage all citizens to remember the 

dead, honor the survivors, appreciate the rescuers and liberators, and strive to overcome 

intolerance and indifference through learning, empathy and remembrance.  

Signed this 30th day of March, 2021.  

 

______________________________________                                                                                  

Mayor Robert M. Green 

11

Item 4.



   MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN 

 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 

 

 

 

 

 
CITY-WIDE CLEANUP WEEK  

APRIL 18-24, 2021 
 

WHEREAS, the proper disposal of trash, appliances, furniture, hazardous materials, 

and electronics is vital to the safety, health and welfare of Cedar Falls residents; and 

WHEREAS, pristine parks, sidewalks, roadways, waterways and public spaces are a 

great source of enjoyment and pride for residents and visitors alike; and   

WHEREAS, the city’s neighborhood associations and service clubs have successfully 

carried out past spring cleanup events around the city, and these efforts are most 

worthy of celebration and duplication city-wide; and  

WHEREAS, the City of Cedar Falls , the city’s neighborhood associations, Green Iowa 

AmeriCorps, and other environmentally-minded civic organizations are providing 

resources, education, and materials for a successful cleanup of the city; and  

WHEREAS, the Waste Trac Education Team will be hosting a Household Hazardous 

Waste and Electronics Drop-Off Event on Saturday, April 24 from 9am-2pm at the 

Public Works Complex for proper disposal of hazardous items and electronics; 

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Robert M. Green, Mayor of Cedar Falls, do hereby proclaim 

April 18-24, 2021 as City-Wide Cleanup Week throughout the city and encourage 

citizens  to organize and participate in cleanup events and to take advantage of this 

opportunity to easily dispose of refuse, bulk items, electronics and hazardous 

materials for the betterment of our city and the environment. 

Signed this 30th day of March, 2021.  

 

______________________________________                                                                                  

Mayor Robert M. Green 

12

Item 5.



ADMINISTRATION 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 

  

   

 

 

 
 

  

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator 

 DATE: March 24, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Stone and Terrace, LLC – Agreement for Private Development 
 

Introduction 
 
For the past few months, City staff has been working with Brian Wingert of Stone and 
Terrace, LLC, toward the rehabilitation of an existing downtown property located at 108 
E 4th Street. Stone and Terrace, LLC recently bought the property, which also includes 
the vacant parcel located to the west at the corner of Main Street and E. 4th Street. The 
existing building has been vacant for the past approximately 20 years, while the parcel 
to the west has been in open space since a fire destroyed the building approximately 15 
years ago. The project would include remodeling the existing 3,945 square foot space 
for a new restaurant, which will also include an outdoor seating area in the open space 
at the corner of Main Street and E. 4th Street. If you may recall, City Council approved a 
site plan for this development at its meeting on March 1, 2021. 
 

Project Details 
 

Stone and Terrace, LLC recently purchased the building at 108 E. 4th Street, as well as 
the vacant parcel located adjacent to the west at the corner of Main Street and E. 4th 
Street, and is planning to invest approximately $450,000 into the rehabilitation of the 
building to create a new restaurant with an outdoor seating area. 
 

Financial Assistance Request  
 

This project is eligible under the Downtown Urban Renewal Plan for consideration of 
certain incentives that promote redevelopment of existing buildings. The typical 
incentive offered for downtown projects such as this is a rebate of 100% of the tax 
increments on the increased value of the property after the improvements are complete, 
with a minimum investment of $200,000 into the project, and an increase in the 
assessed building valuation by at least 50%.   
 
A copy of the Agreement for Private Development for Stone and Terrace, LLC is 
attached for your review and outlines the proposed scope of work proposed for the 
property. This redevelopment project anticipates a total investment of a minimum 
$450,000 for the improvement costs, and when complete, the building is anticipated to 

13

Item 6.



be assessed at approximately $725,000. 
 
The project is expected to be completed by summer of 2021, with full assessment of the 
Minimum Improvements on January 1, 2022 and debt certification to the Auditor by the 
City prior to December 1, 2021. The Economic Development Grants shall commence on 
June 1, 2024 and end on June 1, 2028 based on the value added to the property. The 
following schedule would be applicable: 
 

June 1, 2024 100% of Tax Increments for Fiscal Year 22-23 
June 1, 2025 100% of Tax Increments for Fiscal Year 23-24 
June 1, 2026 100% of Tax Increments for Fiscal Year 24-25 
June 1, 2027 100% of Tax Increments for Fiscal Year 25-26 

 June 1, 2028 100% of Tax Increments for Fiscal Year 26-27 
 
The maximum amount of tax rebates provided to the developer shall not exceed 
$65,940. This is based on using a maximum of $520,470 tax increment increase in the 
valuation of the minimum improvements to the building. 
 

Recommendation 
 
It is recommended that City Council approve and adopt the following: 
 

1. Resolution approving and executing an Agreement for Private Development 
between Stone and Terrace, LLC and the City of Cedar Falls. 

 

Approval of this project is consistent with City Council Goal No. 3: Create an 
environment conducive to economic development.  This is further identified on Page 16 
of City Council Goals under Supporting Council Policies: 
 
 *Function as a catalyst to encourage business development and expansion in 
Cedar Falls. 
 

 *Continue to support public and private economic development efforts in Cedar 
Falls and the metropolitan area. 
 
If you have any questions regarding this project, please feel free to let me know. 
 
xc: Ron Gaines, P.E., City Administrator 
 

14

Item 6.



Main St

E 5th St

E 4th St

Sta
te 

St

W 4th St

W 3rd St

W 5th St

E 3rd St

E 5th St

Project Location

Stone and Terrace, LLC
108 E 4th Street
Building Redevelopment Project I

15

Item 6.



Execution Version 

 

 

 

 

 

AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 

 

 

 

 

By and Between 

 

 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

 

 

AND 

 

 

 

STONE AND TERRACE, L.L.C.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

April, 2021 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

16

Item 6.



 

Execution Version 

 2 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 

 

 

ARTICLE I.  DEFINITIONS………………………………………………..  5 

Section 1.1.  Definitions……………………………………………… 5 

 

ARTICLE II.  REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES………………  7 

Section 2.1.  Representations and Warranties of the City……………  7 

Section 2.2.  Representations and Warranties of Developer.….……..  8 

 

ARTICLE III.  CONSTRUCTION OF MINIMUM IMPROVEMENTS…..  10 

Section 3.1.  Construction of Minimum Improvements………………. 10 

Section 3.2. Commencement and Completion of Construction………. 10 

Section 3.3.  Certificate of Completion.……………………………… 10 

 

ARTICLE IV.  RESERVED…………………………………………………. 11 

 

ARTICLE V.  INSURANCE………………………………………………… 11 

Section 5.1.  Insurance Requirements………………………………… 11 

 

ARTICLE VI.  FURTHER COVENANTS OF DEVELOPER……………… 13 

Section 6.1. Maintenance of Properties……………………………..  13 

Section 6.2. Maintenance of Records……………………………….  13 

Section 6.3. Compliance with Laws………………………………...  13 

Section 6.4. Non-Discrimination….……………………………….  13 

Section 6.5.   Available Information…………………………………  14 

Section 6.6.   Employment…………………….…………………….  14 

Section 6.7.   Annual Certification………………..………………….  14 

Section 6.8. Term of Operations……………………………………  14 

Section 6.9. Developer Completion Guarantee…….………………  14 

 Section 6.10. Relocation .......................................................................  15 

 

ARTICLE VII.  PROHIBITION AGAINST ASSIGNMENT AND 

TRANSFER………………………………………………………………….  15 

Section 7.1.  Status of Developer; Transfer of Substantially All Assets; 

Assignment………………………………………  15 

Section 7.2.  Prohibition Against Use as Non-Taxable or Centrally 

Assessed Property……..……………………………...  15 

 

ARTICLE VIII.  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT GRANT..……………….. 16 

Section 8.1.   Economic Development Grant………………………...  16 

17

Item 6.



 

Execution Version 

 3 

Section 8.2.   Existing Value…………………………………………… 17 

Section 8.3.   Conditions………………………………………………. 17 

Section 8.4.   Grant Schedule……….…………………………………. 18 

Section 8.5.   Maximum Amount of Grants………………………….. 18 

Section 8.6.   Limitations……………………………………….……... 19 

Section 8.7.   Source of Grant Funds Limited……..…………………. 19 

Section 8.8.   Use of Other Tax Increments…………………………… 21 

Section 8.9.   Real Property Taxes…………………………….……… 21 

 

ARTICLE IX.  INDEMNIFICATION……………………………………..  21 

Section 9.1.  Release and Indemnification Covenants…………………. 21 

 

ARTICLE X.  REMEDIES……………………………………………….  22 

Section 10.1.  Events of Default Defined…………….………………  22 

Section 10.2.  Remedies on Default………………………………….  24 

Section 10.3.  No Remedy Exclusive………………………………..  25 

Section 10.4.  No Implied Waiver……………………………………  25 

Section 10.5.  Agreement to Pay Attorneys' Fees and Expenses…….  25 

 

ARTICLE XI.  RESERVED…………………………………………………  25 

 

ARTICLE XII.  MISCELLANEOUS………………………………………..  25 

Section 12.1.  Conflict of Interest……………………………………  25 

Section 12.2.  Notices and Demands………………………………...  25 

Section 12.3.  Titles of Articles and Sections………………………… 26 

Section 12.4.  Counterparts……………………….……………..……  26 

Section 12.5.  Governing Law………………………………………… 26 

Section 12.6.  Entire Agreement……………………………………… 26 

Section 12.7.  Successors and Assigns……………………………….  26 

Section 12.8.  Termination Date……………………………………… 26 

Section 12.9.  Memorandum of Agreement………..………………..  26 

Section 12.10. No Third-Party Beneficiaries…………………………. 27 

 

EXHIBIT A  Development Property…………………………………  30 

EXHIBIT B   Minimum Improvements………………………………. 31 

EXHIBIT C  Certificate of Completion……………………………… 33 

EXHIBIT D  Memorandum of Agreement for Private Development... 35 

EXHIBIT E  Developer Annual Certification...……………………..  38 

  

18

Item 6.



 

Execution Version 

 4 

AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 

 

THIS AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT (hereinafter called 

"Agreement"), is made on or as of the ____ day of _____________, 2021, by and 

between the CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, a municipality (hereinafter called 

"City"), established pursuant to the Code of Iowa of the State of Iowa and acting under 

the authorization of Chapters 15A and 403 of the Code of Iowa, 2019, as amended 

(hereinafter called "Urban Renewal Act"), and Stone and Terrace, L.L.C., an Iowa 

limited liability company, having offices for the transaction of business at 2110 Flynn 

Drive, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 (hereinafter known as "Developer"). 

 

WITNESSETH: 

 

WHEREAS, in furtherance of the objectives of the Urban Renewal Act, the City 

has undertaken a program for the development of an economic development area in the 

City and, in this connection, is engaged in carrying out urban renewal project activities in 

an area known as the Downtown Development Area Urban Renewal Area (“Area” or 

“Urban Renewal Area”), as set forth in the Downtown Development Area Urban 

Renewal Plan, as amended (“Plan” or “Urban Renewal Plan”); and 

 

WHEREAS, a copy of the foregoing Urban Renewal Plan, as amended, has been 

recorded among the land records in the office of the Recorder of Black Hawk County, 

Iowa; and 

 

WHEREAS, Developer is the owner of certain real property located in the 

foregoing Urban Renewal Area and as more particularly described in Exhibit A attached 

hereto and made a part hereof (which property as so described is hereinafter referred to as 

the "Development Property"); and 

 

WHEREAS, Developer is willing to construct certain Minimum Improvements on 

the Development Property and Developer will thereafter cause the same to be operated in 

accordance with this Agreement, and is willing to agree to certain terms and conditions 

regarding the future ownership and use of the Development Property, as more 

particularly set forth in this Agreement; and 

 

WHEREAS, the construction of the Minimum Improvements on the Development 

Property will alleviate the blighted condition of the neighborhood and will benefit the 

City economically through increased property tax generation and increased sales tax 

generation of the Minimum Improvements, and will otherwise provide economic growth; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, the City believes that the development of the Development Property 

pursuant to this Agreement and the fulfillment generally of this Agreement are in the vital 

19

Item 6.



 

Execution Version 

 5 

and best interests of the residents of the City, and in accord with the public purposes and 

provisions of the applicable State and local laws and requirements under which the 

foregoing project has been undertaken and is being assisted, including but not limited to 

Chapters 15A and 403 of the Code of Iowa. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and the mutual obligations 

of the parties hereto, each of them does hereby covenant and agree with the other as 

follows: 

 

ARTICLE I.  DEFINITIONS 

 

Section 1.1.  Definitions. In addition to other definitions set forth in this 

Agreement, all capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein shall have the 

following meanings unless a different meaning clearly appears from the context: 

 

Agreement means this Agreement and all exhibits and appendices hereto, as the 

same may be from time to time modified, amended or supplemented. 

 

Area or Urban Renewal Area shall mean the area known as Downtown 

Development Urban Renewal Area. 

 

Assignment for the Benefit of Creditors means an agreement with a fiduciary-

assignee who is responsible for conducting the wind-down, liquidation, or going concern 

sale of substantially all of Developer’s assets for the benefit of Developer’s creditors. 

 

Certificate of Completion means a certification in the form of the certificate 

attached hereto as Exhibit C and hereby made a part of this Agreement. 

 

City or Cedar Falls means the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, or any successor to its 

functions.  

 

Code or Code of Iowa means the Code of Iowa, 2019, as amended. 

 

Commencement Date means the date of this Agreement. 

 

Downtown Development Area Urban Renewal Tax Increment Revenue Fund 

means the special fund of the City created under the authority of Section 403.19(2) of the 

Code, which fund was created in order to pay the principal of and interest on loans, 

monies advanced to or indebtedness, whether funded, refunded, assumed or otherwise, 

including bonds or other obligations issued under the authority of Chapters 15A, 403 or 

384 of the Code, incurred by the City to finance or refinance in whole or in part projects 

undertaken pursuant to the Urban Renewal Plan for the Urban Renewal Area. 

 

20

Item 6.



 

Execution Version 

 6 

Developer means Stone and Terrace, L.L.C., collectively, and its successors and 

assigns. 

 

Development Property means that portion of the Downtown Development Area 

Urban Renewal Area of the City described in Exhibit A and locally known as 108 E. 4th 

Street. 

 

Economic Development Grants means the payments to be made by the City to 

Developer under Article VIII of this Agreement. 

 

Event of Default means any of the events described in Section 10.1 of this 

Agreement. 

 

First Mortgage means any Mortgage granted to secure any loan made pursuant to 

either a mortgage commitment obtained by Developer from a commercial lender or other 

financial institution to fund any portion of the construction costs and initial operating 

capital requirements of the Minimum Improvements or all such Mortgages as 

appropriate. 

 

Full-Time Equivalent Employment Unit means the employment of the equivalent 

of one person for an average of 2,000 hours per year, assuming eight hours per day for a 

five-day, forty-hour work week for fifty weeks per year. 

 

 Minimum Improvements shall mean the construction of improvements on the 

Development Property as described in Exhibit B.   

 

Mortgage mean any mortgage or security agreement in which Developer has 

granted a mortgage or other security interest in the Development Party, or any portion or 

parcel thereof, or any improvements constructed thereon. 

 

Net Proceeds means any proceeds paid by an insurer to Developer under a policy 

or policies of insurance required to be provided and maintained by Developer, as the case 

may be, pursuant to Article V of this Agreement and remaining after deducting all 

expenses (including fees and disbursements of counsel) incurred in the collection of such 

proceeds. 

 

Project shall mean the construction of the Minimum Improvements on the 

Development Property, as described in this Agreement. 

 

State means the State of Iowa. 

Stone and Terrace, L.L.C., 108 E. 4th Street TIF Account means a separate account 

within the Downtown Development Area Urban Renewal Tax Increment Revenue Fund 

21

Item 6.



 

Execution Version 

 7 

of the City, in which there shall be deposited Tax Increments received by the City with 

respect to the Minimum Improvements on the Development Property. 

 

 Tax Increments means the property tax revenues on the Minimum Improvements 

divided and made available to the City for deposit in the Stone and Terrace, L.L.C., 108 

E. 4th Street TIF Account of the Downtown Development Area Urban Renewal Tax 

Increment Revenue Fund under the provisions of Section 403.19 of the Code, as 

amended. 

 

Termination Date means the date of termination of this Agreement, as established 

in Section 12.8 of this Agreement. 

 

Unavoidable Delays means delays resulting from acts or occurrences outside the 

reasonable control of the party claiming the delay including but not limited to storms, 

floods, fires, explosions or other casualty losses, unusual weather conditions, strikes, 

boycotts, lockouts or other labor disputes, delays in transportation or delivery of material 

or equipment, litigation commenced by third parties, or the acts of any federal, State or 

local governmental unit (other than the City). 

 

Urban Renewal Area means the area included within the boundaries of the 

Downtown Development Area Urban Renewal Area, as amended. 

 

Urban Renewal Plan means the Urban Renewal Plan approved with respect to the 

Downtown Development Area Urban Renewal Area, described in the preambles hereof. 

 

ARTICLE II.  REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

 

Section 2.1.  Representations and Warranties of the City. The City makes the 

following representations and warranties:  

 

a. The City is a municipal corporation and municipality organized under the 

provisions of the Constitution and the laws of the State and has the power to enter into 

this Agreement and carry out its obligations hereunder. 

 

b. The execution and delivery of this Agreement, the consummation of the 

transactions contemplated hereby, and the fulfillment of or compliance with the terms 

and conditions of this Agreement are not prevented by, limited by, in conflict with, or 

result in a breach of, the terms, conditions or provisions of any contractual restriction, 

evidence of indebtedness, agreement or instrument of whatever nature to which the City 

is now a party or by which it is bound, nor do they constitute a default under any of the 

foregoing. 

 

22

Item 6.



 

Execution Version 

 8 

c. The City has duly authorized the execution, delivery and performance of 

this Agreement. 

 

d. The City would not undertake its obligations under this Agreement without 

the consideration being made to the City pursuant to this Agreement, including, without 

limitation, the consideration set forth in Article IV. 

 

e. There is not pending, nor to the best of the City’s knowledge is there 

threatened, any suit, action or proceeding against the City before any court, arbitrator, 

administrative agency or other governmental agency that materially or adversely affects 

the validity of any of these transactions contemplated hereunder, the ability of the City to 

perform its obligations hereunder, or as contemplated hereby or thereby, or the validity or 

enforceability of this Agreement. 

 

f. No member of the City Council or officer of the City, has either a direct or 

indirect financial interest in this Agreement, nor will any City Council member or officer 

of the City, benefit financially from this Agreement. 

 

g. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement, and any other 

documents, instruments or actions required or contemplated pursuant to this Agreement 

by the City does not, and consummation of the transactions contemplated therein and the 

fulfillment of the terms thereof will not conflict with or constitute on the part of the City 

a breach or default under any existing agreement or instrument to which the City is a 

party or violate any law, charter, or other proceeding or action establishing or relating to 

the establishment and powers of the City or its officers, officials or resolutions. 

 

Section 2.2.  Representations and Warranties of Developer. Developer makes the 

following representations and warranties: 

 

a. Developer is an Iowa limited liability company, duly organized and validly 

existing under the laws of the State of Iowa, with all requisite power and authority to own 

and operate its properties, to carry on its business as now conducted and as presently 

proposed to be conducted, and to enter into and perform its obligations under this 

Agreement.   

 

b. This Agreement has been duly and validly authorized, executed and 

delivered by Developer and, assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by the 

City, is in full force and effect and is a valid and legally binding instrument of Developer 

enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as the same may be limited by 

bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other laws relating to or affecting creditors' 

rights generally. 

 

23

Item 6.



 

Execution Version 

 9 

c. The execution and delivery of this Agreement, the consummation of the 

transactions contemplated hereby, and the fulfillment of or compliance with the terms 

and conditions of this Agreement are not prevented by, limited by, in conflict with, or 

result in a violation or breach of, the terms, conditions or provisions of the governing 

documents of Developer or of any contractual restriction, evidence of indebtedness, 

agreement or instrument of whatever nature to which Developer is now a party or by 

which it or its property is bound, nor do they constitute a default under any of the 

foregoing. 

 

d. There are no actions, suits or proceedings pending or threatened against or 

affecting Developer in any court or before any arbitrator or before or by any 

governmental body in which there is a reasonable possibility of an adverse decision 

which could materially adversely affect the business (present or prospective), financial 

position or results of operations of Developer or which in any manner raises any 

questions affecting the validity of the Agreement or Developer's ability to perform its 

obligations under this Agreement. 

 

e.  Developer will cause the Minimum Improvements to be constructed in 

accordance with the terms of this Agreement, the Urban Renewal Plan, and all local, 

State, and federal laws and regulations. 

 

f. Developer will use its best efforts to obtain or cause to be obtained, in a 

timely manner, all required permits, licenses, and approvals, and will meet, in a timely 

manner, all requirements of all applicable local, State, and federal laws and regulations 

which must be obtained or met before the Minimum Improvements may be lawfully 

constructed. 

 

g. The construction of the Minimum Improvements will require a total 

investment of approximately $450,000 for construction costs. 

 

h. Developer has not received any notice from any local, State or federal 

official that the activities of Developer with respect to the Development Property may or 

will be in violation of any environmental law or regulation (other than those notices, if 

any, of which the City has previously been notified in writing). Developer is not currently 

aware of any State or federal claim filed or planned to be filed by any party relating to 

any violation of any local, State or federal environmental law, regulation or review 

procedure applicable to the Development Property, and Developer is not currently aware 

of any violation of any local, State or federal environmental law, regulation or review 

procedure which would give any person a valid claim under any State or federal 

environmental statute with respect thereto. 

 

i. Developer has firm commitments for construction or acquisition and 

permanent financing for the Project in an amount sufficient, together with equity 

24

Item 6.



 

Execution Version 

 10 

commitments, to successfully complete the Minimum Improvements in accordance with 

the Construction Plans contemplated in this Agreement. 

 

j. Developer will cooperate fully with the City in resolution of any traffic, 

parking, trash removal or public safety problems which may arise in connection with the 

construction and operation of the Minimum Improvements. 

 

k. Developer expects that, barring Unavoidable Delays, the Minimum 

Improvements will be completed by December 31, 2021. 

 

l. Developer would not undertake its obligations under this Agreement 

without the payment by the City of the Economic Development Grants being made to 

Developer pursuant to this Agreement. 

 

ARTICLE III.  CONSTRUCTION OF MINIMUM IMPROVEMENTS 

 

Section 3.1.  Construction of Minimum Improvements. Developer agrees that it 

will cause the Minimum Improvements to be constructed on the Development Property in 

conformance with the site plans submitted to the City and attached to this Agreement as 

part of Exhibit B, after issuance of a building permit issued by the City. Developer agrees 

that the scope and scale of the Minimum Improvements to be constructed shall not be 

significantly less than the scope and scale of the Minimum Improvements as detailed and 

outlined in the site plans, and shall require a total investment of approximately $450,000. 

 

Section 3.2.  Commencement and Completion of Construction. Subject to 

Unavoidable Delays, Developer shall cause construction of the Minimum Improvements 

to be undertaken and completed: (i) by no later than December 31, 2021; or (ii) by such 

other date as the parties shall mutually agree upon in writing. Time lost as a result of 

Unavoidable Delays shall be added to extend this date by a number of days equal to the 

number of days lost as a result of Unavoidable Delays. Developer agrees that it shall 

permit designated representatives of the City, upon reasonable notice (which does not 

have to be written), to enter upon the Development Property during the construction of 

the Minimum Improvements to inspect such construction and the progress thereof. 

 

Section 3.3.  Certificate of Completion. Upon written request of Developer after 

issuance of an occupancy permit for the Minimum Improvements, the City will furnish 

Developer with a Certificate of Completion in recordable form, in substantially the form 

set forth in Exhibit C attached hereto. Such Certificate of Completion shall be a 

conclusive determination of the satisfactory termination of the covenants and conditions 

of this Agreement with respect to the obligations of Developer to cause construction of 

the Minimum Improvements.  

 

25

Item 6.



 

Execution Version 

 11 

The Certificate of Completion may be recorded in the proper office for the 

recordation of deeds and other instruments pertaining to the Development Property at 

Developer's sole expense. If the City shall refuse or fail to provide a Certificate of 

Completion in accordance with the provisions of this Section, the City shall, within 

twenty (20) days after written request by Developer provide a written statement 

indicating in adequate detail in what respects Developer has failed to complete the 

Minimum Improvements in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, or is 

otherwise in default under the terms of this Agreement, and what measures or acts it will 

be necessary, in the opinion of the City, for Developer to take or perform in order to 

obtain such Certificate of Completion.  

 

ARTICLE IV.   RESERVED 

 

ARTICLE V.  INSURANCE 

 

Section 5.1.  Insurance Requirements. 

 

a. Developer will provide and maintain or cause to be maintained at all times 

during the process of constructing the Minimum Improvements (and, from time to time at 

the request of the City, furnish the City with proof of payment of premiums on): 

 

 i. Builder's risk insurance, written on the so-called "Builder's Risk– 

Completed Value Basis," in an amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the 

insurable value of the Minimum Improvements at the date of completion, and with 

coverage available in non-reporting form on the so-called "all risk" form of policy. 

 

 ii. Comprehensive general liability insurance (including operations, 

contingent liability, operations of subcontractors, completed operations, and contractual 

liability insurance) with limits against bodily injury and property damage of at least 

$1,000,000 for each occurrence. The City shall be named as an additional insured for the 

City's liability or loss arising out of or in any way associated with the project and arising 

out of any act, error, or omission of Developer, its directors, officers, shareholders, 

contractors, and subcontractors or anyone else for whose acts the City may be held 

responsible (with coverage to the City at least as broad as that which is provided to 

Developer and not lessened or avoided by endorsement). The policy shall contain a 

"severability of interests" clause and provide primary insurance over any other insurance 

maintained by the City. 

 

 iii. Workers' compensation insurance with at least statutory coverage. 

 

b. Upon completion of construction of the Minimum Improvements and at all 

times prior to the Termination Date, Developer shall maintain or cause to be maintained, 

26

Item 6.



 

Execution Version 

 12 

at its cost and expense (and from time to time at the request of the City shall furnish proof 

of the payment of premiums on), insurance as follows: 

 

 i. Insurance against loss and/or damage to the Minimum 

Improvements under a policy or policies covering such risks as are ordinarily insured 

against by similar businesses, including (without limitation the generality of the 

foregoing) fire, extended coverage, vandalism and malicious mischief, explosion, water 

damage, demolition cost, debris removal, and collapse in an amount not less than the full 

insurable replacement value of the Minimum Improvements, but any such policy may 

have a deductible amount of not more than $50,000 or self-insurance up to not more than 

$1,000,000. No policy of insurance shall be so written that the proceeds thereof will 

produce less than the minimum coverage required by the preceding sentence, by reason 

of co-insurance provisions or otherwise, without the prior consent thereto in writing by 

the City. The term "full insurable replacement value" shall mean the actual replacement 

cost of the Minimum Improvements (excluding foundation and excavation costs and 

costs of underground flues, pipes, drains, and other uninsurable items) and equipment, 

and shall be determined from time to time at the request of the City, but not more 

frequently than once every three years, by an insurance consultant or insurer selected and 

paid for by Developer and approved by the City.   

 

 ii. Comprehensive general public liability insurance, including personal 

injury liability for injuries to persons and/or property, including any injuries resulting 

from the operation of automobiles or other motorized vehicles on or about the 

Development Property, in the minimum amount for each occurrence and for each year of 

$1,000,000. 

 

 iii. Such other insurance, including workers' compensation insurance 

respecting all employees of Developer, in such amount as is customarily carried by like 

organizations engaged in like activities of comparable size and liability exposure; 

provided that Developer may be self-insured with respect to all or any part of its liability 

for workers' compensation. 

 

c. All insurance required by this Article V to be provided prior to the 

Termination Date shall be taken out and maintained in responsible insurance companies 

selected by Developer, which are authorized under the laws of the State to assume the 

risks covered thereby. Developer will deposit annually with the City copies of policies 

evidencing all such insurance, or a certificate or certificates or binders of the respective 

insurers stating that such insurance is in force and effect. Unless otherwise provided in 

this Article V, each policy shall contain a provision that the insurer shall not cancel or 

modify it without giving written notice to Developer and the City at least thirty (30) days 

before the cancellation or modification becomes effective. Not less than fifteen (15) days 

prior to the expiration of any policy, Developer shall furnish the City evidence 

satisfactory to the City that the policy has been renewed or replaced by another policy 

27

Item 6.



 

Execution Version 

 13 

conforming to the provisions of this Article V, or that there is no necessity therefor under 

the terms hereof. In lieu of separate policies, Developer may maintain a single policy, or 

blanket or umbrella policies, or a combination thereof, which provide the total coverage 

required herein, in which event Developer shall deposit with the City a certificate or 

certificates of the respective insurers as to the amount of coverage in force upon the 

Minimum Improvements. 

 

d. Developer agrees to notify the City immediately in the case of damage 

exceeding $25,000 in amount to, or destruction of, the Minimum Improvements or any 

portion thereof resulting from fire or other casualty. Net Proceeds of any such insurance 

shall be paid directly to Developer, and Developer will forthwith repair, reconstruct, and 

restore the Minimum Improvements to substantially the same or an improved condition 

or value as they existed prior to the event causing such damage and, to the extent 

necessary to accomplish such repair, reconstruction and restoration, Developer will apply 

the Net Proceeds of any insurance relating to such damage received by Developer to the 

payment or reimbursement of the costs thereof. 

 

e. Developer shall complete the repair, reconstruction, and restoration of the 

Minimum Improvements, whether or not the Net Proceeds of insurance received by 

Developer for such purposes are sufficient.   

 

ARTICLE VI.  FURTHER COVENANTS OF DEVELOPER 

 

Section 6.1. Maintenance of Properties.  Developer will maintain, preserve, and 

keep its properties within the City (whether owned in fee or a leasehold interest), 

including but not limited to the Minimum Improvements, in good repair and working 

order, ordinary wear and tear excepted, and from time to time will make all necessary 

repairs, replacements, renewals, and additions. 

 

Section 6.2. Maintenance of Records. Developer will keep at all times proper 

books of record and account in which full, true, and correct entries will be made of all 

dealings and transactions of or in relation to the business and affairs of Developer relating 

to this Project in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, consistently 

applied throughout the period involved, and Developer will provide reasonable protection 

against loss or damage to such books of record and account.  

 

Section 6.3. Compliance with Laws. Developer will comply with all state, federal 

and local laws, rules and regulations relating to the Minimum Improvements. 

 

Section 6.4. Non-Discrimination. In carrying out the construction and operation 

of the Minimum Improvements, the Developer shall not discriminate against any 

employee or applicant for employment because of race, creed, color, gender, sex, sexual 

orientation, gender identity, religion, national origin, age or disability. The Developer 

28

Item 6.



 

Execution Version 

 14 

shall ensure that applicants for employment are employed, and the employees are treated 

during employment, without regard to their race, creed, color, gender, sex, sexual 

orientation, gender identity, religion, national origin, age or disability. 

 

Section 6.5 Available Information. Upon request, Developer shall promptly 

provide the City with copies of information requested by City that are related to this 

Agreement so that City can determine compliance with the Agreement. 

   

Section 6.6  Employment. Developer agrees that the Minimum Improvements will 

create usable commercial space. Developer shall use its best efforts to ensure that at least 

2 Full-Time Equivalent Employment Units will be employed by Developer’s tenant(s) at 

the Minimum Improvements by October 1, 2022 and retained until at least the 

Termination Date of this Agreement.   

 Section 6.7 Annual Certification. To assist the City in monitoring the Agreement 

and performance of Developer hereunder, a duly authorized officer of Developer shall 

annually provide to the City: (i) proof that all ad valorem taxes on the Development 

Property and Minimum Improvements have been paid for the prior fiscal year and any 

taxes due and payable for the current fiscal year as of the date of certification; (ii) the 

date of the first full assessment of the Minimum Improvements; (iii) certification of the 

number of Full-Time Equivalent Employment Units as of October 1 and as of the first 

day of each of the preceding eleven (11) months; and (iv) certification that such officer 

has re-examined the terms and provisions of this Agreement and that at the date of such 

certificate, and during the preceding twelve (12) months, Developer is not, or was not, in 

default in the fulfillment of any of the terms and conditions of this Agreement and that no 

Event of Default (or event which, with the lapse of time or the giving of notice, or both, 

would become an Event of Default) is occurring or has occurred as of the date of such 

certificate or during such period, or if the signer is aware of any such default, event or 

Event of Default, said officer shall disclose in such statement the nature thereof, its 

period of existence and what action, if any, has been taken or is proposed to be taken with 

respect thereto. Such statement, proof and certificate shall be provided not later than 

October 15 of each year, commencing October 15, 2022 and ending on October 15, 2027, 

both dates inclusive. Developer shall provide supporting information for their Annual 

Certifications upon request of the City. See Exhibit E for form required for Developer's 

Annual Certification. 

 Section 6.8. Term of Operation. Developer will continue its efforts to lease the 

Minimum Improvements on the Development Property and its other obligations 

contained in this Agreement, including the employment obligations in Section 6.6, until 

the Termination Date of this Agreement.   

 Section 6.9 Developer Completion Guarantee. By signing this Agreement, 

Developer hereby guarantees to the City performance by Developer of all the terms and 

29

Item 6.



 

Execution Version 

 15 

provisions of this Agreement pertaining to Developer's obligations with respect to the 

construction of the Minimum Improvements. Without limiting the generality of the 

foregoing, Developer guarantees that: (a) construction of the Minimum Improvements 

shall commence and be completed within the time limits set forth herein; (b) the 

Minimum Improvements shall be constructed and completed in accordance with the 

Construction Plans; (c) the Minimum Improvements shall be constructed and completed 

free and clear of any mechanic's liens, materialman's liens and equitable liens; (d) all 

costs of constructing the Minimum Improvements shall be paid when due.  

 

Section 6.10.  Relocation. Developer agrees and covenants not to lease the 

Minimum Improvements to any entity that is relocating to the City from another part of 

Black Hawk County or a contiguous county during the term of this Agreement. In 

general, use of urban renewal incentives cannot be used for projects that involve a 

relocating entity unless there is a written agreement regarding the use of economic 

incentives from the City where the business is currently located and the City to which the 

business is relocating, either specific to this Project or in general (a fair play or neutrality 

agreement), or if the City finds the use of tax increment in connection with the relocation 

is in the public interest, which means that the business has provided a written affirmation 

that it is considering moving part or all of its operations out of state and such relocation 

would result in either significant employment or wage loss in Iowa. Developer 

understands and agrees that if it does lease to a relocating entity, as determined by the 

City in its sole discretion, the Developer is not eligible to  receive all or a pro rata portion 

of the Economic Development Grants under this Agreement and will be responsible for 

paying back previously received Economic Development Grants, if applicable. 

 

ARTICLE VII.  PROHIBITION AGAINST ASSIGNMENT AND TRANSFER 

 

 Section 7.1.  Status of Developer; Transfer of Substantially All Assets; 

Assignment. As security for the obligations of Developer under this Agreement, 

Developer represents and agrees that, prior to the Termination Date, Developer will 

maintain existence as a company and will not wind up or otherwise dispose of all or 

substantially all of its assets or transfer, convey, or assign its interest in the Development 

Property or its interest in this Agreement to any other party unless: (i) the transferee 

partnership, corporation, limited liability company or individual assumes in writing all of 

the obligations of Developer under this Agreement; and (ii) the City consents thereto in 

writing in advance thereof. Notwithstanding the foregoing, however, or any other 

provisions of this Agreement, Developer may pledge any and/or all of its assets as 

security for any financing of the Minimum Improvements, and the City agrees that 

Developer may assign its interest under this Agreement for such purpose.   

 

7.2 Prohibition Against Use as Non-Taxable or Centrally Assessed Property.  

During the term of this Agreement, the Developer, or its successors, or assigns agree that 

the Development Property cannot be transferred or sold to a non-profit entity or used for 

30

Item 6.



 

Execution Version 

 16 

a purpose that would exempt the Development Property or Minimum Improvements from 

property tax liability. Nor can the Development Property or Minimum Improvements be 

used as centrally assessed property (including but not limited to, Iowa Code § 428.24 to 

428.29 (Public Utility Plants and Related Personal Property); Chapter 433 (Telegraph and 

Telephone Company Property); Chapter 434 (Railway Property); Chapter 437 (Electric 

Transmission Lines); Chapter 437A (Property Used in the Production, Generation, 

Transmission or Delivery of Electricity or Natural Gas); and Chapter 438 (Pipeline 

Property)). 

 

ARTICLE VIII.  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT GRANT 

 

Section 8.1.  Economic Development Grant. For and in consideration of the 

obligations being assumed by Developer hereunder, and as a necessary means of 

achieving the goals and objectives of the Urban Renewal Plan for the Urban Renewal 

Area and the Urban Renewal Act, the City agrees, subject to the terms and conditions of 

this Article and to subject to Developer being and remaining in compliance with the 

terms of this Agreement, to make up to five (5) consecutive annual payments of 

Economic Development Grants to Developer up to an aggregate total amount not to 

exceed Sixty Five Thousand Nine Hundred Forty Dollars ($65,940) under the following 

terms and conditions. 

 

In accordance with Section 8.2 below, the existing building located on the 

Development Property as of January 1, 2020 (assessed value of $204,530 for building 

value) will not be considered when determining the amount of Economic 

Development Grants to which Developer is entitled. The Economic Development 

Grants are only for the incremental value added above $204,530. The increased 

assessed value after construction of the Minimum Improvements for the purpose of 

this Agreement is required to be at least $200,000 for Developer to be eligible for 

Economic Development Grants, and the Black Hawk County Assessor will make the 

final determination as to the value. 
 

Assuming completion by December 31, 2021, full assessment of the Minimum 

Improvements on January 1, 2022, and debt certification to the Auditor by the City prior 

to December 1, 2022, the Economic Development Grants shall commence on June 1, 

2024, and end on June 1, 2028, pursuant to Section 403.19 of the Urban Renewal Act 

under the following formula: 

 

June 1, 2024  100% of Tax Increments for Fiscal Year 22-23 

June 1, 2025 100% of Tax Increments for Fiscal Year 23-24 

June 1, 2026 100% of Tax Increments for Fiscal Year 24-25 

June 1, 2027 100% of Tax Increments for Fiscal Year 25-26 

June 1, 2028 100% of Tax Increments for Fiscal Year 26-27 

 

31

Item 6.



 

Execution Version 

 17 

Each annual payment shall be equal in amount to the above percentages of the Tax 

Increments collected by the City with respect to the Minimum Improvements on 

Development Property under the terms of the Ordinance and deposited into the Stone and 

Terrace, L.L.C., 108 E. 4th Street TIF Account (without regard to any averaging that may 

otherwise be utilized under Section 403.19 and excluding any interest that may accrue 

thereon prior to payment to the Developer) during the preceding twelve-month period in 

respect of the Development Property and the Minimum Improvements, but subject to 

limitation and adjustment as provided in this Article (such payments being referred to 

collectively as the "Economic Development Grants"). 

 

The above schedule of the payments for Economic Development Grants is based 

on the first full assessment of the Minimum Improvements being January 1, 2022.  If the 

completion of the Minimum Improvements is delayed so that the Minimum 

Improvements are not fully assessed as of January 1, 2022, then the Economic 

Development Grants will not begin as scheduled above.  In no event shall the City certify 

a request for Tax Increment to the County until the Minimum Improvements are fully 

assessed. It is the responsibility of the Developer to inform the City in writing when the 

Minimum Improvements are first fully assessed and to do so not later than October 15 

after the January 1 when the Minimum Improvements are first fully assessed. 

 

Section 8.2  Existing Value. For the purposes of this Agreement, the value of the 

existing building and land located on the Development Property as of January 1, 2020 

(assessed value of $204,530 for building value) will not be considered when determining 

the amount of Economic Development Grants to which Developer is entitled. The 

Economic Development Grant is only for the Minimum Improvements described in this 

Agreement and not any future expansions which, to be eligible for Economic 

Development Grants, would be the subject of an amendment or new agreement, at the 

sole discretion of the City Council.   

 

Section 8.3  Conditions. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 8.1 above, the 

obligation of the City to make an Economic Development Grant in any year shall be 

subject to and conditioned upon the following: 

 

(a) an increase in assessed value of at least 50% resulting from 

construction of the Minimum Improvements; and 

 

(b) a total investment of at least $200,000, substantiated by documented 

receipts and invoices provided to the City as part of Developer’s Annual 

Certifications; 

 

(c) compliance with the terms of this Agreement and the obligations 

imposed under the State Agreement;  

 

32

Item 6.



 

Execution Version 

 18 

(d) timely filing by Developer of the Annual Certifications required 

under Section 6.7 hereof and the Council's approval thereof.  

 

Section 8.4.  Grant Schedule. After the Minimum Improvements are first fully 

assessed and if in compliance with this Agreement, if the Developer's Annual 

Certification is timely filed and contains the information required under Section 6.7 and 

the Council approves of the same, the City shall certify to the County prior to December 

1 of that year its request for the available Tax Increments resulting from the assessments 

imposed by the County as of January 1 of that year, to be collected by the County and 

paid to the City as taxes are paid during the following fiscal year and which shall 

thereafter be disbursed to Developer on the following June 1. (Example: assuming 

completion by December 2021 and first full assessment on January 1, 2022 if Developer 

and the City each so certify in October 2022, the first Economic Development Grants 

would be paid to Developer on June 1, 2024 (for 100% of the Tax Increment for fiscal 

year 2022-2023). Compliance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement is a 

condition precedent to an Economic Development Grant. As an example, if property 

taxes are not paid, the Developer is not eligible for an Economic Development Grant. 

 

In the event that the Annual Certification required to be delivered by the 

Developer under Section 6.7 is not delivered to the City by October 15 of any year, the 

Developer recognizes and agrees that the City may have insufficient time to review and 

approve the same and certify its request for Tax Increments to the County and that, as a 

result, no Economic Development Grant may be made to the Developer in respect 

thereof.  The City covenants to act in good faith to appropriately review and consider any 

late certification on the part of the Developer, but the City shall not be obligated to make 

any certification to the County for the available Tax Increments or make any 

corresponding payment of the Economic Development Grant to the Developer if, in the 

reasonable judgment of the City, it is not able to give appropriate consideration (which 

may include, but not be limited to, specific discussion before the City Council at a regular 

City Council meeting with respect thereto) to the Developer’s certification due to its late 

filing. 

 

Section 8.5. Maximum Amount of Grants. The aggregate amount of the 

Economic Development Grants that may be paid to Developer under this Agreement shall 

be equal to the sum of the total amount of the applicable percentage of Tax Increments 

collected in respect of the assessments imposed on the Minimum Improvements over the 

specified time period, but in no event shall exceed a total aggregate amount of $65,940.  

Economic Development Grants shall at all times be subject to suspension, reduction, or 

termination in accordance with the terms of this Article VIII.  Thereafter the taxes levied 

on the Minimum Improvements shall be divided and applied in accordance with the 

Urban Renewal Act and the Ordinance. 

 

33

Item 6.



 

Execution Version 

 19 

It is recognized by all parties that the total aggregate amount set forth above is a 

maximum amount only and that the actual payment amounts will be determined as set 

forth in Section 8.1 and this Article. 

 

Section 8.6.  Limitations. In the event that an Event of Default occurs or any 

certification filed by Developer under Section 6.7 (or other information) discloses the 

existence or prior occurrence of an Event of Default that was not cured or cannot 

reasonably be cured, the City shall have no obligation thereafter to make any payments to 

Developer in respect of the Economic Development Grants and the provisions of this 

Article shall terminate and be of no further force or effect. 

 

Each Annual Certification filed by Developer under Section 6.7 hereof shall be 

considered separately in determining whether the City shall make any of the Economic 

Development Grant payments available to Developer under this Section. Under no 

circumstances shall the failure by Developer to qualify for an Economic Development 

Grant in any year serve to extend the term of this Agreement beyond the Termination 

Date or the years during which Economic Development Grants may be awarded to 

Developer or the total amount thereof, it being the intent of parties hereto to provide 

Developer with an opportunity to receive Economic Development Grants only if 

Developer fully complies with the provisions hereof and the Developer becomes entitled 

thereto, up to the maximum aggregate amount set forth in Section 8.1(c). 

 

Section 8.7.  Source of Grant Funds Limited.   

 

a. The Economic Development Grants shall be payable from and secured 

solely and only by amounts deposited and held in the Stone and Terrace, L.L.C., 108 E. 

4th Street TIF Account of the Downtown Development Urban Renewal Tax Increment 

Revenue Fund of the City. The City hereby covenants and agrees to maintain the 

Ordinance in force during the term hereof and to apply the appropriate percentage of Tax 

Increments collected in respect of the Minimum Improvements and allocated to the Stone 

and Terrace, L.L.C., 108 E. 4th Street TIF Account to pay the Economic Development 

Grants, as and to the extent set forth in this Article.  The Economic Development Grants 

shall not be payable in any manner by other tax increment revenues or by general 

taxation or from any other City funds. Any commercial and industrial property tax 

replacement monies that may be received under chapter 441.21A shall not be included in 

the calculation to determine the amount of Economic Development Grants for which 

Developer is eligible, and any monies received back under chapter 426C relating to the 

Business Property Tax Credit shall not be included in the calculation to determine the 

amount of Economic Development Grants for which Developer is eligible. 

 

b. Each Economic Development Grant is subject to annual appropriation by 

the City Council. The right of non-appropriation reserved to the City in this Section is 

intended by the parties, and shall be construed at all times, so as to ensure that the City's 

34

Item 6.



 

Execution Version 

 20 

obligation to make future Economic Development Grants shall not constitute a legal 

indebtedness of the City within the meaning of any applicable constitutional or statutory 

debt limitation prior to the adoption of a budget which appropriates funds for the payment 

of that installment or amount. In the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement 

are determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to create, or result in the creation of, 

such a legal indebtedness of the City, the enforcement of the said provision shall be 

suspended, and the Agreement shall at all times be construed and applied in such a 

manner as will preserve the foregoing intent of the parties, and no Event of Default by the 

City shall be deemed to have occurred as a result thereof. If any provision of this 

Agreement or the application thereof to any circumstance is so suspended, the suspension 

shall not affect other provisions of this Agreement which can be given effect without the 

suspended provision. To this end the provisions of this Agreement are severable. 

 

c. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 8.1 hereof, the City shall have no 

obligation to make an Economic Development Grant to Developer if at any time during 

the term hereof the City fails to appropriate funds for payment, or receives an opinion 

from its legal counsel to the effect that the use of Tax Increments resulting from the 

Minimum Improvements to fund an Economic Development Grant to Developer, as 

contemplated under said Section 8.1, is not authorized or otherwise an appropriate urban 

renewal activity permitted to be undertaken by the City under the Urban Renewal Act or 

other applicable provisions of the Code, as then constituted or under controlling decision 

of any Iowa Court having jurisdiction over the subject matter hereof. Upon receipt of any 

such legal opinion or non-appropriation, the City shall promptly forward notice of the 

same to Developer.  If the non-appropriation or circumstances or legal constraints giving 

rise to the decision continue for a period during which two (2) annual Economic 

Development Grants would otherwise have been paid to the Developer under the terms of 

Section 8.1, the City may terminate this Agreement, without penalty or other liability to 

the City, by written notice to Developer. 

 

d. The City makes no representation with respect to the amounts that may 

finally be paid to Developer as the Economic Development Grants, and under no 

circumstances shall the City in any manner be liable to Developer so long as the City 

timely applies the appropriate percentage of Tax Increments actually collected and held 

in the Stone and Terrace, L.L.C., 108 E. 4th Street TIF Account (regardless of the 

amounts thereof) to the payment of the corresponding Economic Development Grants to 

Developer as and to the extent described in this Article. 

 

Section 8.8.  Use of Other Tax Increments. The City shall be free to use any and 

all Tax Increments collected from any other properties within the Downtown 

Development Urban Renewal Area, or any available Tax Increments resulting from the 

suspension or termination of the Economic Development Grants, for any purpose for 

which the Tax Increments may lawfully be used pursuant to the provisions of the Urban 

Renewal Act (including an allocation of all or any portion thereof to the reduction of any 

35

Item 6.



 

Execution Version 

 21 

eligible City costs), and the City shall have no obligations to Developer with respect to 

the use thereof. 

 

Section 8.9.  Real Property Taxes.  Developer or its successors shall pay or cause 

to be paid, when due, all real property taxes and assessments payable with respect to all 

and any parts of the Development Property acquired and owned or leased by them and 

pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement. Until Developer's obligations have been 

assumed by any other person or legal title to the property is vested in another person, all 

pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement, Developer shall be solely responsible for all 

assessments and taxes.  

 

Developer and its successors agree that prior to the Termination Date: 

 

a. They will not seek administrative review or judicial review of the 

applicability or constitutionality of any tax statute relating to the taxation of real property 

contained on the Development Property determined by any tax official to be applicable to 

the Development Property, Minimum Improvements, or raise the inapplicability or 

constitutionality of any such tax statute as a defense in any proceedings, including 

delinquent tax proceedings; and 

 

b. They will not seek any tax exemption deferral or abatement either presently 

or prospectively authorized under any State, federal or local law with respect to taxation 

of real property contained on the Development Property between the date of execution of 

this Agreement and the Termination Date. 

  

ARTICLE IX.  INDEMNIFICATION 

 

 Section 9.1.  Release and Indemnification Covenants. 

 

 a. Developer releases the City and the governing body members, officers, 

agents, servants and employees thereof (hereinafter, for purposes of this Article IX, the 

"indemnified parties") from, covenants and agrees that the indemnified parties shall not 

be liable for, and agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the indemnified parties 

against, any loss or damage to property or any injury to or death of any person occurring 

at or about or resulting from any defect in the Minimum Improvements or Development 

Property.  

 

 b. Except for any willful misrepresentation or any willful or wanton 

misconduct or any unlawful act of the indemnified parties, Developer agrees to protect 

and defend the indemnified parties, now or forever, and further agrees to hold the 

indemnified parties harmless, from any claim, demand, suit, action or other proceedings 

whatsoever by any person or entity whatsoever arising or purportedly arising from:  (i) 

any violation of any agreement or condition of this Agreement (except with respect to 

36

Item 6.



 

Execution Version 

 22 

any suit, action, demand or other proceeding brought by Developer against the City to 

enforce its rights under this Agreement); (ii) the acquisition and condition of the 

Development Property and the construction, installation, ownership, and operation of the 

Minimum Improvements; or (iii) any hazardous substance or environmental 

contamination located in or on the Development Property. 

 

 c. The indemnified parties shall not be liable for any damage or injury to the 

persons or property of Developer or their officers, agents, servants or employees or any 

other person who may be about the Minimum Improvements or Development Property 

due to any act of negligence of any person, other than any act of negligence on the part of 

any such indemnified party or its officers, agents, servants or employees. 

 

 d.  All covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements, and obligations of the 

City contained herein shall be deemed to be the covenants, stipulations, promises, 

agreements, and obligations of the City, and not of any governing body member, officer, 

agent, servant or employee of the City in the individual capacity thereof. 

 

 e. The provisions of this Article IX shall survive the termination of this 

Agreement. 

 

ARTICLE X.  REMEDIES 

 

Section 10.1.  Events of Default Defined. The following shall be "Events of 

Default" under this Agreement and the term "Event of Default" shall mean, whenever it is 

used in this Agreement, any one or more of the following events during the Term of this 

Agreement: 

 

a. Failure by Developer to cause the construction of the Minimum 

Improvements to be completed and the operations to continue pursuant to the terms and 

conditions of this Agreement; 

 

b.   Failure by Developer to comply with any provision of this Agreement or 

the State Agreement; 

 

c. Transfer of Developer's interest in the Development Property or any interest 

in this Agreement or the assets of Developer in violation of the provisions of this 

Agreement; 

 

d. Failure by Developer to pay ad valorem taxes on the Development Property 

and Minimum Improvements;  

 

37

Item 6.



 

Execution Version 

 23 

e. Failure by Developer to substantially observe or perform any covenant, 

condition, obligation or agreement on its part to be observed or performed under this 

Agreement; 

 

f. The holder of any mortgage on the Development Property, or any 

improvements thereon, or any portion thereof, commences foreclosure proceedings as a 

result of any default under the applicable mortgage documents; 

 

g. Developer shall: 

 

 i. file any petition in bankruptcy or for any reorganization, 

arrangement, composition, readjustment, liquidation, dissolution, or similar relief under 

the United States Bankruptcy Act of 1978, as amended, or under any similar federal or 

state law; or 

 

 ii. make an assignment for the benefit of its creditors; or 

 

 iii. admit in writing its inability to pay its debts generally as they 

become due; or 

 

 iv. be adjudicated as bankrupt or insolvent; or if a petition or answer 

proposing the adjudication of Developer as a bankrupt or its reorganization under any 

present or future federal bankruptcy act or any similar federal or state law shall be filed in 

any court and such petition or answer shall not be discharged or denied within ninety (90) 

days after the filing thereof; or a receiver, trustee or liquidator of Developer or the 

Minimum Improvements, or part thereof, shall be appointed in any proceedings brought 

against Developer, and shall not be discharged within ninety (90) days after such 

appointment, or if Developer shall consent to or acquiesce in such appointment; or 

 

h. Any representation or warranty made by Developer in this Agreement or in 

any written statement or certificate furnished by Developer pursuant to this Agreement, 

shall prove to have been incorrect, incomplete or misleading in any material respect on or 

as of the date of the issuance or making thereof. 

 

Section 10.2.  Remedies on Default. Whenever any Event of Default referred to in 

Section 10.1 of this Agreement occurs and is continuing, the City, as specified below, 

may take any one or more of the following actions after the giving of thirty (30) days' 

written notice by the City to Developer of the Event of Default, but only if the Event of 

Default has not been cured within said thirty (30) days, or if the Event of Default cannot 

reasonably be cured within thirty (30) days and Developer does not provide assurances 

reasonably satisfactory to the City that the Event of Default will be cured as soon as 

reasonably possible: 

 

38

Item 6.



 

Execution Version 

 24 

a. The City may suspend its performance under this Agreement until it 

receives assurances from Developer, deemed adequate by the City, that Developer will 

cure the default and continue its performance under this Agreement; 

 

b. The City may terminate this Agreement; 

 

c. The City may withhold the Certificate of Completion;  

 

d. The City may take any action, including legal, equitable or administrative 

action, which may appear necessary or desirable to enforce performance and observance 

of any obligation, agreement, or covenant of Developer, as the case may be, under this 

Agreement; or 

 

e. The City shall be entitled to recover from the Developer, and the Developer 

shall repay to the City, an amount equal to the full amount of the Economic Development 

Grants previously made to Developer under Article VIII hereof, with interest thereon at 

the highest rate permitted by State law. The City may take any action, including any legal 

action it deems necessary, to recover such amount from Developer. 

 

f. At the option of the City, Developer's right of possession of the 

Development Property shall terminate, and the City shall be entitled to possession of the 

Premises. The City may proceed to recover possession by process of law. In the event of 

such re-entry by process of law, Developer nevertheless agrees to remain answerable for 

any and all damages the City may sustain by such recovery, whether or not the City relets 

the Premises. In the event of re-entry, the City shall have full power that is hereby 

acceded to by Developer, to relet the Premises for and on behalf of and at the expense of 

Developer.  

 

Section 10.3.  No Remedy Exclusive. No remedy herein conferred upon or 

reserved to the City is intended to be exclusive of any other available remedy or 

remedies, but each and every remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every 

other remedy given under this Agreement or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity 

or by statute. No delay or omission to exercise any right or power accruing upon any 

default shall impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver thereof, 

but any such right and power may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be 

deemed expedient.   

 

Section 10.4.  No Implied Waiver. In the event any agreement contained in this 

Agreement should be breached by any party and thereafter waived by any other party, 

such waiver shall be limited to the particular breach so waived and shall not be deemed to 

waive any other concurrent, previous or subsequent breach hereunder. 

 

39

Item 6.



 

Execution Version 

 25 

 Section 10.5.  Agreement to Pay Attorneys' Fees and Expenses.  Whenever any 

Event of Default occurs and the City shall employ attorneys or incur other expenses for 

the collection of payment due or to become due or for the enforcement or performance or 

observance of any obligation or agreement on the part of Developer herein contained, 

Developer agrees that it shall, on demand therefor, pay to the City the reasonable fees of 

such attorneys and such other expenses as may be reasonably and appropriately incurred 

by the City in connection therewith.  

 

ARTICLE XI     RESERVED 

 

ARTICLE XII.  MISCELLANEOUS 

 

 Section 12.1.  Conflict of Interest. Developer represents and warrants that, to its 

best knowledge and belief after due inquiry, no officer or employee of the City, or their 

designees or agents, nor any consultant or member of the governing body of the City, and 

no other public official of the City who exercises or has exercised any functions or 

responsibilities with respect to the Project during his or her tenure, or who is in a position 

to participate in a decision-making process or gain insider information with regard to the 

Project, has had or shall have any interest, direct or indirect, in any contract or 

subcontract, or the proceeds thereof, for work or services to be performed in connection 

with the Project, or in any activity, or benefit therefrom, which is part of the Project at 

any time during or after such person's tenure. 

 

Section 12.2.  Notices and Demands. A notice, demand or other communication 

under this Agreement by any party to the other shall be sufficiently given or delivered if 

it is dispatched by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, 

or delivered personally, and 

 

a. In the case of Developer, is addressed or delivered personally to Stone and 

Terrace, L.L.C., 2110 Flynn Drive, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613; 

 

b. In the case of the City, is addressed to or delivered personally to the City at 

220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613, Attn: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director 

of Finance and Business Operations; 

 

or to such other designated individual or officer or to such other address as any party 

shall have furnished to the other in writing in accordance herewith. 

 

Section 12.3.  Titles of Articles and Sections. Any titles of the several parts, 

Articles, and Sections of this Agreement are inserted for convenience of reference only 

and shall be disregarded in construing or interpreting any of its provisions. 

 

40

Item 6.



 

Execution Version 

 26 

Section 12.4.  Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of 

counterparts, each of which shall constitute one and the same instrument. 

 

Section 12.5.  Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed and construed in 

accordance with the laws of the State of Iowa. 

 

Section 12.6.  Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the exhibits hereto reflect 

the entire agreement among the parties regarding the subject matter hereof, and 

supersedes and replaces all prior agreements, negotiations or discussions, whether oral or 

written. This Agreement may not be amended except by a subsequent writing signed by 

all parties hereto. 

 

Section 12.7  Successors and Assigns. This Agreement is intended to and shall 

inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective 

successors and assigns. 

 

Section 12.8.  Termination Date. This Agreement shall terminate and be of no 

further force or effect on and after December 31, 2028, unless terminated earlier under 

the provisions of this Agreement. 

 

Section 12.9.  Memorandum of Agreement. The parties agree to execute and 

record a Memorandum of Agreement for Private Development, in substantially the form 

attached as Exhibit D, to serve as notice to the public of the existence and provisions of 

this Agreement, and the rights and interests held by the City by virtue hereof.  

 

Section 12.10  No Third-Party Beneficiaries. No rights or privileges of either party 

hereto shall inure to the benefit of any landowner, contractor, subcontractor, material 

supplier, or any other person or entity, and no such contractor, landowner, subcontractor, 

material supplier, or any other person or entity shall be deemed to be a third-party 

beneficiary of any of the provisions contained in this Agreement. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City has caused this Agreement to be duly 

executed in its name and behalf by its Mayor and its seal to be hereunto duly affixed and 

attested by its City Clerk, Developer has caused this Agreement to be duly executed in its 

name and behalf by its authorized representatives, all on or as of the day first above 

written. 

 

 

[Signatures start on the next page]  

41

Item 6.



 

Execution Version 

 27 

(SEAL)     CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

 

By: ________________________________ 

                                                                       Robert M. Green, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

By: ____________________________________ 

      Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA          ) 

                         )  SS  

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK ) 

 

 On this _____ day of _________________, 2021, before me a Notary Public in 

and for said State, personally appeared Robert M. Green and Jacqueline Danielsen, to me 

personally known, who being duly sworn, did say that they are the Mayor and City Clerk, 

respectively, of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, a Municipality created and existing under 

the laws of the State of Iowa, and that the seal affixed to the foregoing instrument is the 

seal of said Municipality, and that said instrument was signed and sealed on behalf of 

said Municipality by authority and resolution of its City Council, and said Mayor and 

City Clerk acknowledged said instrument to be the free act and deed of said Municipality 

by it voluntarily executed. 

 

 

 
______________________________________ 

Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 

42

Item 6.



 

Execution Version 

 28 

 

DEVELOPER: 

 

Stone and Terrace, L.L.C. 

 

 

By: _________________________________ 

 Brian Wingert, Authorized Representative 

 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA   ) 

                      )  SS  

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK ) 

 

On this _______ day of ________________, 2021, before me the undersigned, a Notary 

Public in and for said State, personally appeared Brian Wingert, to me personally known, who, 

being by me duly sworn, did say that he is the Authorized Representative of Stone and Terrace, 

L.L.C., and that said instrument was signed on behalf of said limited liability company; and that 

the said Brian Wingert as such officer, acknowledged the execution of said instrument to be the 

voluntary act and deed of said limited liability company, by him voluntarily executed. 

 

 

  ______________________________________ 

  Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 

 

43

Item 6.



 

Execution Version 

 29 

EXHIBIT A 

 

DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY 

 

 

The Development Property is legally described as follows: 

 

Original Plat Cedar Falls Lot 5 Block 4, Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

Locally known as 108 E. 4th Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 

Parcel # 8914-12-254-014 and Parcel # 8914-12-254-013 (Black Hawk County) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

44

Item 6.



 

Execution Version 

 30 

EXHIBIT B 

 

MINIMUM IMPROVEMENTS 

 

Minimum Improvements shall mean the rehabilitation of 3,945 (main base) square feet of 

commercial space. This will allow for increased commercial business and the creation and 

retention of jobs and housing. The construction of the Minimum Improvements is expected to be 

completed in 2021. Construction costs are expected to be approximately $450,000.   
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
108 E. 4th Street 

Proposed Elevation 

45

Item 6.



 

Execution Version 

 31 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Floor Plan 

46

Item 6.



 

Execution Version 

 32 

EXHIBIT C 

 

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLETION 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa (the "City") and Stone and Terrace, L.L.C., an 

Iowa Limited Liability Company, ("Developer"), did on or about the _____ day of 

____________________, 2021, make, execute and deliver, each to the other, an Agreement for 

Private Development (the "Agreement"), wherein and whereby Developer agreed, in accordance 

with the terms of the Agreement, to develop and maintain certain real property located within 

the City and as more particularly described as follows: 

 

Original Plat Cedar Falls Lot 5 Block 4, Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

Locally known as 108 E. 4th Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  

(the "Development Property"); and 

 

WHEREAS, the Agreement incorporated and contained certain covenants and restrictions 

with respect to the development of the Development Property, and obligated the Developer to 

construct certain Minimum Improvements (as defined therein) in accordance with the 

Agreement; and 

 

WHEREAS, Developer has to the present date performed said covenants and conditions 

insofar as they relate to the construction of said Minimum Improvements in a manner deemed 

by the City to be in conformance with the Agreement to permit the execution and recording of 

this certification. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, this is to certify that all covenants and conditions of the 

Agreement with respect to the obligations of Developer and its successors and assigns, to 

construct the Minimum Improvements on the Development Property have been completed and 

performed by Developer and are hereby released absolutely and forever terminated insofar as 

they apply to the land described herein. The County Recorder of Black Hawk County is hereby 

authorized to accept for recording and to record the filing of this instrument, to be a conclusive 

determination of the satisfactory termination of the covenants and conditions of said Agreement 

with respect to the construction of the Minimum Improvements on the Development Property. 

 

All other provisions of the Agreement shall otherwise remain in full force and effect until 

termination as provided therein. 

 

 

47

Item 6.



 

Execution Version 

 33 

 

(SEAL)     CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

 

By: ________________________________ 

Robert M. Green, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

By: _________________________________________ 

      Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  

 

 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA          ) 

                         )  SS  

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK ) 

 

 On this ________ day of ________________________, 2021, before me a Notary Public 

in and for said State, personally appeared Robert M. Green and Jacqueline Danielsen, to me 

personally known, who being duly sworn, did say that they are the Mayor and City Clerk, 

respectively, of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, a Municipality created and existing under the laws 

of the State of Iowa, and that the seal affixed to the foregoing instrument is the seal of said 

Municipality, and that said instrument was signed and sealed on behalf of said Municipality by 

authority and resolution of its City Council, and said Mayor and City Clerk acknowledged said 

instrument to be the free act and deed of said Municipality by it voluntarily executed. 

 

       

      __________________________________  

      Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa

48

Item 6.



 

Execution Version 

 34 

EXHIBIT D 

 

 MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 

 

WHEREAS, the City of  Cedar Falls, Iowa (the "City"), and Stone and Terrace, L.L.C., 

an Iowa Limited Liability Company, ("Developer"), did on or about the _____ day of 

_______________, 2021, make, execute and deliver, each to the other, an Agreement for Private 

Development (the "Agreement"), wherein and whereby Developer agreed, in accordance with 

the terms of the Agreement and the Downtown Development Area Urban Renewal Plan (the 

"Plan"), to develop certain real property located within the City and within the Downtown 

Development Urban Renewal Plan/Area. 

 

The Development Property is described as follows: 

 

Original Plat Cedar Falls Lot 5 Block 4, Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

Locally known as 108 E. 4th Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 

Parcel # 8914-12-254-014 and Parcel # 8914-12-254-013 (Black Hawk County) 

 

(the "Development Property"); and 

 

WHEREAS, the term of the Agreement commenced on the ____ day of 

________________, 2021 and terminates on December 31, 2028, unless otherwise terminated as 

set forth in the Agreement; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City and Developer desire to record a Memorandum of the Agreement 

referring to the Development Property and their respective interests therein.   

 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS AGREED AS FOLLOWS: 

1. That the recording of this Memorandum of Agreement for Private Development 

shall serve as notice to the public that the Agreement contains provisions restricting 

development and use of the Development Property and the improvements located and operated 

on such Development Property. 

 

2. That all of the provisions of the Agreement and any subsequent amendments 

thereto, if any, even though not set forth herein, are by the filing of this Memorandum of 

Agreement for Private Development made a part hereof by reference, and that anyone making 

any claim against any of said Development Property in any manner whatsoever shall be fully 

49

Item 6.



 

Execution Version 

 35 

advised as to all of the terms and conditions of the Agreement, and any amendments thereto, as 

if the same were fully set forth herein.   

 

3. That a copy of the Agreement and any subsequent amendments thereto, if any, 

shall be maintained on file for public inspection during ordinary business hours in the office of 

the City Clerk, Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City and Developer have executed this Memorandum of 

Agreement for Private Development on the ______ day of ___________________, 2021. 

 

 

(SEAL)     CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

By: ________________________________ 

Robert M. Green, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

By: _____________________________________ 

       Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA          ) 

                         )  SS  

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK ) 

 

 On this ________ day of ________________________, 2021, before me a Notary Public 

in and for said State, personally appeared Robert M. Green and Jacqueline Danielsen, to me 

personally known, who being duly sworn, did say that they are the Mayor and City Clerk, 

respectively, of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, a Municipality created and existing under the laws 

of the State of Iowa, and that the seal affixed to the foregoing instrument is the seal of said 

Municipality, and that said instrument was signed and sealed on behalf of said Municipality by 

authority and resolution of its City Council, and said Mayor and City Clerk acknowledged said 

instrument to be the free act and deed of said Municipality by it voluntarily executed. 

       

 

      ___________________________________  

      Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 

 

50

Item 6.



 

Execution Version 

 36 

 

DEVELOPER: 

 

Stone and Terrace, L.L.C. 

 

 

By:   __________________________________ 

Brian Wingert, Authorized Representative 

 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA   ) 

                      )  SS  

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK ) 

 

On this _______ day of ________________, 2021, before me the undersigned, a Notary 

Public in and for said State, personally appeared Brian Wingert, to me personally known, who, 

being by me duly sworn, did say that he is the Authorized Representative of Stone and Terrace, 

L.L.C., and that said instrument was signed on behalf of said limited liability company; and that 

the said Brian Wingert as such officer, acknowledged the execution of said instrument to be the 

voluntary act and deed of said limited liability company, by him voluntarily executed. 

 

 

  ______________________________________ 

  Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa  

51

Item 6.



 

Execution Version 

 37 

EXHIBIT E 

DEVELOPER ANNUAL CERTIFICATION  

 (due before October 15st as required under terms of Development Agreement) 

The Developer certifies the following:  

A. During the time period covered by this Certification, the Developer is and was in compliance with Section 

6.7 as follows: 

(i) all ad valorem taxes on the Development Property then owned by the Developer in the Urban 

Renewal Area have been paid for the prior fiscal year (and for the current year, if due) and attached to this Annual 

Certification are proof of payment of said taxes; 

 

(ii) The Minimum Improvements (building only) were first fully assessed on January 1, 20___, at a 

full assessment value of $______________; 

 

(iii) The number of Full-Time Equivalent Employment Units employed at the Minimum Improvements 

as of October 1, 20___ and as of the first day of each of the preceding eleven (11) months were are follows: 

October 1, 20__: ______   April 1, 20__:_________ 

September 1, 20__:_________  March 1, 20__:_________ 

August 1, 20__:_________      February 1, 20___:________ 

July 1, 20__:_________   January 1, 20__:_______ 

June 1, 20__:_________   December 1, 20__:_______ 

May1, 20__: __________   November 1, 20__:_______ 

 

(iv) the undersigned officers of Developer have re-examined the terms and provisions of this 

Agreement and that at the date of such certificate, and during the preceding twelve (12) months, certify that the 

Developer is not, or was not, in default in the fulfillment of any of the terms and conditions of this Agreement and 

that no Event of Default (or event which, with the lapse of time or the giving of notice, or both, would become an 

Event of Default) is occurring or has occurred as of the date of such certificate or during such period, or if the signer 

is aware of any such default, event or Event of Default, said officer shall disclose in such statement the nature 

thereof, its period of existence and what action, if any, has been taken or is proposed to be taken with respect 

thereto. 

Signed this _________ day of _____________________, 20___. 

 

STONE AND TERRACE, L.L.C, 

By: ______________________________ 

  Brian Wingert  

ATTEST: 

By:   _____________________________ 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA   ) 

                      )  SS  

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK  ) 

 

On this _______ day of ________________, 2021, before me the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for said State, 

personally appeared Brian Wingert, to me personally known, who, being by me duly sworn, did say that he is the Authorized 

Representative of Stone and Terrace, L.L.C., and that said instrument was signed on behalf of said limited liability company; 

and that the said Brian Wingert here as such officer, acknowledged the execution of said instrument to be the voluntary act 

and deed of said limited liability company, by him voluntarily executed. 

  ______________________________________ 

      Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 

 

Attachments: (a) Proof of payment of taxes        

52

Item 6.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8606 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M Green and City Council 

 FROM: Chris Sevy, Planner I 

  Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager 

 DATE: February 25, 2020  

 SUBJECT: Zoning Code Text Amendment – Adaptive re-use of institutional buildings (TA20-
002) 

 

 
INTRODUCTION 
The owner of a vacant church building in an R-1 residential district has inquired about 
alternative uses and wants to operate an event space there for wedding receptions. The 
activity associated with that use may not be too different from that of a church and could be 
compatible with the neighborhood. However, in the R-1 and R-2 districts, principal uses are 
limited generally to residential dwellings and uses of a religious or civic nature.  And while the 
R-3 and R-4 zoning districts do allow a wider variety of uses, in some instances in order to 
preserve a large institutional building some flexibility in the standards may be needed. In the 
recent inquiry, the owner of the vacant church has only four options allowed by code: 1. Sit 
vacant; 2. Sell to another church; 3. Convert the use to a public or parochial school; or 4. 
Tear down and subdivide into residential lots. Staff is bringing this before the Planning and 
Zoning Commission to explore ways to provide more flexibility within the zoning ordinance for 
repurposing existing religious and civic buildings currently in R districts. 
 
STATEMENT OF THE PROBLEM 
When the decision is made that the use of a church or other civic building is no longer viable 
or desirable, the common consideration to close or tear down these buildings is often a tough 
reality for the owner and the patrons of those institutions. They are often buildings of 
historical or cultural significance worthy of preservation but also pose unique challenges 
because they are large buildings that sit on large parcels. They have plenty of potential but 
their location within a residential zone is usually the biggest hurdle keeping them from 
converting into another practical use. As such, providing flexibility within the zoning ordinance 
for economically viable alternatives to religious or civic uses may be appropriate to provide a 
path to repurpose these institutional facilities. 
 
DISCUSSION OF SOLUTIONS 
While exploring this issue, staff reached out to planners in Iowa City, Cedar Rapids, Des 
Moines, and Council Bluffs to find out how they have handled similar issues in their cities. 
While a number of these cities indicated that they have encountered similar inquiries about 

53

Item 7.



re-purposing obsolete institutional buildings, only two have pursued specific ordinance 
amendments to address these issues: Council Bluffs and Iowa City. Staff in Council Bluffs 
proposed amendments to allow alternative uses through a conditional use process, but these 
have yet to be adopted.  Iowa City allows repurposing of buildings of historical significance 
through a special exception process.  
 
If a use is conditionally allowed in a zoning district, this is known as a conditional use or 
special exception. According to Iowa Code 414.12(2), such matters are to be decided by a 
Board of Adjustment.  Some cities use the term “conditional use” and some use the term 
“special exception,” but the meaning is the same. In some ordinances, the term “special 
exception” is also used to refer to actions by the Board of Adjustment to allow adjustments to 
other requirements in a zoning ordinance, such as setbacks or height standards, when 
specifically enumerated in the code. While the Cedar Falls Board of Adjustment is 
empowered to hear special exception cases, there are few enumerated in the zoning 
ordinance. The ones most requested are from owners of property located in the Floodway 
Districts, where City’s floodplain ordinance establishes conditions under which improvements 
to properties may be approved through a special exception or variance process.    
 
A conditional use or special exception process allows requests to be carefully considered 
through a public hearing process. The basic premise is that uses listed as conditional or 
special exceptions, may or may not be appropriate for a particular location. It is up to the 
owner of the property to present convincing evidence at a public hearing to demonstrate how 
the proposed use would fit into the context of the surrounding neighborhood and meet the 
approval criteria.  Conditional uses or special exceptions are a standard element of zoning 
ordinances in Iowa. Many cities in Iowa, including cities of similar size to Cedar Falls 
(Marshalltown, Mason City, Bettendorf, Marion, and Urbandale) have conditional uses as part 
of their zoning ordinances. 
 
Conditional uses are an excellent tool because they provide flexibility and extra scrutiny for 
uses that may fit nicely into a neighborhood if certain conditions are met. They may be denied 
if the characteristics of a particular use are determined to be problematic for a particular 
location. Prior to any public hearing on a conditional use, surrounding property owners are to 
be notified, and notice published in the newspaper of record.  The Board of Adjustment would 
consider all the evidence presented at the hearing and render a decision to approve (with or 
without conditions) or deny the requested conditional use. 
 
Staff recommends establishing a conditional use process to consider requests for adaptive 
re-use of institutional buildings, particularly buildings of historic or cultural significance. Each 
conditional use application that qualifies would require review and a decision by the Board of 
Adjustment. After consideration, the Board may approve, deny, or approve the proposal with 
conditions. Surrounding property owners would be notified prior to the hearing and staff 
would review and provide analysis of the proposal at the meeting. Board of Adjustment 
meetings are considered quasi-judicial public hearings and therefore notice must be 
published prior to the meeting. Procedures established in State Code must be followed. 
 
Staff identified issues that we may want to consider in an ordinance amendment. These 
include the following: 

54

Item 7.



 Not all uses are compatible with residential neighborhoods. We may want to limit the 
alternative uses that can be considered; 

 Nuisance issues such as noise and traffic will be important to evaluate when 
considering alternative uses; 

 Allowing an opportunity for neighborhood input will be important in the review process; 

 Depending on the proposed use and the characteristics of the site, additional 
conditions may need to be imposed, such as additional requirements for or restrictions 
on parking, limits to hours of operation, restrictions on use of amplified sound, 
additional landscape screening and buffering to ensure compatibility with the 
neighborhood.  

 
Since not all uses would be compatible with residential living, the following is a list of potential 
alternative uses that staff has identified as appropriate for consideration: 

 Hospitality-oriented uses such as: retreat facilities, guesthouses, commercial meeting 
halls, and event facilities. 

 Conversion to a multi-unit dwelling where the proposed number of units may not 
otherwise be allowed. 

 Community service uses such as: libraries, museums, senior centers, community 
centers, neighborhood centers, day care facilities, youth club facilities, social service 
facilities, and vocational training facilities for the physically or mentally disabled. 

 Specialized educational facilities such as: music schools, dramatic schools, dance 
studios, martial arts studios, language schools, and short-term examination 
preparatory schools. 

 Professional office uses such as accountants, lawyers, and architects. 
 
Each case should be evaluated carefully with regard to aspects of the proposed use that 
might create a nuisance in the neighborhood. For example: 

 Are the proposed hours of operation compatible with the neighborhood context? 

 Will noise levels be at or below the levels produced by the previously permitted use or 
otherwise controlled in a manner that is compatible with residential living? 

 Will the traffic generated by the proposed use be similar or less than what was 
generated by the previously permitted use? 

 Will the proposed use draw similar or lower numbers of people to the site than the 
previously permitted use? Will it draw large groups converging for a singular event? 
Small groups? Constant stream of visitors?  

 Will the frequency of activity be similar or less intense than the previously permitted 
use? Will it be every day? Just weekends? 

 Does the proposed use require any updates to parking or landscaping to address 
issues of neighborhood compatibility or compliance with current zoning standards? 

 Is special consideration warranted in order to preserve a building or site of historical or 
cultural value? 

 What type of signage, if any, should be allowed? 

 Is there neighborhood support for the proposal? Have neighborhood concerns been 
adequately addressed?  

 

The questions above will help identify conditions that the Board of Adjustment may see fit to 
impose if the request is approved, or may be grounds for denial of the request 
 

55

Item 7.



EXAMPLES FROM OTHER CITIES 
During the Planning and Zoning Commission’s discussion of this proposal on August 26, 
2020, the Commission requested examples of code language from other cities. Staff talked 
with staff and/or reviewed codes from Dubuque, Cedar Rapids, Des Moines, Mason City, 
Iowa City, and Council Bluffs.  While few codes specifically address the issue of adaptive re-
use of institutional or civic buildings, many cities in Iowa allow conditional uses or special 
exceptions even if on a limited basis. The specific conditional use we are proposing is fairly 
unique, but as stated above we found a similar exception allowed in Iowa City to help 
preserve buildings of historic significance.  Here is the example from the Iowa City zoning 
code: 
 

2.   The Board of Adjustment may grant a special exception to allow a property designated as 
an Iowa City landmark or registered on the National Register of Historic Places to be adapted 
and reused as a community service use, specialized educational facility, or hospitality oriented 
retail use. In addition to the general special exception approval criteria listed in chapter 4, 
article B of this title, the applicant must also meet the following criteria in order for the board to 
grant this exception: 

a.   The exception will help preserve the historic, aesthetic, or cultural attributes of the 
property. 
b.   The applicant must obtain a certificate of appropriateness from 
the Historic Preservation Commission. 

 
In the Iowa City example above, note that for every special exception considered there are 
also general special exception approval criteria (not listed above) related to neighborhood 
compatibility that must be considered. Based on staff’s research, the general approval criteria 
in the Iowa City Code are similar to conditional use or special exception approval criteria 
found in numerous codes across Iowa. The following language from the Dubuque code is 
similar to general approval criteria found in codes from other Iowa cities.   
 

No conditional use permit shall be granted unless the board determines on the basis of 
specific information presented at the public meeting or contained in the application for 
such use that each of the following conditions has been satisfied: 

   A.   The proposed conditional use will comply with all applicable regulations of this 
title, including lot requirements, bulk regulations, use limitations, and all other 
standards or conditions contained in the provisions authorizing such use. 
   B.   Adequate utility, drainage and other necessary facilities or improvements have 
been or will be provided. 
   C.   Adequate access roads or entrances and exit drives will be provided and will be 
designed so as to prevent traffic hazards and to minimize traffic conflicts and 
congestion in public streets and alleys. 
   D.   The use shall not commence until applicant has provided written evidence that all 
necessary permits and licenses required for the operation of the conditional use have 
been obtained. 
   E.   All exterior lighting fixtures are shaded wherever necessary to avoid casting 
direct light upon any property located in a residential district. 
   F.   The location and size of the conditional use, the nature and intensity of the 
activities to be involved or conducted in connection with it, the size of the site in relation 
thereto, and the location of the site with respect to streets giving access to 
the conditional use, shall be such that it will be in harmony with the appropriate and 
orderly development of the district and neighborhood in which it is located. 

56

Item 7.



   G.   The location, nature and height of buildings, structures, walls, and fences on the 
site and the nature and extent of landscaping and screening on the site shall be such 
that the use will not reasonably hinder or discourage the appropriate 
development, use and enjoyment of the adjacent land, buildings and structures. 
   H.   The proposed conditional use will not cause substantial injury to the value of 
other property in the neighborhood in which it is located and will contribute to and 
promote the convenience and welfare of the public.  

 
For the specific purpose of allowing for adaptive re-use of institutional buildings, staff’s 
recommended language is crafted to specifically address issues that might arise with 
adaptive reuse of such buildings, but the principles of neighborhood compatibility and 
consideration of the specific characteristics of the proposal are similar to other conditional 
use processes followed by other cities. 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
To provide more flexibility to re-purpose defunct institutional uses within residential 
neighborhoods, staff recommends adding a conditional use process to the zoning ordinance 
whereby each case can be considered by the Board of Adjustment on its own merits and any 
neighborhood concerns addressed. At their August 26th meeting the Planning and Zoning 
Commission discussed the proposed zoning code text amendments. After further discussion 
at their October 28th meeting, the Planning and Zoning Commission recommended approval 
on a vote of 8-0.  
 
Staff provided a presentation of the proposed ordinance amendments at the Committee of 
the Whole meeting on December 7th.  Staff also met with the Board of Adjustment on January 
7th to introduce the ordinance and get feedback. The minutes of that meeting are also 
included below.  
 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 

Discussion 
8/26/2020 

Chair Holst introduced the item and Mr. Sevy provided background information. 
He discussed a case where a church has sat vacant with few options for allowed 
land uses, including continuing to sit vacant, sell to another church, convert to a 
public or parochial school or tear it down and subdivide it into residential lots. 
The owner was hoping to use the property to host wedding receptions, however 
without a religious institution it would not be allowed. He discussed research that 
has been done to review codes in other cities to consider different approaches. It 
is proposed to craft an amendment that provides alternatives that would be 
subject to review and approval by staff, the Commission and City Council. Mr. 
Sevy discussed the critical issues for consideration, including compatibility with 
residential neighborhoods, nuisance issues such as noise and traffic, allowing 
neighborhood input and any additional conditions that may need to be imposed. 
He identified appropriate alternative uses for consideration, including: hospitality-
oriented uses, conversion to a multi-unit dwelling, community services, 
specialized educational facilities and professional offices. Mr. Sevy also 
discussed factors to consider in the neighborhood context. Staff recommends 
adding a conditional use process to the zoning ordinance, review and discussion 
of the proposal and setting a date for public hearing at the September 9 meeting. 
 
Ms. Saul felt that a lot of thought was put into the item and that it would be 

57

Item 7.



beneficial. Mr. Holst also feels it is a good idea and clarified that it will be 
considered for all districts. Mr. Schrad asked if the tax base would change. Ms. 
Houk Sheetz clarified that it could, depending on the proposed use. Ms. Prideaux 
also feels it would be a good idea and would like to see the wording in other 
communities. Ms. Prideaux asked about the historical aspects of the building and 
whether that would be considered. Mr. Leeper likes the flexibility that this would 
give the commission. 
 
Ms. Saul made a motion to approve the recommendation to set a date for public 
hearing. Mr. Leeper seconded the motion. The motion was approved 
unanimously with 8 ayes (Hartley, Holst, Larson, Leeper, Lynch, Prideaux, Saul 
and Schrad), and 0 nays. 

Discussion 
and Vote 
10/28/2020 

Chair Holst introduced the item and Mr. Sevy provided background information. 
He explained that a recent inquiry regarding an empty church and the options for 
reusing the building was brought to staff. Currently, the options include sitting 
vacant, selling to another church, converting the use to a public or parochial 
school or tear down the building and subdivide it into residential lots. However, 
many alternative uses which may be considered to be appropriate are currently 
prohibited by Code. Research was done to get information on how other 
communities handle the re-use of these buildings and it was decided that a 
conditional use permitting process would be the most appropriate process to 
consider these requests. There are critical issues to consider, such as 
compatibility with residential neighborhoods, nuisance issues such as noise and 
traffic, allowance of neighborhood input and additional conditions depending on 
the proposed use and characteristics of the site. Appropriate alternative uses to 
qualify for consideration include hospitality-oriented uses, conversion to a multi-
family unit dwelling, community services, specialized educational facilities or 
professional offices. He noted that according to Iowa Code the Board of 
Adjustment is the appropriate body to hear these requests, which was confirmed 
by the City Attorney. 
 
Mr. Sevy also discussed factors to consider in the neighborhood context. Each 
case should be considered on its own merits, because every location is different. 
Considerations must be given to hours of operation, noise and traffic, number of 
patrons, frequency of activity, required site updates for compatibility or 
compliance, historical or cultural value of the site, allowed signage and 
neighborhood concerns. He discussed the Code language in some detail and 
noted some examples from other cities with regard to conditional use standards 
and processes. Staff recommends approval of the item. 
 
Ms. Saul made a motion to approve the item. Mr. Leeper seconded the motion. 
Mr. Holst stated that he likes that the proposal brings the requests before the 
Board of Adjustment for approval and that he likes the way the process is 
structured and that each case is considered on its own merits and is not 
precedent setting. Ms. Saul noted that she likes the idea offering these options 
for these types of processes and ensuring that it fits into the neighborhood. Mr. 
Holst also stated that he likes that the neighborhood concerns are taken into 
account. Mr. Larson asked what the staff review process is like for this type of 

58

Item 7.



case. Mr. Sevy outlined that process and noted it would be similar to how other 
land use cases are handled. Howard described the Board of Adjustment meeting 
process and their particular purview. 
 
The motion was approved unanimously with 8 ayes (Hartley, Holst, Larson, 
Leeper, Lynch, Prideaux, Saul and Schrad), and 0 nays 

 
CITY COUNCIL 

Committee 
of the 
Whole 
Discussion 
12/7/2020 

Mayor Green introduced the final item on the agenda Zoning Code Amendment: 
Adaptive Re-Use of Institutional Buildings in Residential Zone. Chris Sevy 
Planner I stated they received a request from an owner of a vacant church 
building in an R-1 residential district has inquired about alternative uses and 
wants to operate an event space there for wedding receptions. He stated 
currently the activity associated with that use may not be too different from that 
of a church and could be compatible with the neighborhood; however the zoning 
ordinance leaves few options for adaptively re-using existing vacant institutional 
buildings within residential districts. He stated to provide more flexibility to re-
purpose defunct institutional buildings within residential neighborhoods, staff 
recommends adding a conditional use process where the Board of Adjustment 
would consider requests to adaptively re-use the buildings for specific other 
listed uses. Each case can be considered on its own merits at a public hearing 
where neighborhood concerns could be heard and the Board could deny, 
approve with conditions, or approve the proposal. Mr. Sevy stated the Planning 
and Zoning Commission discussed the proposed zoning code amendments at 
their August 26th and after further discussion at their October 28th meeting, the 
Planning and Zoning Commission recommended approval. Mayor Green opened 
it up for discussion from Council. Ms. Howard answered questions with regards 
to the distinction between a conditional use process and spot zoning, she stated 
the Board of Adjustment would consider these requests at a public hearing 
where any concerns could be addressed. 

 
BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 

Discussion 
1/7/2021 

Ms. Lang presented the next item for discussion by the Board, a conditional use 
process to allow the repurposing of obsolete institutional buildings. Ms. Howard 
first spoke about the conditional use process, explaining that Iowa Code 
empowers the Board to hear appeals, special exceptions and variances. Some 
cities establish conditional uses in their zoning ordinances as a kind of special 
exception. Conditional uses are considered to be uses that might fit into a certain 
zoning district if certain approval criteria are met. They essentially provided 
additional flexibility in a zoning ordinance to allow a broader range of land uses. 
Careful scrutiny by the Board through a public hearing process is required. 
Currently the City does not have conditional uses in the zoning ordinance, and 
because of a recent request regarding the repurposing an old church building, it 
may be useful to add to the ordinance. 
 
To allow conditional uses, they must be established in the zoning ordinance and 
they will need to include specific approval criteria that must be met for approval. 
The burden of proof is on the applicant to show how the criteria are being met, 

59

Item 7.



and the Board may approve, approve with conditions or deny the request. If the 
Board determines that one or more of the criteria cannot be met, the request 
must be denied. The Board has the power to impose any conditions that they 
determine will ensure the conditional use will fit into the context of the specific 
location and meet all the approval criteria. 
 
Each case would be considered on their own merits and surrounding property 
owners will be notified and provided an opportunity to be heard. As each case is 
unique, granting a conditional use should not be considered a precedent for 
granting the conditional use in future cases. Denial does not take away anyone’s 
rights, but grants a special right to use the property according to conditions 
imposed by the Board. 
 
Ms. Weeg asked if applicants will be made aware that the conditional uses are 
not a “right” and are not guaranteed. Ms. Howard noted that it will be explained 
to applicants, it’s simply something that may be requested and evaluated for 
approval. 
 
Ms. Howard discussed findings of fact, noting that it is important in these cases 
for the Board to state their findings of fact for each of the approval criteria. She 
provided examples of such findings and explained that there could be potential 
consequences if the Board does not give good findings. Ms. Weeg asked if the 
conditions could be enforced and Ms. Howard stated that their approval could be 
withdrawn if the conditions are not met. Ms. Weeg asked for more clarification on 
what it means that there could be consequences if the Board does not give good 
findings. Ms. Howard explained that it’s up to the Board to ensure that whoever 
is coming for consideration meets the criteria and that decisions aren’t made 
arbitrarily, for instance due to sympathy for the applicant. Therefore good 
findings are imperative and should be addressed at the meeting. Ms. Howard 
also noted that the Board is allowed to ask probing questions as needed to reach 
those findings. Ms. Weeg asked what would happen if the Board were to be sued 
and Ms. Howard explained that it is likely the City would provide legal 
representation for the Board as a whole. Ms. Weeg asked about the time 
allotment for reaching their findings and whether the item can be discussed and 
continued to another meeting. Ms. Howard explained that if the Board feels they 
need extra time to consider an item, they can vote to continue the hearing to a 
future meeting. Mr. Weintraut noted that typically staff tries to think ahead to the 
questions that the Board may have to provide additional information to the Board 
to help in their decision. 
 
Mr. Sevy spoke about consideration of adaptive re-use of vacant institutional 
facilities to give an example of a potential conditional use case to give some 
context to the discussion. He gave an example of a case regarding a vacant 
church building and explained that the current options for such a building include: 
sit vacant, sell to another church, convert the use to a public or parochial school 
or tear down and subdivide into residential lots. Many alternative uses which may 
be appropriate are currently prohibited by code. He noted that institutional 
facilities are properties with unique characteristics. They are large buildings on 

60

Item 7.



large parcels and often have some historical or cultural value, so it seems 
appropriate to cautiously provide flexibility of use while considering neighborhood 
context. 
 
Mr. Sevy did some research and discussed the issue with other planners across 
Iowa and reviewed codes considered and adopted by other cities. Different 
approaches were considered and an approach was settled upon that fits into the 
context of our municipal code. This will not guarantee that a use will be allowed 
but it will allow for consideration that was previously not afforded. 
 
Ms. Weeg asked for more clarification of what is being decided regarding the 
conditional uses. Ms. Howard clarified that it is being added to the ordinance as 
an amendment to allow for a potential conditional uses but that it will not be 
considered as a use that is permitted by right. It will just open it up for potentially 
allowing other uses than what are currently appropriate on a case-by-case basis. 
 
Mr. Sevy discussed the critical issues to be considered, noting that not all uses 
will be compatible with residential neighborhoods. Nuisance issues such as 
noise and traffic will be important when evaluating potential alternative uses. 
Neighborhood input will be important during the review process as well. 
Additional conditions may need to be imposed depending on the proposed use 
and characteristics of the site. Staff has identified appropriate alternative uses to 
qualify for consideration, which include:  

 Hospitality-oriented uses (i.e. retreat facilities, guest houses, commercial 
meeting halls, event facilities, etc.) 

 Conversion to multi-unit dwelling  

 Community services (i.e. libraries, museums, senior centers, community 
centers, neighborhood centers, youth club facilities, vocational training facilities, 
etc.)  

 Specialized educational facilities (i.e. dance studios, language schools, etc.)  

 Professional offices (i.e. accountants, lawyers, architects, etc.) 
 
Mr. Sevy discussed factors that need to be considered in the neighborhood 
context, which include: hours of operation, noise and traffic, number of patrons, 
frequency of activity, required site updates for compatibility or compliance, 
historical or cultural value of site, allowed signage and neighborhood concerns. 
He discussed the language that is proposed to add to the zoning ordinance, 
which utilizes the Board of Adjustment decision-making for conditional uses. The 
burden of proof will fall upon the applicant, other cases will have no bearing on 
special exceptions for other properties, and all regulations of the base zones still 
apply. Ms. Rasmussen asked about cases where the ordinance for a particular 
zone may have been different at 4 the time the building was built and how that 
would be handled with regard to what the ordinance says today. Ms. Howard 
explained that it would be grandfathered in as it was at the time it was built. 
 
Mr. Sevy then discussed the recommendations by staff and how it would read in 
the amendment. He provided a list of the qualifying uses for consideration. Ms. 
Weeg asked about non-profit agencies, such as an administrative center for 

61

Item 7.



homeless people that was not discussed as another potential community 
services. She asked if that would fall within category. Mr. Sevy stated that they 
left that somewhat open ended so that it would be allowable. Ms. Weeg asked if 
a homeless shelter would be considered as a multi-family dwelling. Ms. Howard 
stated that it would not fall into the residential use category, but temporary 
lodging. Ms. Weeg asked if homeless shelters are included in the Cedar Falls 
ordinances and how they are considered. It is of specific interest to her and she 
would like to know what covers shelters and what is allowed. Ms. Howard noted 
that City Council had concerns with the list of uses and whether it is too broadly 
drawn. Staff needs to be somewhat specific so that the uses don’t end up being 
spot zoning and Mr. Sevy again clarified that this amendment only allows the 
right to bring the request to the Board, but does not guarantee that it will be 
allowed. 
 
The Board agreed that this is a good amendment. 

 
 
Attachments:  Proposed Ordinance 
 

  

 

62

Item 7.



Prepared by: Chris Sevy, Planner I, City of Cedar Falls, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 (319) 273-8600 

 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2987 
 

AN ORDINANCE ADDING AN UNTITLED SUBPARAGRAPH G. TO 
PARAGRAPH (1), PRINCIPAL PERMITTED USES, OF SECTION 26-164, R-1 
RESIDENCE DISTRICT, OF DIVISION 2, SPECIFIC DISTRICTS, OF 
ARTICLE III, DISTRICTS AND DISTRICT REGULATIONS, OF CHAPTER 26, 
ZONING, AND ADDING A NEW SECTION 26-140, CONDITIONAL USES, TO 
DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, OF ARTICLE III, DISTRICTS AND DISTRICT 
REGULATIONS, OF CHAPTER 26, ZONING, OF THE CODE OF 
ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA  

 
WHEREAS, defunct church and civic buildings within residential zones have few alternative use options 

available in the zoning code; and 
 
WHEREAS, these are often buildings of historical or cultural significance worthy of preservation which pose 

unique challenges because they are large buildings that sit on large parcels; and 
 
WHEREAS, it is common practice for cities to grant conditional uses or special exceptions on a case by 

case basis, the framework for which is set forth in the proposed amendment, and  
 
WHEREAS, the proposed amendment provides use flexibility to owners of these buildings without the risk 

of granting a broad list of land use categories by right, and  
 
WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission has reviewed the proposed ordinance under Case # 

TA20-002and recommends approval; and now, therefore:  
 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, THAT: 
 

Section 1.  Paragraph (1), Principal Permitted Uses, of Section 26-164, R-1 Residence District, of Division 

2, Specific Districts, of Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of 

Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby amended to add an untitled subparagraph g., as 

follows:  

 
g. Conditional uses as provided for in Section 26-140 

 
Section 2.  Division 1, Generally, of Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter 26, Zoning, of 

the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby amended to add a new Section 26-140 

(previously reserved), titled Conditional Uses, as follows:  

 
Sec. 26-140. Conditional uses 

 
(a) Generally. The board of adjustment is empowered to hear and decide applications for 

conditional uses in certain circumstances specifically enumerated within this section. To 
ensure that the spirit of the ordinance is observed, no conditional use shall be granted by 
the board unless the applicant demonstrates that all of the approval criteria are met for the 
conditional use requested.  

(b) Burden of proof. The applicant bears the burden of proof and must support each of the 
approval criteria by a preponderance of the evidence.  

 
(c) Precedents. The granting of a special exception is not grounds for granting other special 

exceptions for the same or different properties. 

63

Item 7.



(d) Other applicable regulations. In addition to the approval criteria listed in this section, all 
conditional uses are required to meet the regulations of the base zone and any overlay 
district in which they are located and all other applicable regulations of this chapter, except 
as may be specifically modified by the board for the specific conditional use requested. If a 
property is located in a floodway or floodplain overlay district, the floodplain regulations 
apply in all cases. Approval of a conditional use permit is not intended to substitute for 
other permits required under local, state, or federal laws or regulations.  

(e) Specific conditional uses enumerated. The following conditional uses are permitted only 
after approval from the board of adjustment, subject to the restrictions and the approval 
criteria listed for each specific use listed below and any conditions imposed by the board of 
adjustment after consideration at a public hearing as set forth in the Board’s rules of 
procedure and according to the Iowa Code.   

(1) Adaptive re-use of defunct institutional buildings or buildings or properties of 
significant historical or cultural value. According to the provisions set forth in this 
subsection, the board of adjustment may grant a conditional use permit to allow the 
adaptive re-use of a building or property of historic or cultural value or a defunct 
institutional facility, such as a church or civic building, when such building or 
property is located in a district where such adaptive use would not otherwise be 
permitted. The board of adjustment may deny the use or aspects of the use that are 
deemed out of scale, incompatible, or out of character with the surrounding 
neighborhood, or may require additional measures to mitigate these differences.  
Additional conditions may include, but are not limited to, additional screening, 
landscaping, parking, pedestrian facilities, setbacks, limitations on hours or days of 
operation, occupancy limits, limitations on outdoor or accessory uses, and 
restrictions on use of amplified sound, exterior lighting, or signage. The following 
provisions, regulations, and restrictions shall apply: 
a. Qualifying uses. Only the following uses qualify for consideration under this 

subsection: 
1. Hospitality-oriented uses such as: retreat facilities, convention centers, 

guesthouses, meeting halls, and event facilities; 
2. Conversion to a multi-unit dwelling in a zone where such use is not 

otherwise allowed or where the proposed number of units exceeds the 
number otherwise allowed in the zone; 

3. Community service uses such as: libraries, museums, senior centers, 
community centers, neighborhood centers, day care facilities, youth club 
facilities, social service facilities, and vocational training facilities for the 
physically or mentally disabled; 

4. Specialized educational facilities such as: music schools, dramatic schools, 
dance studios, martial arts studios, language schools, and short-term 
examination preparatory schools; 

5. Professional office uses such as: accountants, lawyers, architects, or 
similar. 

b. Criteria for approval. In order to grant a conditional use, the board of adjustment 
must find that the proposal meets the following approval criteria or will meet the 
criteria if certain conditions are applied: 
1. The anticipated characteristics of the proposed use, including but not limited 

to hours of operation, noise levels, lighting, traffic generation, signage, 
number of patrons/visitors/residents, and frequency, level, and type of 
activity will be compatible with the neighborhood; 

2. The proposed use will not be detrimental to or endanger the public health, 
safety, comfort or general welfare; 

3. The proposed use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other 
property in the immediate vicinity; 

64

Item 7.



4. Establishment of the proposed use will not impede the normal and orderly 
development and improvement of the surrounding property for uses 
permitted in the district in which the property is located; 

5. Adequate utilities, access roads, parking, drainage and/or other necessary 
facilities are or will be provided; 

6. Adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress or egress 
designed to minimize traffic congestion on public streets; 

7. In the case of a building or property of historic or cultural significance, the 
proposal will preserve the significant historic, aesthetic, and/or cultural 
attributes of the property. 

8. The specific proposed use, in all other respects, conforms to the applicable 
regulations of the zone in which it is located.  

c. Required submittals. The applicant must demonstrate how the proposal meets 
the criteria for approval. The following is the minimum necessary 
documentation that the applicant must furnish: 
1. A description of the previous use to the extent known, including but not 

limited to: site layout, number of existing parking spaces, traffic generation, 
hours/days of operation, number of patrons, visitors, and/or residents (as 
applicable), and frequency and level of both indoor and outdoor activity; 

2. A detailed description of the proposed use including, but not limited to: any 
proposed changes to the site layout,  anticipated traffic generation, 
proposed hours of operation, projected number of patrons or visitors(as 
applicable), frequency and type of activity (both indoor and outdoor), any 
new outdoor lighting proposed, proposed signage, residential density (if 
applicable), number of off-street parking spaces, anticipated parking 
demand, anticipated outdoor activities, and any proposed use of amplified 
sound. 

3. A site plan showing all proposed changes including site removals and 
improvements to accommodate the proposed use. 

4. A list of owners of record of all parcels located within 300 feet of the parcel 
and their addresses. 

5. Any further information or materials that will help demonstrate compliance 
with the criteria for approval listed above. 

 
INTRODUCED:    March 1, 2021    

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:  March 1, 2021    

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:  March 15, 2021   

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:      

ADOPTED:         

 
____________________________ 

       Robert M. Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  
 

65

Item 7.



RESOLUTION NO. __________ 
 

RESOLUTION EXTENDING A FACE MASK MANDATE FOR THE 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 
 WHEREAS, we, the elected representatives of the City of Cedar Falls, took an oath to 
uphold and defend the Constitution of the United States and the Constitution of the State of Iowa, 
and  
 

WHEREAS, the emergence of the novel coronavirus, SARS-CoV-2, that causes the 
disease COVID-19, can result in serious illness or death and can easily be spread from person to 
person, and 

 
 WHEREAS, on January 31, 2020, the United States Department of Health and Human 
Services declared a national public health emergency related to the dangers posed by COVID-19, 
and  
 

WHEREAS, on March 9, 2020, the Governor of the State of Iowa, Kim Reynolds, signed a 
proclamation of disaster emergency for the entire State of Iowa based on the increasing numbers 
in the State of Iowa testing positive for COVID-19, and 

  
WHEREAS, on March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the COVID-19 

outbreak to be a worldwide pandemic, and  
 
WHEREAS, on March 13, 2020, the President of the United States signed an emergency 

declaration under the Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency Assistance Act authorizing 
emergency response measures in all fifty states in response to COVID-19, and  

 
WHEREAS, the most current local data relating to COVID-19 as provided by the Iowa 

Department of Public Health (“IDPH”) and the Black Hawk County Department of Public Health 
(“BHCDPH”) show that the State of Iowa and Black Hawk County continue to experience significant 
community spread of this disease, and  

 
WHEREAS, the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa has a compelling interest to protect the lives of its 

residents, and  
 
WHEREAS, Article III, Section 38A of the Iowa Constitution grants municipalities the power 

to determine their local affairs and government not inconsistent with the laws of the general 
assembly, and  

 
WHEREAS, Chapter 364 of the Iowa Code reaffirms the constitutional grant of home rule 

authority to municipalities “to exercise any power and perform any function it deems appropriate to 
protect and preserve the rights, privileges, and property of the city of its residents, and to preserve 
and improve the peace, safety, health, welfare, comfort and convenience of its residents”, and  

 
WHEREAS, a city “may exercise its general powers subject only to limitations expressly 

imposed by state or city law,” and the exercise of a city power “is not inconsistent with a state law 
unless it is irreconcilable with the state law.” Iowa Code section 364.2(2) and (3), and  

 
WHEREAS, a city may set standards and requirements which are higher or “more stringent 

than those imposed by state law, unless a state law provides otherwise.” Iowa Code Section 
364.3(3)(a); City of Des Moines v. Gruen, 457 N.W.2d 340, 343 (Iowa 1990); Bryan v. City of Des 
Moines, 261 N.W.2d 685, 687 (Iowa 1978), and 

66

Item 8.



 
WHEREAS, the Center of Disease Control (“CDC”), the IDPH, and BHCDPH, have all 

determined and encouraged that face coverings are an critical tool in the fight against COVID-19 
that could reduce the spread of the virus particularly when used universally within a community, 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the Governor’s current proclamation requires that businesses and gatherings 

ensure social distancing of employees, customers, and attendees, increased hygiene practices, 
and other public health measures to reduce the risk of transmission of COVID-19 consistent with 
the guidance of the IDPH, and  

 
WHEREAS, the Governor’s current proclamation additionally requires the wearing of masks 

or face coverings in certain circumstances; and 
 
WHEREAS, the IDPH’s reopening guidance advises that members of the public consider 

the use of cloth face coverings when distancing is not possible because wearing a face covering in 
public places where social distancing measures are difficult can help slow the spread of COVID-19, 
and  

 
WHEREAS, a requirement that persons in the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa wear face 

coverings is essential to reducing the risk of transmission of COVID-19, and necessary to protect 
the health, welfare, and safety of residents and visitors and to accelerate local recovery efforts, and  

 
WHEREAS, a requirement that persons wear a face covering is generally not irreconcilable 

with the Governor’s proclamations and the guidance of the Iowa Department of Public Health, and  
 
WHEREAS, this resolution is not meant to be stigmatizing or punitive and is in the best 

interest of the health, welfare, and safety, and economic recovery of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
and its residents. 

 
NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, as 

follows: 
 
Section 1. Every person in the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa must wear a face covering when:  

a) In public, as opposed to one’s place of residence, when one cannot stay six (6) 
feet apart from others.  

b) Inside any indoor public settings, including but not limited to:  
1. Grocery stores  
2. Pharmacies  
3. Hardware stores  
4. Retail stores  
5. Other public settings that are not one’s place of residence and when among 

people who do not live in the same household  
6. City buildings  

c) Outside if maintaining a distance of six (6) feet apart is not possible  
d) Using public transportation or private car services (including taxis, ride share, or 

carpooling) 
  

Section 2. No business that is open to the public may provide service to a customer or allow 
a customer to enter its premises, unless the customer is wearing a face covering as required by 
this resolution, and businesses that are open to the public must post signs at entrance(s) 
instructing customers of their obligations to wear a face covering while inside.  

 

67

Item 8.



Section 3. Those who are exempt from wearing a face covering are:  
a) Persons younger than 5 years of age.  
b) Anyone who has trouble breathing, on oxygen therapy, or ventilator.  
c) Anyone who is unconscious, incapacitated, or otherwise unable to remove their 

face covering without assistance.  
d) Anyone who has been told by a medical, legal, or behavioral health professional 

not to wear face coverings.  
e) Anyone actively engaged in a public safety role, including but not limited to law 

enforcement, firefighters, or emergency medical personnel. 
 

Section 4. Places and times where persons are exempt from wearing a face covering:  
a) While traveling in a personal vehicle alone or with only household members.  
b) While a person is alone or with only household members.  
c) While exercising at moderate or high intensity e.g. swimming, jogging, biking. 
d) While seated at a food establishment in the process of eating or drinking.  
e) While obtaining a service that would require temporary removal of the person’s face 

covering.  
f) When federal or state law prohibits wearing a face covering or requires the removal 

of a face covering.  
 

Section 5. If a cloth face covering is chosen, appropriate use of a cloth face covering 
includes:  

a) A snug fit, but comfortable against the side of the face.  
b) Completely covers the nose and mouth.  
c) Is secured with ties or ear loops.  
d) Includes multiple layers of fabric.  
e) Allows for breathing without restriction.  
f) Can be laundered and machine dried without damage or change in shape.  

 
Section 6. This resolution shall be effective immediately upon signing by the Mayor and 

expires at 11:59 PM on the 19th day of May, 2021. Upon its effective date this resolution replaces 
and supersedes Resolution #22,097 dated September 8, 2020, and extended by Resolution 
#22,140 dated October 19, 2020, Resolution #22,193 dated December 7, 2020, Resolution 
#22,227 dated January 19, 2021, and Resolution #22,272 dated March 1, 2021.  Prior to the 
expiration of this resolution, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa may extend the 
mandate by adopting a new resolution. 

 
Section 7.  If any provision of this resolution is in irreconcilable conflict with a specific 

directive in the Governor’s proclamation then in effect as it pertains to the wearing of a mask or 
face covering, the Governor’s proclamation shall prevail.    

 
Section 8. If any section, provision, or part of this resolution is adjudged invalid or 

unconstitutional, such adjudication shall not affect the validity of the resolution as a whole or any 
section, provision, or part of this resolution not adjudged invalid or unconstitutional. 

 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED this 5th day of April, 2021. 
 
        
        ___________________________ 
ATTEST:        Robert M. Green, Mayor 
 
________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

68

Item 8.



 MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN  
  
 CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA   
 220 CLAY STREET 
 CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 PHONE 319-273-8600 
 FAX 319-268-5126 

 www.cedarfalls.com 
 
 

 TO: City Council 

 FROM: Mayor Robert M. Green 

 DATE: March 30, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Mayor’s Monthly Report for March 2021 

 REF: (a) Code of Ordinances, City of Cedar Falls §2-187(c): Mayor Powers and Duties 

  (b) FY2021 Cedar Falls City Council Goals and Objectives  

 

1. Introduction. In response to the City Council’s expressed desire in references (a) and (b) for 

“Mayor’s Updates” separate from the Departmental Monthly Reports,  I will provide a written 

report of activities at the first meeting of each month in 2021. 

2. Cedar Valley Coalition Virtual Trip. On March 11th, community leaders from across the 

Cedar Valley presented federal appropriations requests to our U.S. congressional delegation. 

While less relational than in-person, it was still deemed a productive and successful visit.  

3. Kosovo Trip Likely Postponed. Last week I learned that the State of Kosovo is restricting 

travel again due to a resurgence of COVID-19 cases across Europe.  So the trip planned by the 

Consulate of Kosovo for May will likely be postponed to at least September.  Cultural Programs 

Supervisor Heather Skeens will plan on making that September trip if the travel restrictions lift.  

4. Racial Equity Task Force. On March 29, the Executive Committee provided me with names of 

prospective members, and asked that I call them as the recruiter.  I will be doing this during the 

first days of April, so that the full Task Force can begin its work ASAP. 

5. Human Rights Commission Member Selection. The Selection Panel has narrowed the list of 

candidates and will very soon be providing me with their list of pre-finalists for me to consider.   

My goal is to have both nominees to you for the April 19th Council meeting. 

6. City Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan (EOP) Update. This important reference 

needs updating (the last revision was in 2015), so I will be working with staff over the next few 

months to make necessary changes & ensure that it aligns with federal/state standards. I 

anticipate Council consideration for approval in September I will keep you posted on progress as 

needed. I also anticipate that our new county EMA coordinator will present to Committee of the 

Whole on the fundamentals of the Incident Command System later this calendar year. 

Xc: City Clerk 

       City Administrator 

### 69

Item 9.



 MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN  
  
 CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA   
 220 CLAY STREET 
 CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 PHONE 319-273-8600 
 FAX 319-268-5126 

 www.cedarfalls.com 
 
 

 TO: City Council 

 FROM: Mayor Robert M. Green 

 DATE: March 31, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Reappointment of Mr. John Clopton as Civil Service Commissioner 

 REF: (a) Code of Ordinances, City of Cedar Falls §2-306: Civil Service Commission 

 

1. In accordance with reference (a), I hereby nominate Mr. John Clopton for reappointment to 

the Civil Service Commission for a four-year term ending on 4/7/2025.  

 

2. Mr. Clopton has ably served as a Civil Service Commissioner since July of 2012, and is 

currently the Chair of the commission. He exemplifies the critical thinking, sound judgment, 

and independence needed for effective service on the Civil Service Commission. 

 

Xc:   City Administrator 

  Director, Finance and Business Operations 

  Staff Liaison 

  

### 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

70

Item 10.



71

Item 11.



COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 
City Hall – Council Chambers  

March 15, 2021 
 

The Committee of the Whole met at City Hall at 5:10 p.m. on March 15, 2021, with the 
following Committee persons in attendance:  Mayor Robert M. Green, Frank Darrah, 
Susan deBuhr, Kelly Dunn (via video conference), Simon Harding, Daryl Kruse, Mark 
Miller, and Dave Sires.  Staff members attended from all City Departments.  Mark 
Perington and Wade Greiman from Snyder and Associates attended, as well as 
members of the community attended or teleconferenced in.   

Mayor Green called the meeting to order and introduced the first item on the agenda, 
Mayor and City Administrator Ordinance Updates.  Kevin Rogers City Attorney reviewed 
the proposed ordinance changes from the previous council work sessions.  A draft 
ordinance was included in the Committee of the Whole packet.   He explained the 
changes are in accordance with Iowa State code, some provide clarification and some 
are to incorporate what the City’s actual practice is.  Mr. Rogers first reviewed the 
changes to the Mayor duties.  Mayor Green opened it up for discussion from Council.  
Councilmembers discussed the various ordinance changes, and agreed to include 
previously deleted duties in the following sections: Sec. 2-187(a) add back language 
“enforce all regulations and ordinances”; and add back Sec. 2-187(b) (7), “The mayor 
shall make reports to the city council”.  Mayor Green stated he will act as the 
ombudsman, which is added in Sec. 2-187(b) (9). He stated he will field all complaints 
from city employees as well as those from residents.  Mr. Rogers stated he would 
review if the Mayor’s appointment of Mayor Pro Tem, which is currently received and 
filed by the Council.  He doesn’t think they have the right to vote the appointment down 
like they could the appointment of the Police or Fire Chief.    

Mr. Rogers continued with the review of the changes to the City Administrator duties.  
Through Council discussion Sec. 2-217 shall be retained, but will track the language of 
2-187(b) (1) as it relates to performance evaluation of the city administrator.  Through 
discussion Mr. Rogers stated he would add a time frame to Sec. 2-223 for the 
appointment of acting city administrator.  He said he would look to a personnel policy to 
remain consistent with other acting positions.  Council also thought in the case the city 
administrator inability to appoint, the mayor should be able to appoint.       

There being no more discussion Mayor Green introduced the second item on the 
agenda, Main Street Traffic Study. Chase Schrage Director of Public Works stated 
tonight we will review the questions from the 2/1/2021 Main Street Traffic Study 
discussion.  He introduced Mark Perington and Wade Greiman from Snyder and 
Associates.  Mr. Perington reviewed the recommendations for a three-lane roadway 
with on street bike lanes, with three roundabouts at 12th, 18th and Seerley.  He 
explained the safety benefits of roundabouts which include reducing overall crash rates 
by 25%.  Mr. Perington reviewed the possibility for a roundabout at 6th Street 
intersection.  He said as you can see from the diagram the sidewalk will be right up 
against the fuel pumps of the convenience store, which will not allow a roundabout at 
this intersection.  He reviewed the safety benefits of a three-lane roadway compared to 
a four-lane.  These benefits include cash reduction, speed consistency, and reduced 

72

Item 12.



pedestrian crossing conflict.   He stated the three-lane will serve the vehicle volume 
demand for the roadway and a dual lane roundabout will cost more with more right of 
way needed.  He stated that Main Street is identified for planned dedicated bike lanes.  
He explained side paths could be an option to separate the bikes form vehicles, this 
would also allow for a wider range of riders.  He reviewed the transition of a bike in a 
roundabout.   

Mr. Greiman reviewed each alternative and their estimated cost.  He said the 
replacement of the corridor as-is with a four-lane with signals is estimated at $5.84 
million, and each alternative was compared, showing how much the cost is over or 
under the as-is four-lane option.  He explained the pricing does not include the costs for 
utility replacement which is estimated at $4 million.  Mr. Greiman stated the City has two 
Surface Transportation Block Grants to help with funding the project, totaling $2.9 
million.  He stated there are many tree conflicts along the corridor, which tree 
replacement could be factored in.  Mr. Perington reviewed the public input key points.  
He stated the report was forwarded to Council.  He reminded the Council the public 
input meetings were at the same time as University Avenue reconstruction, and now 
there is a better acceptance of roundabouts and drivers are better at navigating them.  
He stated the staff recommendation is for a three-lane corridor with on-street bike lanes, 
with roundabouts at 12th, 18th and Seerley.  He stated there may be additional grant 
funding the City can secure.   

Mayor Green opened it for discussion.  Mr. Perington stated there will be minimal delay 
for the semi traffic south of 18th Street for the commercial businesses and the 
roundabouts will accommodate semi traffic. Mr. Greiman stated they can review the 
roundabout at 6th Street and shift the roundabout to the north east, but it will take 
parking spots from the library.  He stated another option is to put in a mini-roundabout.  
There was discussion about the boulevard option and concern for traffic at the 
convenience store.  It was suggested to have a gateway to downtown feature at 6th 
Street, reflecting welcome to the historic downtown.   Mr. Perington stated the boulevard 
option was removed from consideration due to the traffic at the convenience store.  Mr. 
Greiman stated the gateway feature may be added to a corner of the intersection.    Mr. 
Greiman compared the street width of the three-lane with bike lanes to that of the as-is 
four-lane alternative.  Mr. Schrage stated streetscape will be addressed with final 
design. Mr. Greiman explained the current design standards are for five-foot sidewalks.  
Mr. Perington stated the three-lane roadway will accommodate emergency vehicles with 
enough passing room, using the middle turn lane.   

Mayor Green opened it for public comment.  Andrew Shroll 930 Newman Avenue and 
Chairman of the Bike and Pedestrian Advisory Committee stated he agrees with the 
staff recommendation of the three-lane alternative.  He stated the side path alternative 
would work if the City committed to removing the snow.  Roger White 2303 Greenwood 
Avenue agrees with the staff recommendation and said Main Street is the most direct 
route rather than using bike lanes on adjacent streets or the trail system.  Jim Skain 
2215 Clay Street doesn’t agree with the roundabout option, stating he feels they are 
less efficient and not good for bicyclists and pedestrians.    

Mark Miller motioned to approve of the staff recommendation of the three-lane corridor 
with on street bike lanes, roundabouts at 12th, 18th and Seerley intersections, and a 

73

Item 12.



design option for 6th Street intersection with possible roundabout. Simon Harding 
seconded the motion.  Motion passed 5 to 2. (aye: Darrah, Dunn, Harding, Kruse, Miller; 
nay: deBuhr, Sires) Mr. Schrage stated a design concept will come forward in 
approximately six months.  He stated they will review the impact of the roundabout 
options at the 6th Street intersection and bring back a design concept. 

There being no further discussion, Daryl Kruse moved for adjournment. Simon Harding 
seconded the motion and the motion carried unanimously.  Mayor Green adjourned the 
meeting at 7:00 p.m.  

Minutes by Lisa Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer 

74

Item 12.



75

Item 13.



76

Item 13.



77

Item 13.



78

Item 13.



79

Item 13.



80

Item 13.



81

Item 13.



82

Item 13.



83

Item 13.



84

Item 13.



85

Item 13.



86

Item 13.



87

Item 13.



88

Item 13.



89

Item 13.



90

Item 13.



91

Item 13.



92

Item 13.



93

Item 13.



94

Item 13.



95

Item 13.



96

Item 13.



97

Item 13.



98

Item 13.



99

Item 13.



100

Item 13.



101

Item 13.



102

Item 13.



103

Item 13.



104

Item 13.



105

Item 13.



106

Item 13.



107

Item 13.



108

Item 13.



109

Item 13.



110

Item 13.



111

Item 14.



   DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES 

  POLICE OPERATIONS 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

  4600 SOUTH MAIN STREET 
  CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 

  319-273-8612 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Mayor Green and City Councilmembers 

From:  Jeff Olson, Public Safety Services Director 

Craig Berte, Police Chief 

Date:  March 31, 2021 

Re:  Beer/Liquor License Applications 

Police Operations has received applications for liquor licenses and/ or wine or beer 
permits. We find no records that would prohibit these license and permits and 
recommend approval. 

Name of Applicants:  

a) Godfather's Pizza, 1621 West 1st Street, Class B beer - renewal. 

b) Luxe Nail Bar, 5907 University Avenue, Class C liquor - renewal 

c) Mary Lou's Bar & Grill, 2719 Center Street, Class C liquor & outdoor service - 
renewal. 

d) Prime Mart, 2728 Center Street, Class E liquor – renewal. 

e) River Place Plaza, 200 East 2nd Street – Plaza, Special Class C liquor & outdoor 
service – temporary expansion of outdoor service area. ( May 7,14, 21 & 28, 2021) 

f) Bani's, 2128 College Street, Class E liquor - new. 

 

112

Item 15.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 
Financial Services Division 

 

 TO: Mayor Green and City Council Members 

 FROM: Lisa Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer 

 DATE: March 31, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Depository Resolution 

 

Attached for your approval is an updated Depository Resolution to increase the limit 

depository limit for Midwest One Bank. Recently we have been able to invest our 

monthly investment with them, as fewer institutions are responding to our requests.  

This increased depository limit will accommodate additional investment opportunity.  All 

other financial institutions will remain unchanged. 

 

If you have any questions regarding this matter, please telephone Finance & Business 

Operations Director Jennifer Rodenbeck at 268-5108 or myself 268-5105.  Thank you. 

 
 
 
CC: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Finance & Business Operations Director 
 

113

Item 16.



RESOLUTION NO. __________ 
 
 

RESOLUTION NAMING OFFICIAL DEPOSITORIES  
FOR THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, has considered 

approving the following list of financial institutions to be depositories of the City of Cedar 

Falls, in conformance with all applicable provisions of the Code of Iowa Chapter 12C 

(2019), and 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, deems it in the best 

interest of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, to approve said list of financial institutions, 

 

NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 

that the following list of financial institutions to be depositories of the City of Cedar Falls, is 

hereby approved and designated officials of the City of Cedar Falls are hereby authorized to 

deposit funds in amounts not to exceed the maximum approved for each respective financial 

institution as set forth below. 

  MAXIMUM MAXIMUM 
 LOCATION OF UNDER THIS UNDER PRIOR 
DEPOSITORY NAME HOME OFFICE RESOLUTION RESOLUTION 

 
BankIowa Waterloo $30,000,000 $30,000,000 
Collins Community Credit Union Cedar Rapids 40,000,000 40,000,000 
Community Bank & Trust Waterloo 30,000,000 30,000,000 
Denver Savings Bank Denver 4,000,000 4,000,000  
Farmers State Bank Waterloo 40,000,000 40,000,000 
First Bank Cedar Falls 30,000,000 30,000,000 
First Security State Bank Evansdale 3,000,000 3,000,000 
Dupaco Community Credit Union Dubuque 30,000,000 30,000,000 
Great Western Bank Sioux Falls, SD 40,000,000 40,000,000  
GreenState Credit Union North Liberty 30,000,000 30,000,000 
Lincoln Savings Bank Reinbeck 30,000,000 30,000,000 
MidWestOne Bank Iowa City 40,000,000 30,000,000 
NXT Bank Central City  15,000,000 15,000,000 
Regions Bank Birmingham, AL 30,000,000 30,000,000 
U.S. Bank N.A. Des Moines 30,000,000 30,000,000 
Veridian Credit Union Waterloo 30,000,000 30,000,000 
Wells Fargo Bank Des Moines 50,000,000 50,000,000 
 

ADOPTED this 5th day of April, 2021. 
                                                                                                         
______________________________ 

                                                                                        Robert M. Green, Mayor 
           ATTEST: 
 
 

 ____________________________________ 
 Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  

114

Item 16.



115

Item 17.



116

Item 17.



117

Item 18.



118

Item 18.



119

Item 19.



120

Item 19.



121

Item 19.



122

Item 19.



123

Item 19.



124

Item 19.



125

Item 19.



126

Item 19.



127

Item 19.



128

Item 19.



129

Item 19.



130

Item 19.



131

Item 19.



132

Item 19.



133

Item 19.



134

Item 19.



135

Item 19.



136

Item 19.



137

Item 19.



138

Item 19.



139

Item 19.



140

Item 19.



141

Item 19.



142

Item 20.



143

Item 20.



144

Item 20.



145

Item 20.



146

Item 20.



147

Item 20.



148

Item 20.



149

Item 20.



150

Item 20.



151

Item 20.



152

Item 20.



153

Item 20.



154

Item 20.



155

Item 20.



156

Item 20.



157

Item 20.



158

Item 20.



159

Item 20.



160

Item 20.



161

Item 20.



DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 

FAX 319-268-5126 
I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 

Information Systems Division 
 

 TO: Mayor Rob Green and City Council Members  

 FROM: Julie Sorensen, Information Systems Manager 

 DATE: March 31, 2021 

 SUBJECT: New contract with Cities Digital Incorporated 

 
 

During our Document Management Software implementation we discovered that in order to integrate with 
our current financial software we would need additional programming.  This programming was not 
included in the original statement of work, therefore, we needed to seek additional resources to 
implement.   
 
We reached out to two additional companies in addition to a third party working with our current 
implementation company.  We received two quotes back and recommend going with the lowest quote.  
This requires entering into an agreement with Cities Digital Incorporated, CDI, to help us develop the 
programming and implement this integration.   
 
CDI has agreed to use our standard goods and service contract as the basis of our relationship.  I’ve 
waived the insurance requirements for this project based on the cost of the programming which was 
$2000.  You will find the agreed upon contract attached for your review. The agreement has been 
reviewed by City Attorney Rogers.  
 
If you have any questions or concerns regarding this contract or purchase, please feel free to contact me 
at 268-5111. 
 
Attachments:  CDI Contract 

162

Item 21.



DocuSign Envelope ID: 644D234E-BB55-4FF1-B3B5-088D839AD9C3

163

Item 21.



DocuSign Envelope ID: 644D234E-BB55-4FF1-B3B5-088D839AD9C3

164

Item 21.



DocuSign Envelope ID: 644D234E-BB55-4FF1-B3B5-088D839AD9C3

165

Item 21.



DocuSign Envelope ID: 644D234E-BB55-4FF1-B3B5-088D839AD9C3

166

Item 21.



DocuSign Envelope ID: 644D234E-BB55-4FF1-B3B5-088D839AD9C3

167

Item 21.



DocuSign Envelope ID: 644D234E-BB55-4FF1-B3B5-088D839AD9C3

168

Item 21.



DocuSign Envelope ID: 644D234E-BB55-4FF1-B3B5-088D839AD9C3

651-714-2800

Hudson, WI 54016

Patrick Welsch

President

2000 O'neil Rd., Suite 150

3/31/2021

Patrick@citiesdigital.com

President

169

Item 21.



DocuSign Envelope ID: 644D234E-BB55-4FF1-B3B5-088D839AD9C3

170

Item 21.



DocuSign Envelope ID: 644D234E-BB55-4FF1-B3B5-088D839AD9C3

171

Item 21.



DocuSign Envelope ID: 644D234E-BB55-4FF1-B3B5-088D839AD9C3

172

Item 21.



DocuSign Envelope ID: 644D234E-BB55-4FF1-B3B5-088D839AD9C3

173

Item 21.



DocuSign Envelope ID: 644D234E-BB55-4FF1-B3B5-088D839AD9C3

174

Item 21.



DocuSign Envelope ID: 644D234E-BB55-4FF1-B3B5-088D839AD9C3

175

Item 21.



DocuSign Envelope ID: 644D234E-BB55-4FF1-B3B5-088D839AD9C3

176

Item 21.



DocuSign Envelope ID: 644D234E-BB55-4FF1-B3B5-088D839AD9C3

177

Item 21.



DocuSign Envelope ID: 644D234E-BB55-4FF1-B3B5-088D839AD9C3

178

Item 21.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-268-5126 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Administration Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 

 

 TO: Mayor Green and City Council  

 FROM: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Director 

 DATE: March 30, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Surface Transportation Block Grant Programming Agreement 
 Main Street Reconstruction 
 
 
Anticipating the future reconstruction of Main Street from W. 6th Street to Seerley 
Boulevard, Staff has actively sought grants to support the project.  One of those is 
Surface Transportation Block Grant (STBG) funds, we are eligible to request through 
our local metropolitan planning organization: INRCOG.  The City has received two 
STBG grants.  The attached agreement would formally accept the second grant of 
$1,400,000 that was requested and awarded in 2020. The agreement identifies the total 
STBG funds from both grants of $2,900,000 and a local match of $5,400,000.  The 
estimated cost for the Main Street project is $8,300,000. This project is #125 in the FY 
21-26 Capital Improvements Program Funding for the project is also anticipated through 
the Street Construction Fund, Local Option Sales Tax, and General Obligation Bonds.   
 
Staff asks that the City Council state their support to accept the total STBG funding of 
$2,900,000 and authorize the Mayor to execute the Surface Transportation Block Grant 
Programming Agreement. 
 
If you have any questions, please feel free to contact this office. 
 
 
Attachments:   Surface Transportation Block Grant Programming Agreement 
 
xc:  David Wicke, PE City Engineer 
  Chase Schrage, Public Works Director 

179

Item 22.



Page 1 of 2 
 

 

 

 

BETWEEN: Black Hawk County Metropolitan Planning Organization  

  229 E. Park Ave. 

  Waterloo, IA 50703 

  (hereinafter “MPO”) 

 
AND: City of Cedar Falls 

  220 Clay St 

  Cedar Falls IA 50613 

  (hereinafter “RECIPIENT” 

 
Recipient Contact Person:  Stephanie Houk Sheetz Phone: (319) 273-8600 

Title:  Community Development Director Email: Stephanie.Sheetz@cedarfalls.com 

Upon acceptance of this funding, the RECIPIENT agrees to the following condi�ons: 

1. CONTRACT PROJECT:  As approved by the MPO Policy Board, the project includes: 

Main St 

Program Year: 2023, 2024 

See Atachment A for a detailed project descrip�on and project loca�on map.  The project descrip�on and 
map must accurately describe the project loca�on.   

2. CONTRACT AWARD AMOUNT:   

 STBG Funds:  $2,900,000.00 

 Local Match:  $5,400,000.00 

 Total Project Cost:  $8,300,000.00 

3. GENERAL PROVISIONS: 

The RECIPIENT shall receive STBG funds for authorized and approved project costs of eligible items.  STBG 
funds are to be used exclusively for the purposes specified in Sec�on 1, which may represent all or any part of 
the project(s) specified in the grant applica�on.  Any por�on of the funds not used for the purpose(s) specified 
in the STBG Grant Applica�on shall be forfeited by the RECIPIENT.  The MPO may request the RECIPIENT to 
provide informa�on to determine that the funding distribu�on sa�sfies the writen criteria and procedures of 

Surface Transportation Block Grant (STBG) Programming Agreement 

Black Hawk County 
Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) 

 

180

Item 22.



Page 2 of 2 
 

the Iowa Department of Transporta�on and the MPO as well as any statutes or rules governing such 
distribu�on. 

The RECIPIENT shall contact MPO staff if the project specified in Sec�on 1 requires revision including, but not 
limited to, project cost, schedule, funding sources, project termini, and project descrip�on.  Depending on the 
type of revision, public review and comment and MPO Policy Board approval may be required. 

The por�on of the eligible project costs covered by STBG funds shall be limited to a maximum of either the 
appropriate percentage of eligible costs or the amount s�pulated in the approved current Statewide 
Transporta�on Improvement Program (STIP), whichever is less. 

The RECIPIENT is not authorized to expend STBG funds un�l the project has been authorized by the Federal 
Highway Administra�on (FHWA).  Expenditures incurred prior to FHWA authoriza�on will be ineligible for 
reimbursement. 

The RECIPIENT shall abide by MPO and Iowa Department of Transporta�on rules and regula�ons.  The 
RECIPIENT shall follow all guidelines outlined in the Federal-aid Project Development Guide (reference 
www.iowadot.gov/local_systems/publica�ons/im/guide.pdf).  The Iowa Department of Transporta�on contact 
will be Christy VanBuskirk at the Iowa DOT Office of Local Systems. 

All grant RECIPIENTS awarded STBG funds shall upon request provide status updates about the project 
specified in Sec�on 1. 

4. SPECIAL CONDITIONS: 

The Leter of Award, which accompanies this agreement, may detail specific condi�ons per�nent to the 
individual award or RECIPIENT and shall become part of this agreement upon acceptance of this agreement. 

 

Accepted on Behalf of the City of Cedar Falls 

  Date:   

Rob Green 
Mayor, City of Cedar Falls 

  

 

ATTEST: 

  

 

181

Item 22.

http://www.iowadot.gov/local_systems/publications/im/guide.pdf


DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-268-5126 
www.cedarfalls.com  

 

MEMORANDUM 

Administration Division 

  

  

 

 

  

 
 
  

 TO: Mayor Green & City Council 

 FROM: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of Community Development 

 DATE: March 31, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Amendment #3 River Place Properties, LC Development Agreement 
 
In July 2012, the City of Cedar Falls and River Place Properties, LC entered into an 
Agreement for Private Development pertaining to a mixed use development along State 
Street (200-300 blocks), E 2nd St., and the property formerly known as the Broom 
Factory site.  The agreement was similar to many of the City’s Development 
Agreements, being performance based.  It was dissimilar in that it provided an 
opportunity for up to 15 years and $15,000,000 in rebates.  All other downtown 
agreements have been limited to five years.  It is important to note the scope and 
complexity of this project, which was conveyed in the Master Plan . 
 
In early 2016, the Development Agreement was amended (DA#1) to extend the 
deadline for the proposed development on the former Broom Factory site to December 
31, 2018 (the original agreement anticipated completion in 2015) and also addressed 
construction easements needed by the City for the Downtown Levee Improvement 
Project.  In May 2018, a second amendment (DA#2) was completed to state the timeline 
for completion of the Plaza, accept an updated Master Plan (with MU2 and the Plaza), 
estimate the Plaza/levee developer payment and timeline for payment, extend the hotel 
construction deadline from 12/31/18 to 6/1/19, and extend a temporary construction 
easement for the levee through 10/1/18. 
 
A third amendment is proposed to request an extension to the deadline for incentives 
from 2027 to 2037, a ten year extension.  It reduces the total financial incentive from the 
original agreement’s $15,000,000 to $10,000,000.  Several other elements of the 
proposed third amendment are extending the deadline to complete the Plaza bathrooms 
to 10/1/21, providing a full and unconditional public access easement across the Plaza 
parcel (Lot 3 of River Place Third Addition), donating a full and unconditional public 
access easement along the sidewalks of 200 and 300 State Street (or transferring this 
property to the City as right of way), establishing a capital maintenance fund for the 
Plaza with $50,000 deposited annually from January 1 2022-2037 (totaling $800,000), 
completing several final details of public signage by 5/15/21, making the agreed upon 

182

Item 23.



payment (stated in DA#2) on the Plaza/levee construction ($165,455.35), completing 
decorative lighting on State Street (streetscape and lighting elements were in the 
original agreement), covering the brick paver upgrade costs ($88,930) within this rebate 
agreement, and finalizing environmental remediation pursuant to the original 
agreement. 
 
River Place has been a significant development for the downtown.  Since the start of 
that project, the City has had other redevelopment projects downtown.  It has been a 
catalyst project, which was a goal.  Any significant project is going to have changes over 
time.  In researching the history for this project, staff found that the levee project 
impacted River Place.  The levee project’s timeline was unknown in 2012.  By DA#1, 
temporary easements were requested from River Place, particularly on the hotel site, 
from 2016-2018.  Due to delays with permitting on the levee project, and then 
construction delays due to River levels, the City requested two more extensions 
ultimately spanning into October 2019.  The developer worked closely with the City as 
we worked to complete the levee project.  For this reason, Staff would recommend a 
shorter extension of five years. 
 
The developer proposes a ten year extension.  Under previous drafts, this was 
discussed but included an additional element of a $250,000 donation to the River 
project by October 1, 2021. This item is not part of the agreement at this time. 
 
The Community Development Department recommends denying the Third Amendment 
to the River Place Developmental Agreement as proposed.  Please contact me with any 
questions. 
 
 
xc: Ron Gaines, PE, City Administrator 
 Kevin Rogers, City Attorney 
 Nathan Overberg, Ahlers Law Office  
 Mark Kittrell, River Place Properties 
 Om Patel, Hawkeye Hotels 
  

 
 

183

Item 23.



184

Item 23.



185

Item 23.



186

Item 23.



187

Item 23.



188

Item 23.



189

Item 23.



190

Item 23.



191

Item 23.



192

Item 23.



193

Item 23.



194

Item 23.



195

Item 23.



196

Item 23.



197

Item 23.



198

Item 23.



199

Item 23.



200

Item 23.



201

Item 23.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Jaydevsinh Atodaria (JD), Planner I 

 DATE: March 30, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Design review of property in the Central Business District Overlay 
 

 
REQUEST: 

 
New signage on façade and projecting sign on the building 

PETITIONER: 
 

Lincoln Savings Bank;  Contractor: Signs and Design 

LOCATION: 
 

302 Main Street                                                                                     
 

PROJECT #: 
 

DR21-002 
 

 
PROPOSAL  
The contractor Signs and Design on behalf of their client Lincoln Savings Bank, tenant at 302 
Main Street, is requesting a design review for a new projecting sign and a wall sign at 302 Main 
Street building in the Central Business District Overlay Zoning District. 
 
BACKGROUND 
The petitioner proposes to 
install one new projecting sign 
on the western face and a wall 
sign on the eastern face of 
302 Main Street building for 
the new business going in for 
Lincoln Savings Bank. The 
projecting sign over public 
sidewalk would mark the 
presence of the business 
along the Main Street. The 
property is located at the 
corner of W 3th Street and 
Main Street with frontage to 
both streets, see image to the 
right.  
 

202

Item 24.



 
 
 
This item requires review by the Planning and Zoning Commission and the City Council due to 
the fact that this property is located within the Central Business District (Section 26-189). The 
downtown district requires a building site plan review (i.e. design review) for any “substantial 
improvement” to an exterior façade, including new signs and awnings. A substantial 
improvement to properties in the Central Business District Overlay is defined in Section 26-189 
(f) and reads as follows: 
 

"Substantial improvement" includes any new building construction within the overlay 
district or any renovation of an existing structure that involves any modification of the 
exterior appearance of the structure by virtue of adding or removing exterior windows or 
doors or altering the color or exterior materials of existing walls. All facade improvements, 
changes, alterations, modifications or replacement of existing facade materials will be 
considered a substantial improvement. Included in this definition are any new, modified or 
replacement awning structures or similar material extensions over the public sidewalk 
area. A substantial improvement also includes any increase or decrease in existing 
building height and/or alteration of the existing roof pitch or appearance.” 
  

Typically signage is not part of the review process unless the review is mandated by the 
Ordinance. In this case, when a new projecting sign is installed that overhangs the public right-
of-way and if additional signage is proposed that was not shown on the original site plan 
approved by Council, the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council must review and 
approve the request. Not all signs are reviewed in this manner. If a projecting sign is simply 
replaced, review of this level is not triggered and a permit can be issued with only staff level 
review. 
 
ANALYSIS 
The applicant is proposing to install a new projecting sign on the western face of the 302 Main 
Street building for advertising new tenant Lincoln Savings Bank. The projecting sign will be 
projecting over the public sidewalk facing north and south side of the Main Street. The sign is a 
two-face rectangle sign and is approximately 4 square feet per sign face and will be placed 
below the projecting canopy of the building along the Main Street. The projecting sign is 
approximately 3 feet wide by 1 foot 4 inches tall. The proposed sign will highlight the letterings 
only. The proposal for the projecting sign meets the district signage requirements. 
 
All projecting signs within the Central Business District are required to be at least 10 feet above 
the sidewalk and cannot project further than half the width of the sidewalk or five feet, whichever 
is less (Section 26-189 (j)(2)). Projecting signs within the Central Business District cannot 
exceed 40 square feet per sign face and wall signs cannot exceed ten percent of the total 
storefront area (Section 26-189 (j)(2)).  
 

203

Item 24.



 
The proposed projecting sign projects about 3 feet over public sidewalk and has approximately 
a 12 feet clearance above the sidewalk. The sidewalk at this location is approximately 16 feet 
wide. The proposed placement of the sign meets city code.  
 
In addition, the applicant is also proposing to add a wall sign on the eastern face of the 302 
Main Street building to direct people to the bank drive-through that is located in the alley.  
Typically, the wall sign is not part of review but in this case we want the commission to review 
the wall sign as the sign was not part of approved building site plan for 302 Main Street building. 
As per code (Section 26-189 (j)(4)), wall signs shall not exceed ten percent of the total wall area 
and in no case shall exceed ten percent of the area of the storefront. Proposed wall sign is 
approximately 27 square feet in area and will be placed at least 8 feet above ground. This sign 
will face the alley, but be visible from 3rd Street. The proposal meets the wall sign configurations 
in the code for the building.  
 
If approved by the Planning and Zoning Commission, this item will be placed on the next 
regularly scheduled City Council meeting. If the City Council approves this request, a sign 
permit will be issued for the new signs. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Planning and Zoning Commission recommends approval of the submitted design review 
application for new signage at 302 Main Street building for tenant Lincoln Savings Bank, at their 
regular meeting on 24th March 2021 with a vote of 8 ayes and 0 nays. The Community 
Development Department also recommends approval of the submitted design review 
application. 
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Discussion/Vote 
03/24/2021 

Chair Leeper introduced the item and Mr. Atodaria explained that new signage is  
proposed for the Lincoln Savings Bank and showed renderings of the proposed  
signage. He discussed the proposal for the signs and the requirements for any  
projecting and wall signs. Mr. Atodaria stated that staff recommends approval of the  

204

Item 24.



signage and that if the item is approved it will be moved to the next council meeting.  
 
Mr. Schrad asked for clarification of whether the signs are lit. Mr. Atodaria explained  
that the projecting sign will be lighted.    
  
Mr. Schrad made a motion to approve the item. Ms. Prideaux seconded the motion. 
The motion was approved unanimously with 8 ayes (Holst, Larson, Leeper, Lynch, 
Prideaux, Saul, Schrad and Sears), and 0 nays. 

 

205

Item 24.



Cedar

River

Peter
Melendy

Park

Sturgis Park

1st St TrailCedar Valley Lakes Trail

S Riverside Trail

â

â

Blu
ff S

t

Sta
te 

St
E 3rd St

E 5th St

Cla
y S

t

W 2nd St

W 4th St

E 2nd St

Wa
sh

ing
ton

 St

W 5th St

W 3rd St

E 4th St

Main St

W 1st St E 1st St®¬57µ43

C-1

C-3

M-1

C-2C-2

M-2

M-2

A-1

A-1

Cedar Falls City Council
April 5, 2021

Design Review for new Signage
302 Main Street

Waterloo
Regional
Airport

Falls
Access

Cedar Falls

University Ave
Rainbow Dr

Orchard Dr

E Dunkerton Rd

W 18th St

Hu
ds

on
Rd

W Ridgeway Ave

S M
ain

 St

C ente rS t

Ma
in

St

W 12th St

W 1st St

E V ikin

g Rd
W Viking Rd

Un
ion

 Rd

W 27th St

E Greenhill Rd

Lincoln St

NUnion Rd E Lone Tree Rd

Le
ver

see
Rd

E 1st St
®¬57

®¬58

®¬27 £¤63£¤20

£¤218

^
Location

Map

206

Item 24.



207

Item 24.



208

Item 24.



       

5600 NORDIC DRIVE 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

PHONE: 319-277-8829      FAX: 319-268-2298  

3/15/2021 
302 Main Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 
P&Z Letter of intent: 
 
Location: Address of the Property 
302 Main St. Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 
Overview of additional signs for Lincoln Savings Bank: 
 
Sign C: Purpose of this sign is to identify the LSB entrance location to pedestrians. 
Installation of a 16” x 36” lighted blade sign under the canopy on the West side of the 302 
Main St.  building.  The sign is 12’ 2” off the sidewalk.  Sign is made with an extruded 
aluminum cabinet  , acrylic faces and  Led internal lighting.  The background does not light 
up. Only the lettering lights. See attached drawings. 
 
Sign D:  The purpose of this sign is to identify the alley entrance to the LSB Bank  drive-thru 
located in the alley. 
 Installation of a non-lighted logo and letters on the brick wall on the East side of the 
building at the entrance to the alley. These are 3/8” thick, flush, stud mounted aluminum 
letters with a baked enamel finish.  Overall size is 7’ ,11” x 4’. The bottom of the sign is 8’ 
from the Alley floor. See attached drawing. 
 
 
Applicant Contact: Lincoln Savings Bank  Andrea DeVore andrea.devore@mylsb.com  
 
Contractor: Signs & Designs , David Schachterle,  5600 Nordic Drive, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613   T: 319-277-
8829 
 
 
David Schachterle 
Signs & Designs, Inc, 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 209

Item 24.



210

Item 24.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 
 

  

  

 

 
 
   

 

 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Michelle Pezley, Planner III 

 DATE: March 25, 2021 

 SUBJECT: CARES Act Community Development Block Grant Funds (CDBG-CV2) 
Service Agency Contracts- St. Patrick School  

 
 
In April 2020, the CARES Act was passed in response to COVID-19.  The State notified 
the City in mid-May that a portion of the State’s CDBG funds were anticipated to be 
proportionally allocated to Entitlement Communities through the Iowa Economic 
Development Authority (IEDA).  City Council approved the contract on their January 19th 
meeting, including an outline of how much of the funding would be distributed.   
 
The City received $369,432 as part of the CDBG-CV2.  The City worked closely with the 
IEDA staff to find projects that were fundable with the grant.  The funds are broken up to 
four categories:  Service Agencies ($115,000), City response to Covid-19 ($75,430), 
Schools response to Covid-19 ($111,152), Administration ($40,026).  Staff has been 
working with the service agencies and schools to complete contracts.  We anticipate a 
total of eight contracts.  At the March 15, 2021 meeting, City Council approved three 
contracts.  Attached is the St. Patrick School ($16,187.75).  Funds will be used to 
purchase equipment for improved virtual schooling which will mitigate the impacts 
caused by the COVID-19 pandemic.   
  
Staff recommends approving the contract with St. Patrick School.  The City Attorney has 
reviewed the contract and State-required attachments. 
 
Please contact staff with any questions.  Thank you.  
 
Xc:  Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development  
       Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager      

211

Item 25.



212

Item 25.



213

Item 25.



214

Item 25.



215

Item 25.



216

Item 25.



217

Item 25.



218

Item 25.



219

Item 25.



220

Item 25.



221

Item 25.



222

Item 25.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 
 

  

  

 

 
 
   

 

 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Michelle Pezley, Planner III 

 DATE: March 30, 2021 

 SUBJECT: CARES Act Community Development Block Grant Funds (CDBG-CV2) 
Service Agency Contracts- Valley Lutheran School  

 
 
In April 2020, the CARES Act was passed in response to COVID-19.  The State notified 
the City in mid-May that a portion of the State’s CDBG funds were anticipated to be 
proportionally allocated to Entitlement Communities through the Iowa Economic 
Development Authority (IEDA).  City Council approved the contract on their January 19th 
meeting, including an outline of how much of the funding would be distributed.   
 
The City received $369,432 as part of the CDBG-CV2.  The City worked closely with the 
IEDA staff to find projects that were fundable with the grant.  The funds are broken up to 
four categories:  Service Agencies ($115,000), City response to Covid-19 ($75,430), 
Schools response to Covid-19 ($111,152), Administration ($40,026).  Staff has been 
working with the service agencies and schools to complete contracts.  We anticipate a 
total of eight contracts.  At the March 15, 2021 meeting, City Council approved three 
contracts.  Attached is the Crusaders Valley Lutheran School ($11,980.11).  Funds will 
be used for purchase of supplies and equipment associated with virtual schooling and 
Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) caused by the COVID-19 pandemic.   
  
Staff recommends approving the contract with St. Crusaders Valley Lutheran School.  
The City Attorney has reviewed the contract and State-required attachments. 
 
Please contact staff with any questions.  Thank you.  
 
Xc:  Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development  
       Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager      

223

Item 26.



224

Item 26.



225

Item 26.



226

Item 26.



227

Item 26.



228

Item 26.



229

Item 26.



230

Item 26.



231

Item 26.



232

Item 26.



233

Item 26.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 
 

  

  

 

 
 
   

 

 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M Green and City Council 

 FROM: Michelle Pezley, Planner III 

 DATE: March 25, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Community Development Block Grant:  Service Agency Contract Second  
  Amendment from CDBG-CV1 funding 
   
 
As part of the CARES Act that was passed in April 2020, funding was allocated to local 
jurisdictions and States to support activities that prevent, prepare for, and respond to 
the pandemic.  Cedar Falls received $160,662 from CDBG-CV1.  On June 1, 2020, 
Council approved 20% ($32,132) of the award toward Service Agencies.  Contracts 
were completed with Northeast Iowa Food Bank ($20,000) and Pathways Behavioral 
Services ($12,132).   
 
Staff received notice from Pathways Behavioral Services that they will not be able to 
utilize their contracted amount.  Staff reached out to the Northeast Iowa Food Bank to 
see if they would be able to use the funds.  They are able to use the additional funds.   
 
Attached is the proposed second amendment to the Northeast Iowa Food Bank contract 
related to the use of CDBG-CV1 funds.   
 
Staff recommends approving the contract amendments.  The City Attorney has 
reviewed the contract. 
 
Please contact staff with any questions.  Thank you.  
 
Xc:  Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development  
       Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager      

234

Item 27.



235

Item 27.



236

Item 27.



237

Item 27.



238

Item 27.



239

Item 27.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: David Wicke, PE – City Engineer 
 
 DATE: March 31st, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: Downtown Streetscape and Reconstruction Project – Phase II 
  Project No. RC-000-3242 
  Supplemental Agreement No. 1 
 
Please find attached the Supplemental Agreement No. 1 with Snyder and Associates 
that outlines the scope of services and costs for the Downtown Streetscape and 
Reconstruction Project – Phase II. The enclosed supplemental agreement provides for 
construction survey for the project and allows for other professional land surveying 
services which may be required on an “as needed” basis. This supplemental agreement 
also, addresses the structural design for the replacement of the retaining wall and stairs 
to the basement of property 226 Main Street. 
 
The City of Cedar Falls’ Land Surveyor will be resigning April 15th, 2021. At the time of 
his departure, the City will require professional land surveying services while the City 
seeks out candidates to fill the vacant position. The length of this transition is unknown 
and it is important for the completion of current project and the development and design 
of future projects that the City has access to professional land surveying services. It was 
previously estimated that the Land Surveyor position provides approximately $15,000 a 
month in survey services. This agreement with Snyder and Associates falls in line with 
the estimate of rates and is intended to cover this year’s construction season in a total  
amount not to exceed $56,760.00.   
 
The Engineering Division of the Public Works Department requests your consideration 
and approval of Supplemental Agreement No. 1 for the Downtown Streetscape and 
Reconstruction Project – Phase II with Snyder and Associates.  
 
If you have any questions or comments feel free to contact me.  
 
 
xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 

240

Item 28.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls  
220 Clay Street  
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613   
www.cedarfalls.com  

 

Engineering Division  Inspection Services Division 
Phone: 319-268-5161  Fax: 319-268-5197 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT NO. 1 
 

Downtown Streetscape and Reconstruction – Phase II 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project Number RC-000-3242 
 

 
WHEREAS, a Professional Services Agreement was entered into by the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
(CLIENT), and Snyder & Associates, Inc. (CONSULTANT), of Cedar Rapids, Iowa, dated August 
3, 2020 for survey and engineering design services; and 
 
WHEREAS, the CLIENT and CONSULTANT desire to amend the previous agreement to include 
Scope of Services and Compensation for additional items required as a part of the Downtown 
Streetscape and Reconstruction – Phase II Project,  
 
NOW THEREFORE, it is mutually agreed to amend the original Professional Services Agreement 
as follows:  
 

I.  SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 
 The Scope of Services and basis for Compensation derivation are as follows: 
 

A. Structural Design and Plans  
1. The CONSULTANT shall complete the following additional design services 

associated with replacing the retaining wall and stairs into the basement below 226 
Main Street (True North).   

a. One site visit to review the condition of the existing stairwell and take 
measurements.  

b. Prepare cost opinions for three concepts for replacing the stairs and portions 
of the wall. The CLIENT will select the preferred alternative. 

c. Design and prepare plans for the selected alternative.  The design and plan 
include new stairs, replacement of a portion of the wall, steel layout, 
handrail, quantities, and notes.  

d. Prepare the contract documents so this stair and retaining wall replacement 
will be bid as Bid Alternate A.  The CLIENT will utilize this bid information to 
negotiate replacement of the stairs and retaining wall with the property 
owner.   
 

2. The CONSULTANT shall complete the following additional design services 
associated with abandoning the existing vault below the sidewalk at 114 West 5th 
Street.  

241

Item 28.



a. One site visit to review the condition of the existing vault, basement area 
where the vault connects into the building, and take measurements.  

b. Design and prepare plans for abandoning the vault below the sidewalk and 
inside the public right of way along West 5th Street.  The design and plan 
include buttress walls, shield wall to close the opening to the building, steel 
layout, quantities, and notes.    

 
B. Construction Services   

 
1. Preconstruction Conference – The CONSULTANT shall coordinate with CLIENT 

Staff and conduct a preconstruction conference with the Contractor and CLIENT 
to review the contract requirements, details of construction, utility conflicts and 
work schedule prior to construction.  
 

2. Construction Staking – The CONSULTANT shall be responsible for providing 
construction staking for the project.  It will be stated at the preconstruction 
conference that the CONSULTANT will provide one set of stakes for each 
construction operation of the project.  Any staking that is destroyed will be replaced 
at the Contractor’s expense. Elements of the project to be staked include: Survey 
Control, Removal Limits, Water Main Fittings, Storm Sewer Structures, Subdrain, 
Cleanouts, Pavement, Sidewalk, and Street Light locations. 

 
3. The CONSULTANT will be available by phone/video teleconferencing to discuss 

the project design with the CLIENT’s project manager and the Contractor during the 
construction, at the CLIENT’s request. Inquiries during the construction period 
relating to the design Standard of Care items will be addressed by the 
CONSULTANT. The budget for this work includes up to 56 hours of 
engineer/architect services. It is understood that the CLIENT will provide on-going 
construction observation and administration services during the construction period 
and will inquire with the CONSULTANT on an as-needed basis. Inquiries 
concerning items outside this scope (i.e. unforeseen underground 
conditions/facilities, constructability, etc.) will invoke a supplementation agreement 
for Consultant services. The design Standard of Care items are defined as services 
performed in a manner consistent with the degree of care and skill ordinarily 
exercised by members of the same professional discipline currently practicing 
under similar circumstances at the same time and in the same or similar locality.  

 
4. Complete a final project walk-through following substantial completion of the overall 

construction. Assist CLIENT staff with the development of a project punch list for 
items to be completed by the Contractor prior to the CLIENT accepting the project. 
This shall include up to one site visit by the CONSULTANT. 

  
C. ADDITIONAL SERVICES 

 
1. The CLIENT may request Additional Services from the CONSULTANT not included 

in the Scope of Services as outlined. Additional Services may include, but are not 
necessarily limited to, additional site visits, construction observation beyond that 
described above, construction survey beyond what is described above, assistance 
with payment requests, shop drawing preparation and/or review, change orders, 
substantial completion documentation, assistance with calendar day and liquidated 
damages documentation and final project acceptance; expanding the scope of the 

242

Item 28.



project or the work to be completed; requesting the development of various 
documents; extending the time to complete a project through no fault of the 
CONSULTANT; or requesting additional work items that increase the Engineering 
Services and corresponding costs. 

 
 
II.  COMPENSATION 
 
 Compensation for the Services shall be on an hourly basis in accordance with the hourly 

fees and other direct expenses in effect at the time the services are performed. Total 
compensation is a not to exceed fee of Fifty-Six Thousand Seven Hundred and Sixty 
Dollars, $56,760. The compensation for this supplemental agreement is to be segregated 
from the original agreement. 
 

III.  ASSIGNABILITY 
 

 
1. The CONSULTANT shall not assign any interest in this AGREEMENT and shall not 

transfer any interest in the same without the prior written consent of the CLIENT. 
Subconsultants designated as part of this AGREEMENT shall be deemed to be 
approved when this AGREEMENT is executed. 

 
IV. In all other aspects, the obligations of the CLIENT and CONSULTANT shall remain as 

specified in the Professional Services Agreement dated August 3, 2020.  
 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this agreement on the day and year 
written below. 
 
APPROVED FOR CLIENT  APPROVED FOR CONSULTANT. 
 
By:  By:  
 
 
Printed Name:  Printed Name:   Lindsay Beaman               
 
 
Title:  Title:        Business Unit Leader                       
 
 
Date:  Date:             March 31, 2021                                                              

243

Item 28.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Benjamin Claypool, Civil Engineer II, PhD, EI  
 
 DATE: March 26th, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: 2021 Street Construction 
  Project No. RC-000-3227 
  Bid Opening 
 
On Tuesday, March 23rd, 2021 at 2:00 p.m., bids were received and opened for the 
2021 Street Construction Project. A total of two (2) bids were received, with Peterson 
Contractors Inc (PCI) the low bidder: 
 

 Base Bid 

Engineering Estimate $4,345,182.75 

Peterson Contractors Inc $4,028,395.50 

K. Cunningham Construction Inc $4,042,531.05 

 
The Engineer's Estimate for this project was $4,345,182.75. Peterson Contractors Inc. 
of Reinbeck, Iowa submitted the low bid in the amount of $4,028,395.50. Attached is a 
bid tab for your reference. The project will be funded by Local Option Sales Tax, Street 
Construction Fund, GO 2020, Sanitary Sewer Rental Fund and Cedar Falls Utilities 
funding sources.  
 
We recommend acceptance of the lowest bid from Peterson Contractors Inc. in the 
amount of $4,028,395.50. On April 5th, 2021, the Contract, Bonds, and Insurance 
Certificate will be submitted for City Council approval. 
  
 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, City Engineer   
  

244

Item 29.



2021 Street Construction Project
Bid Tabulation

Owner: Cedar Falls IA, City of

03/23/2021 02:00 PM CDT

Line Item Item Code Item Description UofM Quantity Unit Price Extension Unit Price Extension Unit Price Extension

1 2010-108-C-0 CLEARING AND GRUBBING L.S. 1 $3,500.00 $3,500.00 $8,500.00 $8,500.00 $10,000.00 $10,000.00

2 2010-108-D-3 OFF-SITE TOPSOIL C.Y. 1117 $20.00 $22,340.00 $25.00 $27,925.00 $25.00 $27,925.00

3 2010-108-E-0 EXCAVATION, CLASS 10, ROADWAY, WASTE C.Y. 5488 $15.00 $82,320.00 $12.50 $68,600.00 $13.50 $74,088.00

4 2010-108-E-0 EXCAVATION , CLASS 12, BOULDERS C.Y. 25 $30.00 $750.00 $30.00 $750.00 $30.00 $750.00

5 2010-108-F-0 BELOW GRADE EXCAVATION (CORE OUT) C.Y. 520 $9.00 $4,680.00 $12.50 $6,500.00 $10.50 $5,460.00

6 2010-108-G-0 SUBGRADE PREPARATION STA. 33 $250.00 $8,250.00 $250.00 $8,250.00 $250.00 $8,250.00

7 2010-108-H-0 SUBGRADE TREATMENT, GEOGRID TENSAR TX-160 S.Y. 8707 $3.50 $30,474.50 $7.50 $65,302.50 $7.50 $65,302.50

8 2010-108-I-0 SUBBASE, MODIFIED, 6 IN. S.Y. 2253 $10.00 $22,530.00 $8.50 $19,150.50 $7.75 $17,460.75

9 2010-108-I-0 SUBBASE, MODIFIED, 12 IN. S.Y. 15568 $20.00 $311,360.00 $16.00 $249,088.00 $14.50 $225,736.00

10 3010-108-D-0 REPLACEMENT OF UNSUITABLE BACKFILL MATERIAL TONS 3210 $25.00 $80,250.00 $28.50 $91,485.00 $28.50 $91,485.00

11 4010-108-A-1 SANITARY SEWER GRAVITY MAIN, TRENCHED, 8" TRUSS PIPE L.F. 130 $80.00 $10,400.00 $175.00 $22,750.00 $175.00 $22,750.00

12 4010-108-A-1 SANITARY SEWER GRAVITY MAIN, TRENCHED, 12" TRUSS PIPE L.F. 72 $100.00 $7,200.00 $140.00 $10,080.00 $140.00 $10,080.00

13 4010-108-E-0 SANITARY SEWER SERVICE STUB, 4" SDR 23.5 L.F. 5 $100.00 $500.00 $250.00 $1,250.00 $250.00 $1,250.00

14 4010-108-H-1 REMOVAL SANITARY SEWER L.F. 202 $5.00 $1,010.00 $10.00 $2,020.00 $10.00 $2,020.00

15 4020-108-A-1 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 15 IN. HDPE L.F. 1106 $60.00 $66,360.00 $53.00 $58,618.00 $53.00 $58,618.00

16 4020-108-A-1 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 15 IN. RCP, 2000D L.F. 276 $65.00 $17,940.00 $75.00 $20,700.00 $75.00 $20,700.00

17 4020-108-A-1 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 18 IN. HDPE L.F. 175 $70.00 $12,250.00 $59.00 $10,325.00 $59.00 $10,325.00

18 4020-108-A-1 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 24 IN. HDPE  L.F. 289 $75.00 $21,675.00 $66.00 $19,074.00 $66.00 $19,074.00

19 4020-108-A-1 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 24 IN. R.C.P. 2000D L.F. 28 $80.00 $2,240.00 $87.00 $2,436.00 $87.00 $2,436.00

20 4020-108-A-1 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 30 IN. HDPE  L.F. 78 $100.00 $7,800.00 $93.00 $7,254.00 $93.00 $7,254.00

21 4020-108-A-1 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 36 IN. HDPE  L.F. 243 $120.00 $29,160.00 $94.00 $22,842.00 $94.00 $22,842.00

22 4020-211 SPECIAL PIPE CONNECTIONS, SW-211 EACH 2 $500.00 $1,000.00 $500.00 $1,000.00 $500.00 $1,000.00

23 4020-108-D-1 REMOVAL STORM SEWER PIPE LESS THAN OR EQUAL TO 36 IN. L.F. 4796 $15.00 $71,940.00 $8.00 $38,368.00 $8.00 $38,368.00

24 4040-108-A-0 SUBDRAIN, PERFORATED, 6 IN. L.F. 4040 $12.00 $48,480.00 $12.00 $48,480.00 $10.75 $43,430.00

25 4040-108-D-0 SUBDRAIN, OUTLET, 6 IN. C.M.P. EACH 22 $400.00 $8,800.00 $250.00 $5,500.00 $250.00 $5,500.00

26 4040-108-D-0 SUBDRAIN, SUMP PUMP TAP EACH 45 $400.00 $18,000.00 $325.00 $14,625.00 $325.00 $14,625.00

27 4040-108-A-0 FIELD TILE, 4 IN. TO 8 IN., FIELD REPAIR L.F. 40 $25.00 $1,000.00 $20.00 $800.00 $20.00 $800.00

28 5010-108-A-1 WATER MAIN, TRENCHED, 4" SJ DIP (POLYETHYLENE WRAPPED) L.F. 60 $60.00 $3,600.00 $65.00 $3,900.00 $65.00 $3,900.00

29 5010-108-A-1 WATER MAIN, TRENCHED, 6" SJ DIP (POLYETHYLENE WRAPPED) L.F. 40 $65.00 $2,600.00 $70.00 $2,800.00 $70.00 $2,800.00

30 5010-108-A-1 WATER MAIN, TRENCHED, 8" SJ DIP (POLYETHYLENE WRAPPED) L.F. 2460 $70.00 $172,200.00 $72.00 $177,120.00 $72.00 $177,120.00

31 5010-108-C-2 FITTINGS, DUCTILE IRON LBS. 5200 $15.00 $78,000.00 $10.00 $52,000.00 $5.00 $26,000.00

32 5010-108-D-0 SERVICE SHORTSIDE, 3/4" EACH 22 $1,250.00 $27,500.00 $1,750.00 $38,500.00 $1,750.00 $38,500.00

33 5010-108-D-0 SERVICE, LONGSIDE, 3/4" EACH 13 $2,600.00 $33,800.00 $2,500.00 $32,500.00 $2,100.00 $27,300.00

34 5010-108-D-0 SERVICE, SHORTSIDE, 2" EACH 1 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 $3,250.00 $3,250.00 $3,250.00 $3,250.00

35 5010-108-D-0 SERVICE, LONGSIDE, 2" EACH 1 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 $4,000.00 $4,000.00 $4,000.00 $4,000.00

36 5010-XX-1 MECHANICAL JOINT RESTRAINT, 4" EACH 12 $125.00 $1,500.00 $150.00 $1,800.00 $150.00 $1,800.00

37 5010-XX-1 MECHANICAL JOINT RESTRAINT, 6" EACH 12 $150.00 $1,800.00 $150.00 $1,800.00 $150.00 $1,800.00

38 5010-XX-1 MECHANICAL JOINT RESTRAINT, 8" EACH 24 $175.00 $4,200.00 $160.00 $3,840.00 $160.00 $3,840.00

39 5010-XX-2 JOINT RESTRAINT GASKET, 6" EACH 4 $225.00 $900.00 $150.00 $600.00 $150.00 $600.00

40 5010-XX-2 JOINT RESTRAINT GASKET, 8" EACH 37 $250.00 $9,250.00 $155.00 $5,735.00 $155.00 $5,735.00

41 5010-XX-3 8" NITRILE GASKETS EACH 66 $175.00 $11,550.00 $155.00 $10,230.00 $155.00 $10,230.00

42 5020-108-A-0 VALVE, 8" MJ GATE W/ BOX EACH 15 $2,200.00 $33,000.00 $2,350.00 $35,250.00 $2,350.00 $35,250.00

43 5020-108-C-0 FIRE HYDRANT ASSEMBLY EACH 6 $5,000.00 $30,000.00 $5,400.00 $32,400.00 $5,400.00 $32,400.00

44 5020-108-E-0 VALVE BOX ADJUSTMENT EACH 1 $500.00 $500.00 $500.00 $500.00 $300.00 $300.00

45 6010-108-A-0 MANHOLE, STORM SEWER, SW-401, 48" DIA. EACH 3 $4,000.00 $12,000.00 $4,000.00 $12,000.00 $4,000.00 $12,000.00

46 6010-108-A-0 MANHOLE, STORM SEWER, SW-401, 60" DIA. EACH 1 $4,500.00 $4,500.00 $4,850.00 $4,850.00 $4,850.00 $4,850.00

47 6010-108-A-0 MANHOLE, SANITARY SEWER, SW-301, 48" DIA. EACH 2 $6,000.00 $12,000.00 $6,250.00 $12,500.00 $6,250.00 $12,500.00

48 6010-108-B-0 INTAKE, SW-507 EACH 1 $5,600.00 $5,600.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00

49 6010-108-B-0 INTAKE, SW-508 EACH 1 $6,500.00 $6,500.00 $5,500.00 $5,500.00 $5,500.00 $5,500.00

50 6010-108-B-0 INTAKE, SW-510 EACH 1 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 $7,250.00 $7,250.00 $7,250.00 $7,250.00

51 6010-108-B-0 INTAKE, TYPE D EACH 19 $5,800.00 $110,200.00 $6,000.00 $114,000.00 $6,000.00 $114,000.00

52 6010-108-B-0 INTAKE, TYPE C TOP & INSERT EACH 5 $3,200.00 $16,000.00 $3,500.00 $17,500.00 $3,200.00 $16,000.00

53 6010-108-B-0 INTAKE, SINGLE FLAT INSERT EACH 2 $2,200.00 $4,400.00 $2,500.00 $5,000.00 $2,200.00 $4,400.00

54 6010-108-B-0 INTAKE, DOUBLE FLAT INSERT EACH 1 $3,200.00 $3,200.00 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 $2,500.00 $2,500.00

55 6010-108-B-0 INTAKE, TYPE B INSERT EACH 5 $2,000.00 $10,000.00 $2,250.00 $11,250.00 $1,800.00 $9,000.00

56 6010-108-B-0 INTAKE, TYPE D INSERT EACH 9 $2,600.00 $23,400.00 $2,750.00 $24,750.00 $2,500.00 $22,500.00

57 6010-108-B-0 INTAKE, RA-3 TOP & INSERT EACH 2 $3,200.00 $6,400.00 $2,500.00 $5,000.00 $1,800.00 $3,600.00

58 6010-108-B-0 INTAKE, RA-5 TOP & INSERT EACH 8 $3,700.00 $29,600.00 $2,500.00 $20,000.00 $2,000.00 $16,000.00

59 6010-108-E-0 MANHOLE, ADJUSTMENT, MINOR EACH 35 $1,500.00 $52,500.00 $1,500.00 $52,500.00 $2,850.00 $99,750.00

60 6010-108-F-0 MANHOLE ADJUSTMENT, MAJOR (MR. MANHOLE) EACH 14 $2,500.00 $35,000.00 $2,500.00 $35,000.00 $2,400.00 $33,600.00

61 6010-108-H-0 REMOVAL OF STORM MANHOLES AND INTAKES EACH 46 $1,000.00 $46,000.00 $500.00 $23,000.00 $500.00 $23,000.00

62 6010-108-H-0 REMOVAL OF SANITARY MANHOLES EACH 2 $1,500.00 $3,000.00 $800.00 $1,600.00 $800.00 $1,600.00

63 7010-108-A-0 PAVEMENT, STAND. OR SLIP-FORM, P.C.C., 7 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 10613 $50.00 $530,650.00 $42.00 $445,746.00 $41.65 $442,031.45

64 7010-108-A-0 PAVEMENT, STAND. OR SLIP-FORM, P.C.C., 9 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 5178 $65.00 $336,570.00 $55.00 $284,790.00 $54.85 $284,013.30

65 7010-108-E-0 CURB, PCC 7 IN. 2.0 FT WIDTH, TYPE "C" CLASS III L.F. 515 $50.00 $25,750.00 $30.50 $15,707.50 $30.25 $15,578.75

66 7010-108-E-0 CURB, PCC 7 IN. 2.5 FT WIDTH, TYPE "C" CLASS III L.F. 1105 $25.00 $27,625.00 $19.00 $20,995.00 $18.95 $20,939.75

67 7010-108-E-0 CURB, PCC 7 IN. 3.5 FT WIDTH, TYPE "C" CLASS III L.F. 76 $60.00 $4,560.00 $55.00 $4,180.00 $53.00 $4,028.00

68 7010-XX-1 3000 LB, PCC MIX C.Y. 7 $520.00 $3,640.00 $600.00 $4,200.00 $550.00 $3,850.00

69 7020-108-A-0 HMA, (ST), SURF., 1/2", PG58-28S TON 2686 $120.00 $322,320.00 $120.00 $322,320.00 $119.05 $319,768.30

70 7020-108-A-0 HMA, (ST), BASE, 3/4", PG58-28S TON 2686 $120.00 $322,320.00 $119.00 $319,634.00 $118.25 $317,619.50

71 7030-108-A-0 REMOVAL OF DRIVEWAY S.Y. 769 $9.00 $6,921.00 $8.00 $6,152.00 $8.00 $6,152.00

72 7030-108-A-0 REMOVAL OF SIDEWALK S.Y. 1131 $9.00 $10,179.00 $8.00 $9,048.00 $8.00 $9,048.00

73 7030-108-E-0 SIDEWALK, P.C.C., 4 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 1122 $45.00 $50,490.00 $43.00 $48,246.00 $48.00 $53,856.00

74 7030-108-E-0 SIDEWALK, P.C.C., 6 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 281 $60.00 $16,860.00 $51.00 $14,331.00 $98.00 $27,538.00

75 7030-108-G-0 DETECTABLE WARNINGS S.F. 482 $50.00 $24,100.00 $51.00 $24,582.00 $38.00 $18,316.00

76 7030-108-H-0 DRIVEWAY, P.C.C., 6 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 644 $50.00 $32,200.00 $48.00 $30,912.00 $62.25 $40,089.00

77 7030-108-H-2 GRANULAR SURFACING, 1-INCH ROADSTONE TONS 310 $35.00 $10,850.00 $30.00 $9,300.00 $24.75 $7,672.50

78 7040-108-A-0 PATCH, P.C.C., FULL DEPTH, "M" MIX S.Y. 34 $300.00 $10,200.00 $225.00 $7,650.00 $160.00 $5,440.00

79 7040-108-C-0 PATCH, PARTIAL DEPTH? HMA (ST) SURFACE, 1/2", PG58-28S TONS 20 $200.00 $4,000.00 $200.00 $4,000.00 $200.00 $4,000.00

80 7040-108-G-0 MILLING S.Y. 4674 $37.75 $176,443.50 $30.00 $140,220.00 $28.25 $132,040.50

81 7040-108-H-0 PAVEMENT REMOVAL, PCC S.Y. 15770 $7.00 $110,390.00 $6.50 $102,505.00 $5.90 $93,043.00

82 7040-108-H-0 PAVEMENT REMOVAL, ACC S.Y. 8891 $7.00 $62,237.00 $5.00 $44,455.00 $4.00 $35,564.00

83 7040-108-I-0 CURB AND GUTTER REMOVAL L.F. 1619 $12.00 $19,428.00 $10.00 $16,190.00 $15.00 $24,285.00

84 8010 REMOVAL OF TRAFFIC SIGNALIZATION LS 1 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 $7,500.00 $7,500.00 $6,000.00 $6,000.00

85 8020-108-B-0 PAINTED PAVEMENT MARKINGS, SOLVENT/WATERBORNE STA. 44 $45.00 $1,980.00 $100.00 $4,400.00 $80.00 $3,520.00

86 8020-108-G-0 PAINTED SYMBOLS AND LEGENDS EACH 18 $75.00 $1,350.00 $75.00 $1,350.00 $60.00 $1,080.00

87 8020 STOP SIGN(BLINKERSTOP) FLASHING WITH SOLAR LED L.S. 3 $3,000.00 $9,000.00 $2,500.00 $7,500.00 $2,800.00 $8,400.00

88 8020-XX-1 STREET SIGNS (SIGNS, POST, & RECIEVER) EACH 43 $500.00 $21,500.00 $250.00 $10,750.00 $245.00 $10,535.00

89 8030-108-A-0 TEMPORARY TRAFFIC CONTROL L.S. 1 $50,000.00 $50,000.00 $65,000.00 $65,000.00 $60,000.00 $60,000.00

90 9010-108-B-0 SEEDING, FERTILIZING AND MULCHING FOR HYDRAULIC SEEDING S.F. 6715 $0.85 $5,707.75 $0.30 $2,014.50 $0.25 $1,678.75

91 9020-108-A-0 SOD S.F. 53466 $1.00 $53,466.00 $0.75 $40,099.50 $0.80 $42,772.80

92 9040-108-A-2 STORMWATER POLLUTION PREVENTION PLAN (SWPPP), MANAGEMENT LS 1 $20,000.00 $20,000.00 $15,000.00 $15,000.00 $25,000.00 $25,000.00

93 9040-108-D-1A WATTLES, 9IN. STRAW L.F. 7008 $4.00 $28,032.00 $2.00 $14,016.00 $1.75 $12,264.00

94 9040-108-D-2A WATTLES, MAINTENANCE AND REMOVAL L.F. 7008 $0.50 $3,504.00 $0.50 $3,504.00 $0.40 $2,803.20

95 9040-108-T-1 INLET PROTECTION DEVICE, INSTALLATION EACH 85 $150.00 $12,750.00 $150.00 $12,750.00 $135.00 $11,475.00

96 9040-108-T-2 INLET PROTECTION DEVICE, MAINTENANCE EACH 85 $50.00 $4,250.00 $50.00 $4,250.00 $35.00 $2,975.00

97 11020-108-A-0 MOBILIZATION L.S. 1 $300,000.00 $300,000.00 $345,000.00 $345,000.00 $390,000.00 $390,000.00

98 11030-XX-1 MAILBOXES, RELOCATE & REINSTALL (PER POST) EACH 25 $500.00 $12,500.00 $500.00 $12,500.00 $550.00 $13,750.00

99 11050-108-A-0 CONCRETE WASHOUT LS 1 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 $10,000.00

$4,345,182.75 $4,028,395.50 $4,042,531.05

Engineer Estimate Peterson Contractors Inc K. Cunningham Const. Co.

245

Item 29.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council  
 
 FROM: Benjamin Claypool, Civil Engineer II, PhD, EI 
 
 DATE: March 26th, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: 2021 Street Construction Project 
  Project No. RC-000-3227 
  Contract Documents 
 
Attached for your approval are the Form of Contract; the Performance, Payment, and 
Maintenance Bonds; Certificates of Insurance; and Form of Proposal with Peterson 
Contractors, Inc for the construction of the 2021 Street Construction Project.  
 
The Department of Public Works recommends approving and executing the contract 
with Peterson Contractors, Inc. for the construction of the 2021 Street Construction 
Project. This project involves the full removal and replacement of four (4) streets and 
HMA restoration on nine (9) streets. In addition the project includes significant PCC 
patching to repair Millenium Drive.   
 
If you have any questions or comments feel free to contact me.  
 
 
xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, City Engineer 
  
  

 
 
 

246

Item 30.



247

Item 30.



248

Item 30.



249

Item 30.



250

Item 30.



251

Item 30.



252

Item 30.



253

Item 30.



254

Item 30.



255

Item 30.



256

Item 30.



257

Item 30.



258

Item 30.



259

Item 30.



260

Item 30.



261

Item 30.



262

Item 30.



263

Item 30.



264

Item 30.



265

Item 30.



266

Item 30.



267

Item 30.



Line Item Item Code Item Description Units Quantity Unit Price Extension

1 2010-108-C-0 CLEARING AND GRUBBING L.S. 1 $8,500.00 $8,500.00

2 2010-108-D-3 OFF-SITE TOPSOIL C.Y. 1117 $25.00 $27,925.00

3 2010-108-E-0 EXCAVATION, CLASS 10, ROADWAY, WASTE C.Y. 5488 $12.50 $68,600.00

4 2010-108-E-0 EXCAVATION , CLASS 12, BOULDERS C.Y. 25 $30.00 $750.00

5 2010-108-F-0 BELOW GRADE EXCAVATION (CORE OUT) C.Y. 520 $12.50 $6,500.00

6 2010-108-G-0 SUBGRADE PREPARATION STA. 33 $250.00 $8,250.00

7 2010-108-H-0 SUBGRADE TREATMENT, GEOGRID TENSAR TX-160 S.Y. 8707 $7.50 $65,302.50

8 2010-108-I-0 SUBBASE, MODIFIED, 6 IN. S.Y. 2253 $8.50 $19,150.50

9 2010-108-I-0 SUBBASE, MODIFIED, 12 IN. S.Y. 15568 $16.00 $249,088.00

10 3010-108-D-0 REPLACEMENT OF UNSUITABLE BACKFILL MATERIAL TONS 3210 $28.50 $91,485.00

11 4010-108-A-1 SANITARY SEWER GRAVITY MAIN, TRENCHED, 8" TRUSS PIPE L.F. 130 $175.00 $22,750.00

12 4010-108-A-1 SANITARY SEWER GRAVITY MAIN, TRENCHED, 12" TRUSS PIPE L.F. 72 $140.00 $10,080.00

13 4010-108-E-0 SANITARY SEWER SERVICE STUB, 4" SDR 23.5 L.F. 5 $250.00 $1,250.00

14 4010-108-H-1 REMOVAL SANITARY SEWER L.F. 202 $10.00 $2,020.00

15 4020-108-A-1 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 15 IN. HDPE L.F. 1106 $53.00 $58,618.00

16 4020-108-A-1 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 15 IN. RCP, 2000D L.F. 276 $75.00 $20,700.00

17 4020-108-A-1 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 18 IN. HDPE L.F. 175 $59.00 $10,325.00

18 4020-108-A-1 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 24 IN. HDPE  L.F. 289 $66.00 $19,074.00

19 4020-108-A-1 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 24 IN. R.C.P. 2000D L.F. 28 $87.00 $2,436.00

20 4020-108-A-1 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 30 IN. HDPE  L.F. 78 $93.00 $7,254.00

21 4020-108-A-1 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, 36 IN. HDPE  L.F. 243 $94.00 $22,842.00

22 4020-211 SPECIAL PIPE CONNECTIONS, SW-211 EACH 2 $500.00 $1,000.00

23 4020-108-D-1 REMOVAL STORM SEWER PIPE LESS THAN OR EQUAL TO 36 IN. L.F. 4796 $8.00 $38,368.00

24 4040-108-A-0 SUBDRAIN, PERFORATED, 6 IN. L.F. 4040 $12.00 $48,480.00

25 4040-108-D-0 SUBDRAIN, OUTLET, 6 IN. C.M.P. EACH 22 $250.00 $5,500.00

26 4040-108-D-0 SUBDRAIN, SUMP PUMP TAP EACH 45 $325.00 $14,625.00

27 4040-108-A-0 FIELD TILE, 4 IN. TO 8 IN., FIELD REPAIR L.F. 40 $20.00 $800.00

28 5010-108-A-1 WATER MAIN, TRENCHED, 4" SJ DIP (POLYETHYLENE WRAPPED) L.F. 60 $65.00 $3,900.00

29 5010-108-A-1 WATER MAIN, TRENCHED, 6" SJ DIP (POLYETHYLENE WRAPPED) L.F. 40 $70.00 $2,800.00

30 5010-108-A-1 WATER MAIN, TRENCHED, 8" SJ DIP (POLYETHYLENE WRAPPED) L.F. 2460 $72.00 $177,120.00

31 5010-108-C-2 FITTINGS, DUCTILE IRON LBS. 5200 $10.00 $52,000.00

32 5010-108-D-0 SERVICE SHORTSIDE, 3/4" EACH 22 $1,750.00 $38,500.00

33 5010-108-D-0 SERVICE, LONGSIDE, 3/4" EACH 13 $2,500.00 $32,500.00

34 5010-108-D-0 SERVICE, SHORTSIDE, 2" EACH 1 $3,250.00 $3,250.00

35 5010-108-D-0 SERVICE, LONGSIDE, 2" EACH 1 $4,000.00 $4,000.00

36 5010-XX-1 MECHANICAL JOINT RESTRAINT, 4" EACH 12 $150.00 $1,800.00

37 5010-XX-1 MECHANICAL JOINT RESTRAINT, 6" EACH 12 $150.00 $1,800.00

38 5010-XX-1 MECHANICAL JOINT RESTRAINT, 8" EACH 24 $160.00 $3,840.00

39 5010-XX-2 JOINT RESTRAINT GASKET, 6" EACH 4 $150.00 $600.00

40 5010-XX-2 JOINT RESTRAINT GASKET, 8" EACH 37 $155.00 $5,735.00

41 5010-XX-3 8" NITRILE GASKETS EACH 66 $155.00 $10,230.00

42 5020-108-A-0 VALVE, 8" MJ GATE W/ BOX EACH 15 $2,350.00 $35,250.00

43 5020-108-C-0 FIRE HYDRANT ASSEMBLY EACH 6 $5,400.00 $32,400.00

44 5020-108-E-0 VALVE BOX ADJUSTMENT EACH 1 $500.00 $500.00

45 6010-108-A-0 MANHOLE, STORM SEWER, SW-401, 48" DIA. EACH 3 $4,000.00 $12,000.00

46 6010-108-A-0 MANHOLE, STORM SEWER, SW-401, 60" DIA. EACH 1 $4,850.00 $4,850.00

47 6010-108-A-0 MANHOLE, SANITARY SEWER, SW-301, 48" DIA. EACH 2 $6,250.00 $12,500.00

48 6010-108-B-0 INTAKE, SW-507 EACH 1 $5,000.00 $5,000.00

49 6010-108-B-0 INTAKE, SW-508 EACH 1 $5,500.00 $5,500.00

50 6010-108-B-0 INTAKE, SW-510 EACH 1 $7,250.00 $7,250.00

51 6010-108-B-0 INTAKE, TYPE D EACH 19 $6,000.00 $114,000.00

52 6010-108-B-0 INTAKE, TYPE C TOP & INSERT EACH 5 $3,500.00 $17,500.00

53 6010-108-B-0 INTAKE, SINGLE FLAT INSERT EACH 2 $2,500.00 $5,000.00

54 6010-108-B-0 INTAKE, DOUBLE FLAT INSERT EACH 1 $3,000.00 $3,000.00

55 6010-108-B-0 INTAKE, TYPE B INSERT EACH 5 $2,250.00 $11,250.00

56 6010-108-B-0 INTAKE, TYPE D INSERT EACH 9 $2,750.00 $24,750.00

57 6010-108-B-0 INTAKE, RA-3 TOP & INSERT EACH 2 $2,500.00 $5,000.00

58 6010-108-B-0 INTAKE, RA-5 TOP & INSERT EACH 8 $2,500.00 $20,000.00

59 6010-108-E-0 MANHOLE, ADJUSTMENT, MINOR EACH 35 $1,500.00 $52,500.00

60 6010-108-F-0 MANHOLE ADJUSTMENT, MAJOR (MR. MANHOLE) EACH 14 $2,500.00 $35,000.00

61 6010-108-H-0 REMOVAL OF STORM MANHOLES AND INTAKES EACH 46 $500.00 $23,000.00

62 6010-108-H-0 REMOVAL OF SANITARY MANHOLES EACH 2 $800.00 $1,600.00

63 7010-108-A-0 PAVEMENT, STAND. OR SLIP-FORM, P.C.C., 7 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 10613 $42.00 $445,746.00

64 7010-108-A-0 PAVEMENT, STAND. OR SLIP-FORM, P.C.C., 9 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 5178 $55.00 $284,790.00

65 7010-108-E-0 CURB, PCC 7 IN. 2.0 FT WIDTH, TYPE "C" CLASS III L.F. 515 $30.50 $15,707.50

66 7010-108-E-0 CURB, PCC 7 IN. 2.5 FT WIDTH, TYPE "C" CLASS III L.F. 1105 $19.00 $20,995.00

67 7010-108-E-0 CURB, PCC 7 IN. 3.5 FT WIDTH, TYPE "C" CLASS III L.F. 76 $55.00 $4,180.00

68 7010-XX-1 3000 LB, PCC MIX C.Y. 7 $600.00 $4,200.00

69 7020-108-A-0 HMA, (ST), SURF., 1/2", PG58-28S TON 2686 $120.00 $322,320.00

70 7020-108-A-0 HMA, (ST), BASE, 3/4", PG58-28S TON 2686 $119.00 $319,634.00

71 7030-108-A-0 REMOVAL OF DRIVEWAY S.Y. 769 $8.00 $6,152.00

72 7030-108-A-0 REMOVAL OF SIDEWALK S.Y. 1131 $8.00 $9,048.00

73 7030-108-E-0 SIDEWALK, P.C.C., 4 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 1122 $43.00 $48,246.00

74 7030-108-E-0 SIDEWALK, P.C.C., 6 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 281 $51.00 $14,331.00

75 7030-108-G-0 DETECTABLE WARNINGS S.F. 482 $51.00 $24,582.00

76 7030-108-H-0 DRIVEWAY, P.C.C., 6 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 644 $48.00 $30,912.00

77 7030-108-H-2 GRANULAR SURFACING, 1-INCH ROADSTONE TONS 310 $30.00 $9,300.00

78 7040-108-A-0 PATCH, P.C.C., FULL DEPTH, "M" MIX S.Y. 34 $225.00 $7,650.00

79 7040-108-C-0 PATCH, PARTIAL DEPTH? HMA (ST) SURFACE, 1/2", PG58-28S TONS 20 $200.00 $4,000.00

Peterson Contractors Inc

2021 Street Construction Project (#7622150)

Owner: Cedar Falls IA, City of

Solicitor: Cedar Falls IA, City of

03/23/2021 02:00 PM CDT

Base Bid

268

Item 30.



80 7040-108-G-0 MILLING S.Y. 4674 $30.00 $140,220.00

81 7040-108-H-0 PAVEMENT REMOVAL, PCC S.Y. 15770 $6.50 $102,505.00

82 7040-108-H-0 PAVEMENT REMOVAL, ACC S.Y. 8891 $5.00 $44,455.00

83 7040-108-I-0 CURB AND GUTTER REMOVAL L.F. 1619 $10.00 $16,190.00

84 8010 REMOVAL OF TRAFFIC SIGNALIZATION LS 1 $7,500.00 $7,500.00

85 8020-108-B-0 PAINTED PAVEMENT MARKINGS, SOLVENT/WATERBORNE STA. 44 $100.00 $4,400.00

86 8020-108-G-0 PAINTED SYMBOLS AND LEGENDS EACH 18 $75.00 $1,350.00

87 8020 STOP SIGN(BLINKERSTOP) FLASHING WITH SOLAR LED L.S. 3 $2,500.00 $7,500.00

88 8020-XX-1 STREET SIGNS (SIGNS, POST, & RECIEVER) EACH 43 $250.00 $10,750.00

89 8030-108-A-0 TEMPORARY TRAFFIC CONTROL L.S. 1 $65,000.00 $65,000.00

90 9010-108-B-0 SEEDING, FERTILIZING AND MULCHING FOR HYDRAULIC SEEDING S.F. 6715 $0.30 $2,014.50

91 9020-108-A-0 SOD S.F. 53466 $0.75 $40,099.50

92 9040-108-A-2 STORMWATER POLLUTION PREVENTION PLAN (SWPPP), MANAGEMENT LS 1 $15,000.00 $15,000.00

93 9040-108-D-1A WATTLES, 9IN. STRAW L.F. 7008 $2.00 $14,016.00

94 9040-108-D-2A WATTLES, MAINTENANCE AND REMOVAL L.F. 7008 $0.50 $3,504.00

95 9040-108-T-1 INLET PROTECTION DEVICE, INSTALLATION EACH 85 $150.00 $12,750.00

96 9040-108-T-2 INLET PROTECTION DEVICE, MAINTENANCE EACH 85 $50.00 $4,250.00

97 11020-108-A-0 MOBILIZATION L.S. 1 $345,000.00 $345,000.00

98 11030-XX-1 MAILBOXES, RELOCATE & REINSTALL (PER POST) EACH 25 $500.00 $12,500.00

99 11050-108-A-0 CONCRETE WASHOUT LS 1 $10,000.00 $10,000.00

Base Bid Total: $4,028,395.50

269

Item 30.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: March 31, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: 2021 Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation 
  Project No. SA-000-3253 
  Contract Documents 
 
Attached for your approval are the Form of Contract, the Performance, Payment, and 
Maintenance Bonds, Certificates of Insurance with Municipal Pipe Tool Co., LLC for the 
construction of the 2021 Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation Project.  
 
The Department of Public Works recommends approving and executing the contract 
with Municipal Pipe for the construction of the 2021 Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation 
Project. This project will provide lining of existing pipes within the sewer network and 
associated connections.  
 
If you have any questions or comments feel free to contact me.  
 
 
xc:  Chase Schrage,  Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
  
 
 
 
 

270

Item 31.



271

Item 31.



272

Item 31.



273

Item 31.



274

Item 31.



275

Item 31.



276

Item 31.



277

Item 31.



278

Item 31.



279

Item 31.



280

Item 31.



281

Item 31.



282

Item 31.



283

Item 31.



284

Item 31.



285

Item 31.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: March 31st, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: Prairie Winds 5th Addition 
  Final Acceptance of Improvements 
  Project No. SU-196-3161 
 
 
Construction work has been completed on the public improvements in the Prairie Winds 
5th Addition. The project was designed by Clapsaddle-Garber Associates, Inc. and has 
been completed in accordance with the project plans and the City of Cedar Falls 
Standard Specifications. The project was inspected by the City of Cedar Falls 
Engineering Division. 
 
The Engineering Division has reviewed and approved the project plans and 
specifications, inspected the project through the construction process; and has received 
and reviewed the project reports and certifications. The project documentation is in 
order and the project is complete and ready for City Council acceptance. Attached are 
copies of the Maintenance Bond from the developer, Panther Farms, LLC, and the Final 
Plat for the Prairie Winds 5th Addition. 
 
The Prairie Winds 5th Addition has been constructed in reasonable compliance with the 
project plans and specifications. The Engineering Division recommends that the City 
Council approve and accept the public improvements for the Prairie Winds 5th Addition.  
 
 
__________________________________________March 31, 2021       __ 
Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II                    Date 
 
 
 
xc:   Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works  
  David Wicke, P.E., City Engineer 

286

Item 32.



287

Item 32.



288

Item 32.



289

Item 32.



290

Item 32.



291

Item 32.



292

Item 32.



293

Item 32.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: March 31st, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: Professional Services Agreement 
  AECOM Technical Services, Inc. 
   2021 Survey Services 
   MC-000-3282 
 
Please find attached the Professional Services Agreement with AECOM Technical 
Services that outlines the scope of services and costs for 2021 Survey Services. The 
enclosed agreement provides for construction survey for ongoing construction projects 
and allows for other professional land surveying services which may be required on an 
“as needed” basis.  
 
The City of Cedar Falls’ Land Surveyor will be resigning April 15th, 2021. At the time of 
his departure, the City will require professional land surveying services while the City 
seeks out candidates to fill the vacant position. The length of this transition is unknown 
and it is important for the completion of current construction projects and the 
development and design of future projects that the City has access to professional land 
surveying services. It was previously estimated that the Land Surveyor position provides 
approximately $15,000 a month in survey services. This agreement with AECOM falls in 
line with that estimate of rates and is intended to cover the next three to four months, 
but could be extended if needed. 
 
The Department of Public Works requests your consideration and approval of this 
Professional Services Agreement with AECOM for “on-call” surveying services. 
 
If you have any questions or comments feel free to contact me.  
 
 
xc:  David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 

294

Item 33.



 
 
 
 

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

 OPERATIONS & MAINTENANCE DIVISION 
2200 TECHNOLOGY PKWY 
319-273-8629 
FAX 319-273-8632 
 
 

ENGINEERING DIVISION 
220 CLAY STREET 
319-268-5161 
FAX 319-268-5197 
  
  
  
     
 
 

WATER RECLAMATION DIVISION 
501 E. 4TH STREET 
319-273-8633 
FAX 319-268-5566 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICE AGREEMENT 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
2021 SURVEY SERVICES 

CITY PROJECT NUMBER:  MC-000-3282 
 

  
This Agreement is made and entered by and between AECOM Technical Services, Inc., a California 
corporation, hereinafter referred to as “CONSULTANT" and City of Cedar Falls, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, 
Iowa, hereinafter referred to as "CLIENT.” 
 
IN CONSIDERATION of the covenants hereinafter set forth, the parties hereto mutually agree as follows: 
 
I.  SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 
 CONSULTANT shall perform professional Services (the "Services") in connection with CLIENT's 

facilities in accordance with the Scope of Services set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto. 
 
II.  CONSULTANT'S RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
 CONSULTANT shall, subject to the terms and provisions of this Agreement: 
  
 (a) Appoint one or more individuals who shall be authorized to act on behalf of CONSULTANT 

and with whom CLIENT may consult at all reasonable times, and whose instructions, 
requests, and decisions will be binding upon CONSULTANT as to all matters pertaining to 
this Agreement and the performance of the parties hereunder. 

 
 (b) Use all reasonable efforts to complete the Services within the time period mutually agreed 

upon, except for reasons beyond its control, as set forth in Exhibit A. 
 
 (c) Perform the Services in accordance with generally accepted professional engineering 

standards in existence at the time of performance of the Services. If during the two year 
period following the completion of Services, it is shown that there is an error in the Services 
solely as a result of CONSULTANT's failure to meet these standards, CONSULTANT shall 
re-perform such substandard Services as may be necessary to remedy such error at no cost 
to CLIENT. Since CONSULTANT has no control over local conditions, the cost of labor and 
materials, or over competitive bidding and market conditions, CONSULTANT does not 
guarantee the accuracy of any construction cost estimates as compared to contractor's bids 
or the actual cost to the CLIENT. CONSULTANT makes no other warranties either express 
or implied and the parties’ rights, liabilities, responsibilities and remedies with respect to the 
quality of Services, including claims alleging negligence, breach of warranty and breach of 
contract, shall be exclusively those set forth herein. 

 
 (d) CONSULTANT shall, if requested in writing by CLIENT, for the protection of CLIENT, require 

from all vendors and subcontractors from which CONSULTANT procures equipment, 

295

Item 33.



materials or services for the project, guarantees with respect to such equipment, materials 
and services. All such guarantees shall be made available to CLIENT to the full extent of the 
terms thereof. CONSULTANT's liability with respect to such equipment, and materials 
obtained from vendors or services from subcontractors, shall be limited to procuring 
guarantees from such vendors or subcontractors and rendering all reasonable assistance to 
CLIENT for the purpose of enforcing the same. 

 
(e) CONSULTANT will be providing estimates of costs to the CLIENT covering an extended 

period of time. CONSULTANT does not have control over any such costs, including, but not 
limited to, costs of labor, material, equipment or services furnished by others or over 
competitive bidding, marketing or negotiating conditions, or construction contractors’ 
methods of determining their prices. Accordingly, it is acknowledged and understood that any 
estimates, projections or opinions of probable project costs provided herein by 
CONSULTANT are estimates only, made on the basis of CONSULTANT’s experience and 
represent CONSULTANT’s reasonable judgment as a qualified professional. CONSULTANT 
does not guarantee that proposals, bids or actual project costs will not vary from the opinions 
of probable costs prepared by CONSULTANT, and the CLIENT waives any and all claims 
that it may have against CONSULTANT as a result of any such variance.  

 
III. CLIENT’S RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
 CLIENT shall at such times as may be required for the successful and expeditious completion of the 

Services: 
 
 (a) Provide all criteria and information as to CLIENT’s requirements; obtain all necessary 

approvals and permits required from all governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the 
project; and designate a person with authority to act on CLIENT’s behalf on all matters 
concerning the Services. 

  
 (b) Furnish to CONSULTANT all existing studies, reports and other available data pertinent to 

the Services, and obtain additional reports, data and services as may be required for the 
project. CONSULTANT shall be entitled to rely upon all such information, data and the results 
of such other services in performing its Services hereunder. 

 
IV. INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CONTRACTORS FOR THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
  

The provisions of the document entitled, "Insurance Requirements for Contractors for the City of 
Cedar Falls," dated December 13, 2011 as revised January 31, 2017 consisting of 11 pages, which 
are attached hereto, marked Exhibit B, are hereby made a part of this Agreement as if set out word 
for word herein. 
  
CONSULTANT shall furnish to CLIENT a certificate or certificates of insurance containing all 
coverages, endorsements and other provisions required by the Insurance Requirements set forth 
in Exhibit B. In the event of any conflict between the provisions of Exhibit B and the other terms of 
this Agreement, the provisions of Exhibit B shall control. 
 

 CONSULTANT shall obtain and maintain an insurance policy or policies that meet the provisions 
set out in the Insurance Requirements for Contractors for the City of Cedar Falls, attached hereto 
and marked Exhibit B. 

 
V. STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR CONTRACTS BETWEEN CONTRACTORS WHO 

PERFORM PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AND THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
 
 The provisions of the documents entitled “Standard Terms and Conditions for Contracts Between 

Contractors Who Perform Professional Services and the City of Cedar Falls,” consisting of two 
pages are incorporated into this Agreement by the Client and attached as Exhibit C. 

296

Item 33.



 
VI. COMPENSATION AND TERMS OF PAYMENT 
 
 Compensation for the services shall be on an hourly basis in accordance with the hourly fees and 

other direct expenses in effect at the time the services are performed.  Total compensation is a not-
to-exceed fee of Sixty Thousand Dollars ($60,000.00) and will not be exceeded without 
authorization from the Client. 
 
CONSULTANT may bill the CLIENT monthly for services completed at the time of billing. CLIENT 
agrees to pay CONSULTANT the full amount of such invoice within thirty (30) days after receipt 
thereof. In the event CLIENT disputes any invoice item, CLIENT shall give CONSULTANT written 
notice of such disputed item within ten (10) days after receipt of invoice and shall pay to 
CONSULTANT the undisputed portion of the invoice according to the provisions hereof. CLIENT 
agrees to abide by any applicable statutory prompt pay provisions currently in effect. 

 
VII. TERMINATION 
 
 CLIENT may, with or without cause, terminate the Services at any time upon fourteen (14) days 

written notice to CONSULTANT. The obligation to provide further Services under this Agreement may 
be terminated by either party upon fourteen (14) days' written notice in the event of substantial failure 
by the other party to perform in accordance with the terms hereof through no fault of the terminating 
party, providing such defaulting party has not cured such failure, or, in the event of a non-monetary 
default, commenced reasonable actions to cure such failure. In either case, CONSULTANT will be 
paid for all expenses incurred and Services rendered to the date of the termination in accordance 
with compensation terms of Article VI. 

 
VIII. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS 
 

(a) Sealed original drawings, specifications, final project specific calculations and other 
instruments of service which CONSULTANT prepares and delivers to CLIENT pursuant to 
this Agreement shall become the property of CLIENT when CONSULTANT has been 
compensated for Services rendered. CLIENT shall have the right to use such instruments of 
service solely for the purpose of the construction, operation and maintenance of the Facilities. 
Nothing contained in this paragraph shall be construed as limiting or depriving 
CONSULTANT of its rights to use its basic knowledge and skills to design or carry out other 
projects or work for itself or others, whether or not such other projects or work are similar to 
the work to be performed pursuant to this Agreement.  CONSULTANT shall not be liable for 
any unauthorized reuse of modification of its work product. 

 
(b) Any files delivered in electronic medium may not work on systems and software different than 

those with which they were originally produced and CONSULTANT makes no warranty as to 
the compatibility of these files with any other system or software. Because of the potential 
degradation of electronic medium over time, in the event of a conflict between the sealed 
original drawings and the electronic files, the sealed drawings will govern. 

 
IX. MEANS AND METHODS 
 

(a) CONSULTANT shall not have control or charge of and shall not be responsible for 
construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures, or for safety measures 
and programs including enforcement of Federal and State safety requirements, in connection 
with construction work performed by CLIENT's construction contractors. Nor shall 
CONSULTANT be responsible for the supervision of CLIENT's construction contractors, 
subcontractors or of any of their employees, agents and representatives of such contractors; 
or for inspecting machinery, construction equipment and tools used and employed by 
contractors and subcontractors on CLIENT's construction projects and shall not have the 
right to stop or reject work without the thorough evaluation and approval of the CLIENT. In 

297

Item 33.



no event shall CONSULTANT be liable for the acts or omissions of CLIENT's construction 
contractors, subcontractors or any persons or entities performing any of the construction 
work, or for the failure of any of them to carry out construction work under contracts with 
CLIENT. 

 
X. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 
 
 CONSULTANT shall be an independent contractor with respect to the Services to be performed 

hereunder. Neither CONSULTANT nor its subcontractors, nor the employees of either, shall be 
deemed to be the servants, employees, or agents of CLIENT. 

 
XI. PRE-EXISTING CONDITIONS 
 
 Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, CONSULTANT shall have no legal responsibility or 

liability for any and all pre-existing contamination. "Pre-existing contamination" is any hazardous or 
toxic substance present at the site or sites concerned which was not brought onto such site or sites 
by CONSULTANT. CLIENT agrees to release CONSULTANT from and against any and all liability 
to the CLIENT which may in any manner arise in any way directly or indirectly caused by such pre-
existing contamination except if such liability arises from CONSULTANT's sole negligence or willful 
misconduct. 

 
 CLIENT shall, at CLIENT’s sole expense and risk, arrange for handling, storage, transportation, 

treatment and delivery for disposal of pre-existing contamination. CLIENT shall be solely responsible 
for obtaining a disposal site for such material. CLIENT shall look to the disposal facility and/or 
transporter for any responsibility or liability arising from improper disposal or transportation of such 
waste. CONSULTANT shall not have or exert any control over CLIENT in CLIENT’s obligations or 
responsibilities as a generator in the storage, transportation, treatment or disposal of any pre-existing 
contamination. CLIENT shall complete and execute any governmentally required forms relating to 
regulated activities including, but not limited to generation, storage, handling, treatment, 
transportation, or disposal of pre-existing contamination.  

 
 For CONSULTANT's Services requiring drilling, boring, excavation or soils sampling, CLIENT shall 

approve selection of the contractors to perform such services, all site locations, and provide 
CONSULTANT with all necessary information regarding the presence of underground hazards, 
utilities, structures and conditions at the site.  
 

XII. DISPUTE RESOLUTION 
 
 If a dispute arises out of, or relates to, the breach of this Agreement and if the dispute cannot be 

settled through negotiation, then the CONSULTANT and the CLIENT agree to submit the dispute to 
mediation. In the event CONSULTANT or the CLIENT desires to mediate any dispute, that party shall 
notify the other party in writing of the dispute desired to be mediated. If the parties are unable to 
resolve their differences within 10 days of the receipt of such notice, such dispute shall be submitted 
for mediation in accordance with the procedures and rules of the American Arbitration Association (or 
any successor organization) then in effect. The deadline for submitting the dispute to mediation can 
be changed if the parties mutually agree in writing to extend the time between receipt of notice and 
submission to mediation. The expenses of the mediator shall be shared 50 percent by CONSULTANT 
and 50 percent by the CLIENT. This requirement to seek mediation shall be a condition required 
before filing an action at law or in equity. However, prior to or during the negotiations or the mediation 
either party may initiate litigation that would otherwise be barred by a statute of limitations, and 
CONSULTANT may pursue any property liens or other rights it may have to obtain security for the 
payment of its invoices. 

 

298

Item 33.



299

Item 33.



CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
2021 SURVEY SERVICES 

CITY PROJECT NUMBER:  MC-000-3282 
EXHIBIT A 

 
Project Description 
 
The project includes on-call survey as requested by the Client.  Anticipated requests include construction 
staking on current City projects, including the 2021 Permeable Alley Project, 2021 Public Sidewalk Repair 
and Infill Project, and the 2021 Street Reconstruction Project (requiring 48-hour advance notice).  On-call 
survey may also include land surveys, including possible plats of survey, and design surveys, as requested 
by the Client. 
 
Scope of Services 
 
The Scope of Services will encompass and include services, materials, equipment, personnel and supplies 
necessary to provide construction staking (requiring 48-hour advance notice), land surveys, including plats 
of survey and design survey, as requested by the Client.  For this on-call survey services agreement, it was 
assumed approximately 600 hours of survey services could be requested, as needed, by the Client. 
 

300

Item 33.



    
EXHIBIT B 

 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

2021 SURVEY SERVICES 
CITY PROJECT NUMBER:  MC-000-3282 

 
  Original12/13/11 

Revision 01/31/2017 
 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR 
CONTRACTORS FOR THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

 
*** This document outlines the insurance requirements for all Contractors who perform work for the City of 
Cedar Falls. The term “contractor” as used in this document shall be defined as the general contractor, 
artisan contractor, or design contractor that will be performing work for the City of Cedar Falls under 
contract. 
 
1.  All policies of insurance required hereunder shall be with an insurer authorized by law to do 
business in Iowa.  All insurance policies shall be companies satisfactory to the City and have a rating of 
A-, VII or better in the current A.M. Best Rating Guide.   
 
2. All Certificates of Insurance required hereunder shall include the Cancellation & Material Change 
Endorsement.  A copy of this endorsement is attached in Exhibit 1. 
 
3.  Contractor shall furnish a signed Certificate of Insurance to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa for the 
coverage required in Exhibit 1.  Such Certificates shall include copies of the following endorsements: 
 

a) Commercial General Liability policy is primary and non-contributing 
b) Commercial General Liability additional insured endorsement – See Exhibit 1 
c) Governmental Immunities Endorsement – See Exhibit 1 

 
Copies of additional insured endorsements, executed by an authorized representative from an Insurer 
duly authorized to transact business at the location of the jobsite, must be provided prior to the first 
payment.    
 
Contractor shall, upon request by the City, provide Certificates of Insurance for all subcontractors and 
sub-sub contractors who perform work or services pursuant to the provisions of this contract. 
 
4. Each certificate shall be submitted to the City of Cedar Falls. 
 
5. Failure to provide minimum coverage shall not be deemed a waiver of these requirements by the 
City of Cedar Falls. Failure to obtain or maintain the required insurance shall be considered a material 
breach of this agreement.   
 
6. Failure of the Contractor to maintain the required insurance shall constitute a default under this 
Contract, and at City’s option, shall allow City to terminate this Contract for cause and/or purchase said 
insurance at Contractor’s expense. 
 
7. Contractor shall be required to carry the following minimum coverage/limits or greater, if required 
by law or other legal agreement; as per Exhibit 1: 
 

 This coverage shall be written on an occurrence, not claims made form. All deviations or 
exclusions from the standard ISO commercial general liability form CG 001 shall be clearly 
identified and shall be subject to the review and approval of the City.  

301

Item 33.



 
 Contractor shall maintain ongoing CGL coverage for at least 2 years following substantial 

completion of the Work to cover liability arising from the products-completed operations hazard 
and liability assumed under an insured contract.    

 
 Governmental Immunity endorsement identical or equivalent to form attached. 

 
 Additional Insured Requirement – See Exhibit 1. 

 
The City of Cedar Falls, including all its elected and appointed officials, all its employees, its 
boards, commissions and/or authorities and their board members, employees shall be named as 
an additional insured on General Liability Policies for all classes of contractors. 
 
Contractors shall include coverage for the City of Cedar Falls as an additional insured including 
ongoing and completed operations coverage equivalent to: ISO CG 20 10 07 04* and ISO CG 20 
37 07 04** 
 

*  ISO CG 20 10 07 04 “Additional Insured – Owners, Lessees or Contractors – 
Scheduled Person or Organization” 

  
 ** ISO CG 20 37 07 04 “Additional Insured – Owners, Lessees or Contractors – 

Completed Operations”  
 
8. Errors & Omissions:  If the contract’s scope of services includes design work or other professional 
services, then Contractor shall maintain insurance coverage for errors, omissions and other negligent 
acts or omissions (except for intentional acts or omissions), arising out of the professional services 
performed by Contractor. Contractor shall maintain continuous Errors & Omissions coverage for a period 
commencing no later than the date of the contract, and continuing for a period of no less than 2 years 
from the date of completion of all work completed or services performed under the contract.  The limit of 
liability shall not be less than $1,000,000. 
 
9. Separation of Insured’s Provision: If Contractor’s liability policies do not contain the standard ISO 
separation of insured’s provision, or a substantially similar clause, they shall be endorsed to provide 
cross-liability coverage. 
 
10. Limits: By requiring the insurance as set out in this Contract, City does not represent that 
coverage and limits will necessarily be adequate to protect Contractor and such coverage and limits shall 
not be deemed as a limitation on Contractor’s liability under the indemnities provided to City in this 
Contract.  The City will have the right at any time to require liability insurance greater than that otherwise 
specified in Exhibit 1. If required, the additional premium or premiums payable shall be added to the bid 
price. 
 
11. Indemnification (Hold Harmless) Provision:  To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Contractor 
agrees to defend (for all non-professional claims), indemnify, and hold harmless the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa, its elected and appointed officials, directors, employees, and agents working on behalf of the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa against any and all claims, demands, suits or loss, including any and all outlay and 
expense connected therewith, and for damages which may be asserted, claimed or recovered against or 
from the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, its elected and appointed officials, directors, employees, and agents 
working on behalf of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including, but not limited to, damages arising by reason 
of personal injury, including bodily injury or death, and property damages, which arises out of or is in any 
way connected or associated with the work and/or services provided by the Contractor to the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa pursuant to the provisions of this contract to the extent arising out of the errors, 
omissions or negligent acts of the Contractor, its agents, employees, subcontractors or others working on 
behalf of the Contractor.  It is the intention of the parties that the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, its elected and 
appointed officials, directors, employees, and agents working on behalf of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
shall not be liable or in any way responsible for the injury, damage, liability, loss or expense incurred by 

302

Item 33.



the Contractor, its officers, employees, subcontractors, and others affiliated with the Contractor due to 
accidents, mishaps, misconduct, negligence or injuries either in person or property resulting from the work 
and/or services performed by the Contractor pursuant to the provisions of this contract, except for and to 
the extent caused by the negligence of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa.   
 
The Contractor expressly assumes full responsibility for damages or injuries which may result to any 
person or property by reason of or in connection with the work and/or services provided by the Contractor 
to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa pursuant to this contract to the extent arising out of the errors, omissions 
or negligent acts of the Contractor, its agents, employees, subcontractors or others working on behalf of 
the Contractor, and agrees to pay the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa for all damages caused to the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa premises resulting from the work and/or services of the Contractor, its officers, 
employees, subcontractors, and others affiliated with the Contractor to the extent arising out of such 
errors, omissions or negligent acts. 
 
The Contractor represents that its activities pursuant to the provisions of this contract will be performed 
and supervised by adequately trained and qualified personnel, and the Contractor will observe, and cause 
its officers, employees, subcontractors and others affiliated with the Contractor to observe all applicable 
safety rules. 
 
12. Waiver of Subrogation: To the extent permitted by law, Contractor hereby releases the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa, its elected and appointed officials, its directors, employees, and agents working on 
behalf of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, from and against any and all liability or responsibility to the 
Contractor or anyone claiming through or under the Contractor by way of subrogation or otherwise, for 
any loss or damage to property caused by fire or any other casualty and for any loss due to bodily injury 
to Contractor’s employees. This provision shall be applicable and in full force and effect only with respect 
to loss or damage occurring during the time of this contract or arising out of the work performed under this 
contract. The Contractor’s policies of insurance (except for Professional Liability) shall contain a clause or 
endorsement to the effect that such release shall not adversely affect or impair such policies or prejudice 
the right of the Contractor to recover thereunder. 
 

Completion Checklist 
 

 Certificate of Liability Insurance (2 pages) 
 Additional Insured CG 20 10 07 04 
 Additional Insured CG 20 37 07 04 
 Governmental Immunities Endorsement 

 
  

303

Item 33.



EXHIBIT 1 – INSURANCE SCHEDULE 
 
 
General Liability (Occurrence Form Only): 
 Commercial General Liability 
  General Aggregate  $2,000,000 
  Products-Completed Operations Aggregate Limit $2,000,000 
  Personal and Advertising Injury Limit $1,000,000 
  Each Occurrence Limit  $1,000,000 
  Fire Damage Limit (any one occurrence) $     50,000 
  Medical Payments  $       5,000 

  
Automobile: (Combined Single Limit)     $1,000,000
 
 
 
                   
 
 
 
   
If the Contractor does not own any vehicles, coverage is required on non-owned and hired vehicles. 
 
 
Standard Workers Compensation  
 Statutory for Coverage A 
 Employers Liability:  
 Each Accident $  500,000 
 Each Employee – Disease $  500,000 
 Policy Limit – Disease $  500,000 
 
 
Umbrella:  $3,000,000 
The Umbrella/Excess Insurance shall be written on a per occurrence basis and if the Umbrella/Excess is 
not written on a follow form basis it shall have the same endorsements as required of the primary 
policy(ies). 
 
 
Errors & Omissions: $1,000,000 

 
 

  

304

Item 33.



City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
ADDITIONAL INSURED ENDORSEMENT 

 
The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including all its elected and appointed officials, all its employees, its 
boards, commissions and/or authorities and their board members, employees, are included as Additional 
Insureds, including ongoing operations CG 2010 07 04 or equivalent, and completed operations CG 
2037 07 04 or equivalent. See Specimens. 
 
This coverage shall be primary to the Additional Insureds, and not contributing with any other insurance 
or similar protection available to the Additional Insureds, whether other available coverage be primary, 
contributing or excess. 

 
 

GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITIES ENDORSEMENT 
(For use when including the City as an Additional Insured) 

 
1. Nonwaiver of Government Immunity. The insurance carrier expressly agrees and states that the 
purchase of this policy and the including of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa as an Additional Insured does 
not waive any of the defenses of governmental immunity available to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa under 
Code of Iowa Section 670.4 as it now exists and as it may be amended from time to time. 
 
2. Claims Coverage. The insurance carrier further agrees that this policy of insurance shall cover 
only those claims not subject to the defense of governmental immunity under the Code of Iowa Section 
670.4 as it now exists and as it may be amended from time to time. 
 
3. Assertion of Government Immunity. The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa shall be responsible for 
asserting any defense of governmental immunity, and may do so at any time and shall do so upon the 
timely written request of the insurance carrier. Nothing contained in this endorsement shall prevent the 
carrier from asserting the defense of governmental immunity on behalf of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 
4. Non-Denial of Coverage. The insurance carrier shall not deny coverage under this policy and the 
insurance carrier shall not deny any of the rights and benefits accruing to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
under this policy for reasons of governmental immunity unless and until a court of competent jurisdiction 
has ruled in favor of the defense(s) of governmental immunity asserted by the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 
5. No Other Change in Policy. The insurance carrier and the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa agree that the 
above preservation of governmental immunities shall not otherwise change or alter the coverage 
available under the policy. 

cancellation and material changes endorsement 
 
Thirty (30) days Advance Written Notice of Cancellation, Non-Renewal, Reduction in 
coverage and/or limits and ten (10) days written notice of non-payment of premium shall 
be sent to: Risk Management Office, City of Cedar Falls, City Hall, 220 Clay Street, 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613. This endorsement supersedes the standard cancellation 
statement on the Certificate of Insurance to which this endorsement is attached.  
Contractor agrees to furnish the City with 30 days advance written notice of 
cancellation, non-renewal, reduction in coverage and/or limits, and 10 days advance 
written notice of non-payment of premium. 
 
  

305

Item 33.



 

 

306

Item 33.



  

307

Item 33.



 

308

Item 33.



  

309

Item 33.



EXHIBIT C 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
2021 SURVEY SERVICES 

CITY PROJECT NUMBER:  MC-000-3282 
 

  2/9/12 
 

STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR CONTRACTS BETWEEN CONTRACTORS WHO 
PERFORM PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AND THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

 
 This document outlines the Standard Terms and Conditions for all Contractors who perform work 
or services for the City of Cedar Falls under a contract.  The term, “Contractor,” as used in this document, 
includes an engineer, an architect, and any other design professional providing professional services to 
the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, under a contract (but excludes construction contractors). 
 
 1. This Contract may not be modified or amended except by a writing signed by an 
authorized representative of the City of Cedar Falls and of the Contractor. 
 
 2. Time is of the essence of this Contract. 
 
 3. Contractor shall be an independent contractor with respect to the services to be 
performed under this Contract.  Neither Contractor nor its subcontractors, agents, or employees, shall be 
deemed to be employees or agents of the City. 
 
 4. Contractor shall perform all duties in accordance with all applicable federal, state and 
local laws and regulations. 
 
 5. If Contractor breaches this Contract, the City shall have all remedies available to it at law 
or in equity. 
 
 6. Severability.  If any provision of this Contract is declared invalid, illegal, or incapable of 
being enforced by any court of competent jurisdiction, all of the remaining provisions of this Contract shall 
nevertheless continue in full force and effect, and no provision shall be deemed dependent upon any 
other provision unless so expressed herein. 
 
 7. Assignment.  Contractor may not assign this Contract or any of its rights or obligations 
hereunder, without the prior written consent of the City, which consent may be withheld in the sole and 
absolute discretion of the City. 
 
 8. Survival of Obligations.  All obligations and duties which by their nature extend beyond 
the term of this Contract shall survive the expiration or termination of this Contract. 
 
 9. Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Venue and Trial.  This Contract shall be construed in 
accordance with, and all disputes hereunder shall be governed by, the laws of the State of Iowa, 
excluding its conflicts of law rules.  The parties hereto agree that the exclusive jurisdiction and venue 
shall be in the Iowa District Court for Black Hawk County, and in no other jurisdiction or location, and shall 
not be removed to federal court.  The parties hereby agree to waive the right to trial by jury and agree to 
submit all disputes to a trial by judge alone.  The parties agree that no disputes under this Contract shall 
be submitted to binding arbitration, but may be submitted to mediation by mutual consent of both parties. 
 
 10. Any failure of Contractor to comply with the Insurance Requirements for Contractors for 
the City of Cedar Falls set forth on Attachment A, shall constitute a default under this Contract. 
 
 11. Attorneys’ Fees.  In the event of litigation, the City shall under no circumstances be 
obligated for payment of any attorneys’ fees of Contractor or any other party, arising out of such litigation. 

310

Item 33.



 
 12. Payment.  Payment of Contractor’s invoices shall be due no sooner than thirty (30) days 
from the date of invoice.  In the event any invoices are not paid within thirty (30) days, the City shall pay 
interest thereon at the rate provided for by Section 668.13(3), Code of Iowa, computed monthly. 
 
 13. The City shall not be obligated to maintain confidentiality of Contractor documents or 
records that are furnished to the City if such documents are public records under the Iowa Open Records 
Law, Chapter 22, Code of Iowa, and the City shall have no responsibility to Contractor for disclosure of 
such records. 
 
 14. Under no circumstances shall the City waive any damages against the Contractor or any 
other party arising out of any breach of this Contract, whether consequential, indirect, special, or punitive 
damages. 
 
 15. Under no circumstances shall the Contractor’s liability to the City be limited to any 
specific amount or sum, whether that amount is the compensation paid by the City to the Contractor 
under this Contract, or the dollar amount of coverage provided for in the Insurance Requirements for 
Contractors for the City of Cedar Falls, Attachment A. 
 
 16. No waiver of the City’s subrogation rights against the Contractor or any other party shall 
conflict with the provisions of the City Insurance Requirements, Attachment A. 
 
 17. Limitations Period.  There shall be no limitation, except as provided for by Iowa law, on 
the period of time within which the City may make any claim against the Contractor or other party under 
the provisions of this Contract. 
 
 18. This Contract shall not be binding on the City unless and until approved by the City 
Council of the City at a duly constituted meeting, and signed by the Mayor and City Clerk of the City. 
 
 19. Warranties.  Contractor represents and warrants that all services furnished to the City 
under this Contract shall be furnished in a skilled and workmanlike manner, in accordance with the 
degree of skill and care that is required by current, good and sound practices applicable to the 
Contractor’s industry or profession, and as otherwise required by applicable law. 
 
 20. Force Majeure.  Neither party to this Contract shall be liable to the other party for delays 
in performing the services, or for the direct or indirect cost resulting from such delays, that may result from 
acts of God, acts of governmental authorities, extraordinary weather conditions or other natural 
catastrophes, or any other cause beyond the reasonable control or contemplation of either party.  Each 
party will take reasonable steps to mitigate the impact of any force majeure. 
 
 
O:\Administration\AGREE\PROF\CF 2021 Survey Services.docx 

311

Item 33.



1 

 

   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
PHONE 319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     M E M O R A N D U M 
Legal Services Division 

 TO: Mayor Green, City Council 

 FROM: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney 

 DATE: April 1, 2021 

 SUBJECT:  Mayor/City Administrator Ordinance amendments 
 
 

Please find attached proposed ordinance amendments as discussed by Council during 

the Committee of the Whole meeting on March 15, 2021. 

 

Please feel free to contact me with any questions.  

312

Item 34.



Prepared by: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA  50613, (319)273-8600 

 

ORDINANCE NO. ________ 

 AN ORDINANCE (1) REPEALING SECTION 2-187, POWERS AND DUTIES, OF 

DIVISION 2, MAYOR, OF ARTICLE III, OFFICERS AND EMPLOYEES, OF CHAPTER 2, 

ADMINISTRATION, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, 

IOWA, AND ENACTING IN LIEU THEREOF A NEW SECTION 2-187, POWERS AND DUTIES; 

AND (2) AMENDING DIVISION 2, MAYOR, OF ARTICLE III, OFFICERS AND EMPLOYEES, 

OF CHAPTER 2, ADMINISTRATION, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF 

CEDFAR FALLS, IOWA, BY ENACTING A NEW SECTION 2-188, EMERGENCIES; AND (3) 

REPEALING DIVISION 3, CITY ADMINISTRATOR, OF ARTICLE III, OFFICERS AND 

EMPLOYEES, OF CHAPTER 2, ADMINISTRATION, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF 

THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND ENACTING IN LIEU THEREOF A NEW DIVISION 

3, CITY ADMINISTRATOR, CONSISTING OF SECTION 2-213, CREATED, SECTION 2-214, 

APPOINTMENT, SECTION 2-215, REMOVAL FROM POSITION, SECTION 2-216, CITY 

COUNCIL POLICY GUIDANCE, SECTION 2-217, SUPERVISION AND EVALUATION, NEW 

SECTION 2-218, POWER AND DUTIES, SECTION 2-219, EMERGENCIES, SECTION 2-220, 

OATH; BOND, SECTION 2-221, COMPENSATION, SECTION 2-222, APPOINTMENTS, AND 

SECTION 2-223, VACANCY AND ACTING CITY ADMINISTRATOR.   

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

Section 1.  Section 2-187, Powers and Duties, of Division 2, Mayor, of Article III, Officers and 

Employees, of Chapter 2, Administration, of The Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Section 2-187 is enacted in lieu thereof, as 

follows: 

Sec. 2-187. - Powers and duties.  

(a) Generally. The mayor shall be the chief executive officer of the city and shall have the 
power to oversee all functions and operations of the city.  The mayor shall retain and 
exercise all authority over the conduct of the city government.a conservator of the peace, 
and, within the limits of the corporation, shall have all the powers conferred upon sheriffs to 
suppress disorders. He shall be the chief executive officer thereof, and it shall be his duty to 
enforce all regulations and ordinances; and he may, upon view, arrest anyone guilty of a 
violation thereof, or of any crime under the laws of the state. The mayor shall, upon 
information supported by affidavit, issue process for the arrest of any person charged with 
violating any ordinance of the corporation; and shall supervise the conduct of all corporate 
officers, examine into the grounds of complaint made against them, and cause all neglect or 
violation of duty to be corrected, or report the neglect or violation of duty to the proper 
tribunal, that it may be dealt with as provided by law.  

(b) Specific powers and duties.  

(1) The mayor shall supervise and evaluate the performance of the city administrator, with 
input of the council, as provided for in Sec. 2-217. The mayor shall give direction as 
necessary concerning the functions of city departments and may call for special reports 
from the city administrator at any time.The mayor shall supervise all departments of the 

313

Item 34.



city and give direction to the department heads concerning the functions of the 
departments. The mayor shall have the power to examine all functions of the municipal 
departments and their records and to call for special reports from department heads at 
any time.  

(2) The mayor shall act as presiding officer at all regular and special council meetings, and 
shall approve the meeting agenda. However, all final authority over the council meeting 
agenda shall be retained and exercised by the council. The mayor is not a member of 
the council and shall not vote as a member of the council. The mayor pro tem shall 
preside at all regular and special council meetings serve in this capacity in the mayor's 
absence.  

(3) The mayor may sign, veto or take no action on any ordinance, amendment or 
resolution passed by the council. The mayor may veto an ordinance, amendment or 
resolution within fourteen days after passage. If the mayor vetoes a measure, the 
mayor must explain the reason for such veto in writing to the council at the time of the 
veto. The council may repass a measure over the mayor's veto within 30 days by a 
two-thirds majority of all members of the councilmembers. If the mayor vetoes a 
measure and the council repasses the measure after the mayor’s  veto, a resolution 
becomes effective immediately upon repassage, and an ordinance or amendment 
becomes a law when published, unless a subsequent effective date is provided within 
the measure. A vetoed measure must be placed on the council agenda for 
consideration of repassage within 30 days of the veto, either at a regular council 
meeting or at a special meeting called for such purpose.   

(4) The mayor shall make appropriate provision that duties of any absentee officer be 
carried on during the officer's absence. The mayor shall enforce all regulations and 
ordinances.  

(5) The mayor shall represent the city in all negotiations properly entered into in 
accordance with law or ordinance. The mayor shall not represent the city where this 
duty is specifically delegated to another officer by law or ordinance.The mayor shall 
appoint all members of authorized city boards and commissions, subject to council 
approval.  

(6) The mayor shall, whenever authorized by the council, sign all deeds and contracts on 
behalf of the city which are approved by the city council, unless authority is delegated 
to another officer or employee by the council.  

(7) The mayor shall make such oral or written reports to the city council as required, but at 
least on a monthly basis.at the first meeting of every month as referred. These reports 
shall concern municipal affairs generally, the municipal departments and 
recommendations suitable for council action.  

(8) The mayor shall annually prepare and submit to the council an itemized budget of 
revenues and expenditures.  

(9) Immediately after taking office, and after the first council meeting of each calendar year 
thereafter, the mayor shall appointdesignate one member of the city council as mayor 
pro tempore who shall serve a one-year term, or until a successor is appointed. The 
mayor pro tempore shall be vice-president of the council. Except for the limitations 
otherwise provided in this section, the mayor pro tempore shall perform the duties of 
the mayor in cases of absence or inability of the mayor to perform the mayor’s his 
duties. In the exercise of the duties of the mayor's office, the mayor pro tempore shall 
not have power to employ or discharge from employment officers or employees that 
the mayor has the power to appoint, employ or discharge. The mayor pro tempore 

314

Item 34.



retains all of the powers of a council membershall have the right to veto as a member 
of the council.  

(10)The mayor shall, upon order of the city council, secure for the city specialized and 
professional services not already available to the city. In executing the order of the city 
council, the mayor shall conduct himself in accordance with city ordinances and the 
laws of the state.The mayor and city clerk shall execute general obligation bonds and 
revenue bonds upon the conclusion of council proceedings for issuance.  

(11) The mayor may appoint an administrative assistant to assist in matters of 
administration and supervision as budgeted by the city council.  

(1112) The mayor shall act as the ombudsman for the city, and address complaints and 
concerns regarding the operation and activities of the municipal government and its 
officers.The mayor shall sign all licenses and permits which have been granted by the 
council, except those designated by law or ordinance to be issued by another 
municipal officer.  

(123) The mayor shall assist the council to develop long-term goals for the city and 
strategies to implement these goals.The mayor shall order, in writing, the removal, at 
public expense, of any nuisance for which no person can be found responsible and 
liable.  

(c) Additional duties. In addition to the duties enumerated in this division, the mayor shall 
perform such other duties compatible with the nature of the mayor’shis office as the council 
may, from time to time, require, and as are required by law and conferred upon the 
mayorhim by statute.  

(d) Duties in connection with elections.  

(1) The mayor shall perform such duties in connection with the holding of the city or ward 
elections and registrations therefor as are prescribed by the laws of the state.  

(2) The mayor shall cause at least ten days' notice of elections and of all questions to be 
submitted to the voters of the city by issuing a proclamation and stating therein the 
place of holding the election in each ward by the council, the questions to be 
submitted, and all of the officers to be elected at such election in the city or wards by 
the qualified voters thereof. The mayor shall cause a copy of the proclamation and 
notice to be published at least ten days prior to the election in one issue of a daily 
newspaper of general circulation published in the English language in the city.  

(Code 2017, § 2-155)  

 

Section 2.  Division 2, Mayor, of Article III, Officers and Employees, of Chapter 2, 

Administration, of The Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby amended 

by enacting a new Section 2-188, Emergencies, as follows: 

 

Sec. 2-188. - Emergencies. 

(a)  In the event of emergency the mayor shall exercise all powers and authorities provided for 

in the city’s multi-hazard emergency operations plan. 

315

Item 34.



(b)  The mayor has authority to take command of the police and govern the city by proclamation 

when the mayor determines that a time of emergency or public danger exists.  Within the city 

limits, the mayor has all powers conferred upon the sheriff to suppress disorders.  

 

Section 3. Division 3, City Administrator, of Article III, Officers and Employees, of Chapter 2, 

Administration, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in 

its entirety, and a new Division 3, City Administrator, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

 DIVISION 3.  CITY ADMINISTRATOR 

Sec. 2-213. - Created.  

There is hereby established in the city the position of city administrator.  

 

Sec. 2-214. - Appointment.  

The city administrator shall be appointed by majority vote of the city council for an indefinite 
term. The administer shall be chosen by the council solely on the basis of executive and 
administrative qualifications with special reference to actual experience in or knowledge of 
accepted practice in respect to the duties of the office hereinafter set forth. At the time of this 
appointment, the appointee need not be a resident of the city or state, but during the 
administrator's tenure of office, shall reside within the city.  

Sec. 2-215. - Removal from position.  

The city council may remove the city administrator at any time without cause by a majority 
vote of its members. If requested by the city administrator, a name clearing public hearing shall 
be granted by the council within 30 days following notice of removal, as provided by Iowa Code 
§ 372.15. During the interim, the council may suspend the administrator from duty, but shall 
continue the administrator's salary and, if the removal becomes final, shall pay the respective 
severance benefit negotiated within the administrator's contract or the severance granted to 
other city employees under city council adopted personnel policies.  

Sec. 2-216. - City council policy guidance.  

The city council shall annually adopt broad goals, objectives and program performance 
measures to guide the city administrator in the development of an annual operating budget, 
capital improvements program and administration of city projects and programs.  

Sec. 2-217. - Supervision and evaluation.  

The mayor shall supervise and evaluate the performance of the city administrator, with 
input of the council and the mayor shall prepare an annual performance evaluation of the city 
administrator. Said evaluation shall be available for review by the council. The city administrator 
may request a closed meeting with the city council to discuss performance annually, as 
provided by state statute.  

316

Item 34.



Sec. 2-218. - Power and duties.  

The city administrator shall be the chief administrative officer (CAO) of the city, responsible 
to the mayor and city council for the management of all city affairs placed in the administrator's 
charge by city ordinance. The city administrator shall:  

(1) The city administrator shall dDirect and supervise the administration of all departments, 
offices and agencies of the city, except as otherwise provided by this Code or by law.;  

(2) Appoint and suspend or remove all city employees and appointive administrative 
officers provided for by or under this Code, except as otherwise provided by law, this 
Code or personnel policies adopted by the city council. The city administrator may 
authorize any administrative officer subject to the administrator's direction and 
supervision to exercise these powers with respect to subordinates in that officer's 
department, office or agency;  

(23) The city administrator shall aAttend all city council meetings. The city administrator 
shall have the right to take part in discussion but shall not vote; .  

(34) The city administrator shall sSee that all laws, provisions of this Code, resolutions, 
ordinances and acts of the city council, subject to enforcement by the city administrator 
or by officers subject to the administrator's direction and supervision, are faithfully 
executed; . 

(45) The city administrator shall rRecommend to the mayor and council such measures as 
the administrator may deem necessary for good efficient government and the general 
welfare of the city; . 

(56) The city administrator shall be directly responsible to the mayor and council for the 
development, administration, enforcement and proper functioning of policies, contracts 
and agreements approved by council, including but not limited to: 

  (a)  labor agreements; 

  (b)  personnel policies; 

  (c)  administrative policies and procedures; 

  (d) risk management policies, procedures and claims resolution; 

  (e) purchasing agreements. 

 Have general supervision and direction of the administration of the following 
departments, offices, classifications, and services and be directly responsible to the 
mayor and council for the proper function of same:  

a. Department of finance and business operations;  

b. Department of public works;  

c. Department of community development;  

d. Department of public safety services;  

e. Budget and capital improvements preparation and operation;  

f. Purchasing, contracts and agreements as approved by council;  

g. Administrative policies and procedures;  

h. Personnel policies and procedures;  

i. Labor agreements;  

317

Item 34.



j. City legal representation and the prosecution of all code violations;  

k. Risk management policies, procedures and claims resolution;  

l. Economic development policies and procedures;  

m. All others as directed by council.  

(67) The city administrator shall sSupervise the performance of all contracts for work and 
services to be done for the city except as specified otherwise in said construction or 
service program involved; .  

(78) The city administrator shall mMaintain an accounting of all obligations, agreements, 
commitments, and contractual franchises involving the city and report to the mayor and 
council any deviations from the exact terms as specified; .  

(89) The city administrator shallBe authorized to direct the purchasing of all commodities, 
materials, supplies, capital outlay, and services for all departments of the city that have 
been budgeted and appropriated by a resolution of the council and enforce a program 
to determine that such purchases are received and are of the quality and character 
called for in the order; . 

(910) The city administrator shall rRequire the taking of bids on all matters deemed 
advisable as required by law, or as directed by the council; . 

(101) The city administrator shall oversee the city’s legal representation and the 
prosecution of all code violationsHave the power to hire, suspend, or discharge any 
employee over which the manager has, by this article, authority to appoint or employ, 
subject to civil service provisions and Iowa Code ch. 20 and city council concurrence 
where necessary;  

(112) The city administrator shall hHave the authority to employ any person for 
emergency purposes as deemed necessary for the welfare of the city, but in no case 
shall said employment be extended after the first council meeting following the date of 
employment, unless otherwise approved by vote of the council; .  

(123) The city administrator shall sSupervise and manage all buildings, structures, and 
land under the jurisdiction of the council and shall also be charged with the care and 
preservation of all city-owned equipment, tools, machinery, appliances, supplies, and 
commodities under the control of employees or departments over which the city 
administrator has, by this division, specific authority; .  

(134) The city administrator shall hHave the power to appoint, employ, transfer, 
promote, reclassify, recommend a rate of pay, discipline, or discharge all persons to 
city service, subject to civil service provisions and Iowa Code ch. 20 unless such power 
is specifically assigned by law to another appointing authority. The city administrator 
may authorize any officer or employee subject to the administrator's direction and 
supervision to exercise these powers with respect to subordinates in that officer's 
department, office or agency; . 

(145) The city administrator shall oversee development and execution of the city’s 
economic development program in accordance with council’s established economic 
development policies and priorities.Review and comment on personnel actions made 
by the police and fire chiefs to the mayor and city council;  

(16) Develop, administer, and enforce personnel rules and regulations for employees under 
the authority delegated to the office of city administrator;  

318

Item 34.



(157) The city administrator shall aAt all times, maintainbe responsible for the 
maintenance of accurate and current records of all affairs of the departments under the 
administrator's jurisdiction, and in a form acceptable by the council. Copies of such 
reports shall be available for public inspection; . 

(168) The city administrator shall aAssist the council committees in the execution of 
their reviews, investigations, reports and assignments, and perform in compliance with 
their directives; provided, same is not in conflict with established procedure governed 
by this division or not in conflict with existing city ordinances; .  

(19) Perform duties and have direct authority on all matters delegated by council action;  

(1720) The city administrator shall pPrepare and submit the annual budget and capital 
improvements program to the mayor for review based upon approved city council 
goals; and shall implement the final budget as approved by city council;  

(1821) The city administrator shall sSubmit to the city council and make available to the 
public a complete report on the finances and administrative activities of the city as of 
the end of each fiscal year; . 

(1922) The city administrator shall mMake such other reports as the city council may 
require concerning operations; . 

(203) The city administrator shall kKeep the city council fully advised as to the financial 
condition and future needs of the city; . 

(24) Make recommendations to the city council concerning the affairs of the city and 
facilitate the work of the city council in developing policy; . 

(215) The city administrator shall pProvide staff support services for the mayor and 
councilmembers; . 

(226) The city administrator shall aAssist the council to develop long-term goals for the 
city and strategies to implement these goals; . 

(27) Encourage and provide staff support for regional and intergovernmental cooperation;  

(28) Implement partnerships endorsed by the mayor and council that develop good public 
policy and the building of a sense of community;  

(239) The city administrator shall pPerform such other duties as are specified in this 
Code, state statute or may be required by the city council or mayor and are compatible 
with the office; and  

(2430) The city administrator shall cCooperate with, and rendergive assistance 
requested by, the Sartori Memorial Hospital, Inc., board of directors, the board of 
trustees of the city public library, the city utilities board of trustees, or any other 
administrativeby the city’s authorized agenciesy, boards, commissions or committees 
of the city.  

Sec. 2-219. - Emergencies.  

(a) The administrator shall exercise all powers and authorities granted and outlined by the 
city's multi-hazard emergency operations plan.  

(b) In case of accident, disaster, or other circumstance creating a public emergency, the city 
administrator may make purchases for the purpose of meeting said emergency; but the 
administrator shall file promptly with council a certificate showing such emergency and the 
necessity for such action, together with an itemized account of all expenditures.  

319

Item 34.



Sec. 2-220. -– Oath; Bond.  

The city administrator shall, prior to entering the duties of the office, take the oath or 
affirmation, and shall furnish a surety bond to be approved by the council, said bond to be 
conditioned on the faithful performance of all the administrator's duties. The premium of the 
bond shall be paid by the city.  

 

Sec. 2-221. - Compensation.  

The city administrator shall receive such compensation as the council shall fix from time to 
time within the city's annual payroll resolution.  

Sec. 2-222. - Appointments.  

The city administrator shall recommend the appointment of all department directors to the 
mayor for city council approval. The city administrator shall participate in making 
recommendations to the mayor, for city council approval, for appointment of the police chief, as 
provided in sections 2-948 and 2-949, for appointment of the fire chief, as provided in sections 
2-978 and 2-979, and for appointment of the city clerk, as provided in section 2-308(b)(2).  

Sec. 2-223. - Vacancy and acting city administrator.  

In the event of the city administrator’s absence or inability of the city administrator to 
perform the duties of the city administrator's office, the city administrator shall designateappoint 
a department director asan acting city administrator., or Iif the city administrator is unable to 
make the designationdo so or for any reason, including those periods of time when the council 
has not appointed a city administrator, then such designation shall be made by the mayor shall 
appoint one of the department directors as the acting city administrator. Any designation by the 
mayor exceeding 20 calendar days shall be approved by the city council.  Theis 
designeeappointee shall have and exercise all the powers and duties of the city administrator.  

 

INTRODUCED:  ___________________________________________________________ 

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:  _____________________________________________ 

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:  _____________________________________________ 

PASSED 3rd CONSIDERATION:  ______________________________________________ 

ADOPTED:  _______________________________________________________________ 

 

                                                                                             ___________________________ 
                                                                                              Robert M. Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
_________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  

320

Item 34.



321

Item 35.



322

Item 35.



323

Item 35.



324

Item 35.



325

Item 35.



326

Item 35.



327

Item 35.



328

Item 35.



329

Item 35.



330

Item 35.



331

Item 35.



332

Item 35.



333

Item 35.



334

Item 35.



335

Item 35.



336

Item 35.



337

Item 35.



338

Item 35.



339

Item 35.



340

Item 35.



341

Item 35.



342

Item 35.



343

Item 35.



344

Item 35.



345

Item 35.



346

Item 35.



347

Item 35.



348

Item 35.



349

Item 35.



350

Item 35.



351

Item 35.



352

Item 35.



353

Item 35.



354

Item 35.



355

Item 35.



356

Item 35.



357

Item 35.



358

Item 35.



359

Item 35.



360

Item 35.



361

Item 35.



362

Item 35.



363

Item 35.



364

Item 35.



365

Item 35.



366

Item 35.



367

Item 35.



368

Item 35.



369

Item 35.



370

Item 35.


	Top
	Item 1.	Regular Meeting of March 15, 2021
	210315MINUTES

	Item 2.	Proclamation-Sexual Assault Awareness Month
	2021-04_SexualAssaultAwarenessMonth

	Item 3.	Proclamation-National Library Week
	2021-04-W1_NationalLibraryWeek

	Item 4.	Proclamation-Days of Remembrance
	2021-04-W2_HolocaustRemembrance

	Item 5.	Proclamation-City-Wide Cleanup Week
	2021-04-W3_CityWideCleanupWeek

	Item 6.	PH PDA - Stone and Terrace, LLC
	1_CC Memo for Approval of Agreement on 04-05-21
	2_Location Map
	3_Execution Version DA Stone and Terrace, LLC

	Item 7.	2987-Adaptive Reuse
	1. Memo_Adaptive Reuse of Church Buildings.CC.3.1.2021 (1)
	2-2987-Adaptive reuse of institutional buildings

	Item 8.	Extension of Mask Mandate
	Res-Extend Mask Mandate.04.05.21

	Item 9.	Mayor's Monthly Report
	2021-03-30_MayorMonthlyReport

	Item 10.	Reappointment-Boards and Commissions
	2021-03-31_CSC_CloptonAppoint

	Item 11.	Resignation-Board and Commission
	3778_001

	Item 12.	Committee of the Whole Minutes 3/15/21
	Comm of the Whole 031521

	Item 13.	Monthly Report - February
	02-February 2021 Departmental Monthly Report

	Item 14.	Tobacco Application 04/05/2021
	04052021 Tobacco Application

	Item 15.	Liquor Beer 4-5-21
	Liquor Beer 3-31-21

	Item 16.	Depository Resolution
	Depository Resolution memo April21
	Depository Resolution 040521

	Item 17.	Transfer of funds-Center Street Rec. Trail
	Center Street Rec Trail TransferFunds memo

	Item 18.	Transfer of funds-Greenhill Road Ext.
	GreenhillRdExt TransferFunds memo

	Item 19.	Assessment-710 W 13th
	710 W 13th-Assessment-Remove page 4

	Item 20.	Assessment-1303 Walnut Street
	1303 Walnut-Assessment-2nd Notificationv2

	Item 21.	Contract with CDI for programming
	CDI LF Connector Council Memo
	CDISignedAgreed with SOW.PDF

	Item 22.	Surface Transportation Block Grant Programming Agreement: Main Street Reconstruction
	1. cc memo for STBG programming agreement on main street 3-28-21 V2
	2. Cedar Falls - STBG Agreement July 2020

	Item 23.	Amendment #3 River Place Properties, LC Development Agreement
	1. Council memo-3rd Amendment 4-5-21 V2
	2. Council DA3 signed ten year extension 3-31-21

	Item 24.	Facade Improvements-302 Main Street
	1.CC Staff report-302 Main Street Lincoln Savings Bank
	2. ZoningLocationMap
	3. Supplemental Materials 1
	4. Supplemental Material 2
	5. Supplemental Material 3
	6. Supplemental Material 4

	Item 25.	CDBG-CV2-St. Patrick School
	1  Council memo for st patrick CARES CV2 funds
	2. signed subrecipient agreement st. patrick

	Item 26.	CDBG-CV2-Valley Lutheran School
	1  Council memo for valley Lurtheran CARES CV2 funds
	2. Subrecipient agreement
	3. Subrogation Agreement
	4. DOB

	Item 27.	Second Amendment-CDBG-Food Bank
	1  Council memo second amendment for food bank
	2. Food Bank amendment 2-signed
	3. Ex B-1

	Item 28.	SA No. 1-Downtown Streetscape and Reconstruction Project – Phase II
	1. Snyder SA No. 1 Survey Services
	2. PSA_2021-03-31_SuppAgr1_MainStreetscapePhII

	Item 29.	Low Bid - 2021 Street Construction
	1. Low Bid - 2021 Street Construction
	2. Bid Tab

	Item 30.	Contracts - 2021 Street Construction Project
	1. 2021 Street Construction Memo
	2. Form of Contract - 21 Street Construction
	3. Performance, Payment, and Maintenance Bond - 21 Street Construction
	4. Insurance - 21 Street Construction
	5. Form of Proposal - 21 Street Construction

	Item 31.	Contract-2021 Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation Project
	1. Memo - Contracts for 2021 San Rehab
	2. Form of Contract
	3. Performance Payment and Maintenance Bond
	4. Insurance

	Item 32.	Final Acceptance-Prairie Winds 5th
	1. Memo-Final Acceptance of Prairie Winds 5th
	2. Prairie Winds 5th Addition Final Plat
	3. Maintenance Bond

	Item 33.	2021 Survey Services-PSA
	1. AECOM PSA 2021 Survey Services
	2. CF 2021 Survey Services

	Item 34.	Ord.-Administration
	Memo to Mayor Council Mayor and City Administrator Ordinance Changes final
	Mayor and City Administrator Ordinance 1 March 15 2021 (MAYOR'S COMMENTS)

	Item 35.	Bills-04/05/21
	1 Daily Invoices 040521
	2 Council Invoices 040521

	Bottom

